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Dear Stockholders those required megawatts depends upon initiatives First we consolidated our

sophisticated and proven technologies In operations in our Norcross office outside

Id like to reflect on my first year as an increasingly complex and sophisticated of Atlanta Georgia We have already

president and chief executive officer This world we believe Comverge is uniquely benefited from this initiative by increasing

time last year joined company that was positioned to dependably deliver that our ability to collaborate and innovate

already established as leading provider capacity across all customer classes cross-functionally We also significantly

of demand response solutions for expanded our executive management

residential mass market and commercial Our incumbent position as leading team recruiting the best and brightest

industrial customers The business was residential mass-market space sets
across technology development

growing year over year by an admirable us apart in this growing market With
product quality regulatory affairs sales

28% but knew we could be on the over 1367 residential megawatts under
and marketing departments Finally

verge of even greater growth potential management today we betieve we we updated our company with new

Throughout 2010 we built on Comverges
have the largest portfolio among other

brand that is powerful reflection of our

legacy of innovation to expand the reach participants in this market During 2010
innovation and creativity

of our cutting edge enterprise-class
we recruited over 215000 new residential

demand management system to lead and CI customers in to our mass-market We believe that the changes we

the demand response industry to new demand response programs and at the made contributed to our growth and

level of precision and capability we call
same time contracted with utilities for an accomplishments in 2010 Through

Intelligent Energy Management and additional recruitment of over 300000 our dedicated efforts we increased our

to update and upgrade our company residential customers We credit our years revenue in our core commercial and

along the way am proud to say that of experience and leading innovation as industrial business by 65% and remained

we accomplished all of our stated goais
the primary divers of this expansion market leader in residential demand

to restructure rebrand and reposition response strengthening our presence

Comverge to excel in market segment
At the beginning of 2010 indicated that

in the market by signing new contracts

that has finally come of age
Comverge would continue to strive to

or extending existing deals with leading

distinguish itself in the marketplace by
utilities These combined successes

Over the last year it has become even placing greater emphasis on the value of
resulted in the acquisition of an additional

more evident that our solutions are information technology By expanding 833 megawatts bringing our portfolio

meeting critical need and that demand the capabilities of our InteIliSOURCE
to total of 3732 megawatts under

response has earned its rightful place as platform we have created an operating our management

an established component of our nations environment that will support any

energy mix Daily news articles validate application today and is intended to At time when high-tech widgets and

the need that utilities and grid operators support applications well into the future gadgets promising unproven benefits

continue to have for demand response
InteIIiSOURCE is hardware agnostic seem to litter the landscape we have

And start-ups and established players in
enables range of services addresses shown that our unequaled experience

adjacent markets are increasingly
all customer classes and integrates and comprehensive

integra76tutions

claiming that they can also provide disparate elements of the evolving grid can save our customers megawatts and

demand response solution Howevet InteIliSOURCE was built on more than dollars am excited to continue building

they appear to be finding that it may be 30 years of know-how which includes on this solid foundation and leading this

harder than they thought to develop
innovation in load management systems rapidly expanding and changing industry

reliable solution deployed at over 100 utilities today am look forward to another year of progress

proud to say that during this upcoming at Comverge and am proud to direct

While the industry focus over the past control season we expect that more those efforts on your behalf

several years has centered on laying the than 15 utilities with over half-million

new pipes of the Smart Grid through end points will leverage InteIliSOURCE

next generation metering capabilities and to balance their needs for supply

communications networks one thing has and demand

not changed the value proposition for

provisioning megawatts during critical
This past year we also reenergized our Blake Young

peak load times The ability to deliver corporate culture with three strategic President and Chief Executive Officer
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference contain

forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements include statements with respect to our financial condition results of

operations and business The words assumes believes expects budgets maywill should projects contemplates

anticipates forecasts intends or similar terminology identify forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements

reflect our current expectations regarding future events results or outcomes including our projections related to our revenues in 2011

These expectations may not be realized Some of these expectations may be based upon assumptions or judgments that
prove to be

incorrect In addition our business and operations involve numerous risks and uncertainties many of which are beyond our control

which could result in our expectations not being realized cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements

and/or otherwise materially affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flows Please see the section below entitled

Risk Factors for discussion of examples of risks uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially

from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements You should carefully review the risks described herein and in

other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission including Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q

to be filed in 2011 We caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements which only speak as of the date

hereof Except as provided by law we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement based on changing

circumstances or otherwise

Part

Item Business

Business Overview

Comverge is leading provider of intelligent energy management or IEM solutions that empower utilities commercial and industrial

users and homeowners to use energy in more effective and efficient manner IEM solutions build upon demand response enabling

two-way communication between providers and consumers and giving all customer classes the insight and control needed to optimize

energy usage and meet peak demand Beyond just reducing the energy load this approach to energy management reduces cost for the

utility or grid operator integrates other systems and allows for the informed decision-making that will power the smart grid

We provide our IEM solutions through our two reportable segments the Residential Business segment and the Commercial

Industrial or CI Business segment The Residential Business segment sells intelligent energy management networks to utility

customers for use in programs with residential and small commercial end-use participants These solutions include intelligent

hardware our IntelliSOURCE software formerly known as Apollo and services such as installation marketing and program

management If the utility customer elects to own the intelligent energy management network we refer to the program as turnkey

program If we provide capacity through fully-outsourced programs where we typically own the underlying intelligent energy

management network we refer to the program as Virtual Peaking Capacity or VPC program Our VPC programs are pay-for-

performance in that we are only paid for capacity that we provide as determined by measurement and verification process with our

utility customers The CI Business segment provides intelligent energy management solutions to utilities and independent system

operators that are managing programs or auctions for large CI consumers These solutions are delivered through the management of

megawatts for these CI consumers in open markets and VPC programs as well as through the completion of energy efficiency

projects

We evaluate the megawatts of capacity that we own manage or provide to the electric utility industry according to each of our

operating segments Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts or in open market programs generate recurring revenue

while megawatts provided under turnkey contracts or through product sales generate revenue at the point of sale The following table

summarizes megawatts owned managed or provided as of December 31 2010

As of December31 2010

Residential CI Total

Business Business Comrge
Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts 597 294 891

Megawatts owned for sale in open market programs 16 1698 1.714

Megawatts provided under turnkey contracts 658 32 690

Megawatts managed for fee on pay-for-perfbrmance basis 437 437

Megawatts owned orinaged 1271 2461 3732

Megawatts provided through product sales 6707 6.707

Total ngawatts owned managed or provided 7978 2461 10439



Our VPC contract with Nevada Energy for 155 megawatts of contracted capacity is no longer in effect for 2011 We expect
to decrease Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts for 155 megawatts during the first quarter of 2011 to

reflect the expiration of this contract

Determined based on 1.3 kilowatts per load control device based on each device cycling on average between 50% and

100%

Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts We directly develop operate and manage the entire demand management

system for certain residential commercial and industrial consumers Our VPC programs offer us distinct advantage as we typically

own and operate the underlying assets used in these programs These programs provide us with long-term revenue streams based on
the capacity or megawatts provided by our programs We refer to the megawatts provided under our VPC programs and megawatts

provided under our energy efficiency programs as megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts

Megawatts ownedfor sale in open market programs We own and manage megawatts in open market programs with grid operators
In these programs we aggregate megawatts from consumer loads provide them to the market and operate them based on the specific

parameters of the market and load suppliers The contracts underlying these open market programs range in length from one to three

years reflecting the different grid operator markets We refer to the megawatts these programs provide as megawatts owned for sale in

open market programs

Megawatts provided under turnkey contracts We offer load control programs in which the utility maintains ownership of the

underlying asset but we provide product software and services These services may include without limitation installation call center

project management IT integration measurement and verification analysis and/or customer acquisition marketing We refer to these

megawatts as megawatts provided under turnkey contracts

Megawatts managed for afee on pay-for-performance basis We also manage megawatts in open market programs for certain large
industrial customers We are paid based on the performance of those megawatts and do not own the underlying megawatts We refer

to these megawatts as megawatts managed for fee on pay-for-performance basis

Megawatts provided through product sales We sell intelligent energy hardware combined with software which electric utilities use

to build their own IEM networks We refer to these megawatts as megawatts provided through product sales

The Comverge Solution

Our IEM solutions enable our electric utility industry customers and open market operators to address issues they confront on daily

basis such as rising demand decreasing supply fluctuating commodity prices reducing greenhouse gases and emerging mandates to

use energy efficiency solutions to address these issues Our IEM solutions yield the following benefits to our commercial and
industrial customers residential consumers electric utility industry customers and open market operators

Improve the Developing Smart Grid through Advanced Multi-functioning Solution Sets We offer our customers IEM solutions to

match their needs for improving and advancing smarter electrical grid Our state-of-the-art Inte11iSOURCE software system
provides demand management functionality enabling control of various end-use devices and systems integration into the utility

customers back office operational systems and inter-operability with Advanced Metering Infrastructure or AMI In conjunction
with our software our solution set includes multiple service offerings including engineering and energy audits project management
installation customer acquisition marketing and measurement and verification These services allow our utility customers to tailor

their programs to achieve better marketing penetration rates lower installation costs and real time verification of the functionality of

their system Our hardware products complete our solution set through offering technologically advanced functionality for various

residential and CI demand management devices Through providing solution to our customers issues we are able to offer our

own individual products and services or integrate other companies products into our solutions ultimately improving the developing
smart grid

Provide an Alternative to Building Expensive New Plants andAssociated Transmission and Distribution Infrastructure We reduce

our utility and grid operator customers capital expenditures and costs for electric transmission and distribution Our solutions can be

directly substituted for new power generation facilities that would otherwise be built to satisfy either peak periods of electricity

demand or the expected increase in base load demand Our IEM solutions require significantly lower short-term capital expenditures
than natural gas-fired power plant and our pay-for-performance capacity solutions require no capital expenditures on the part of

electric utilities By avoiding the build-out of new generation utilities can also avoid building the incremental new transmission and

distribution assets needed to bring power from the location where it is generated to where it is consumed thereby further reducing

required capital expenditures



Improve System Reliability and Operational Flexibility Our IEM solutions also enhance the reliability of the electric grid by

providing the ability to reduce power consumption in specific distribution areas during times of peak energy demand and emergency

conditions thereby relieving strain on the aging grid infrastructure With our IEM solutions our customers gain the benefit of more

reliable infrastructure and lower operating costs associated with fewer emergency maintenance and customer care issues In addition

to improving system reliability our targeted approach focuses on specific distribution areas which may also reduce or delay the need

for new capital investment in transmission and distribution infrastructure For example once deployed our VPC programs become

operational or ramp up more rapidly than natural gas-fired power plants Our VPC programs typically require less than five minutes

to provide demand reduction In addition our technology enables devices to be controlled both individually and in clusters thereby

allowing those devices to be operated at the time and location i.e at substation circuit or feeder required to manage localized

constraints or emergency conditions

Save Costs for Electricity Consumers Certain of our IEM solutions enable residential commercial and industrial consumers to

receive time-of-use electricity price signals thereby allowing them to match electricity use with the costs to purchase such electricity

Consumers who deploy our solutions can realize cost savings on their electric bills by using less energy particularly during peak

periods when prices are the highest or shifting their usage to times when electricity is less expensive

Conserve and Create Positive Environmental Impact Our IEM solutions allow electric utilities to reduce both peak and permanent

load Our demand management programs provide electric utilities with similar functionality to the peaking capacity typically

provided by natural gas-fired power plants while also providing clean alternative energy By reducing electricity demand during peak

times our demand management programs have the potential to displace older inefficient peaking power plants and can reduce the

operating time of intermediate plants By substituting our programs for new natural gas-fired power generation facilities utilities are

able to conserve electricity and reduce greenhouse gases
and pollutants

Enable Electric Utilities to Meet Regulatory Mandates Federal and state legislation over the past five years has stimulated the

development of the smart grid and has mandated that the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the Department of Energy

provide detailed assessments and recommendations for demand response initiatives We work closely with federal and state regulators

and electric utilities to formulate and coordinate effective demand response solutions in light of these regulatory developments and

mandates This legislation also calls for advanced technologies for demand response energy efficiency smart metering and

distributed generation including digital information capabilities to implement these technologies This includes smart grid policy

using national task-force modernization through deployment of smart technologies new communications and an inter-

operability framework research and development and removal of the barriers to smart grid roll-out Federal grants and matching

funds are being deployed to spur smart grid investments

The Comverge Strategy

We intend to continue to grow and expand our position in the clean energy sector by pursuing the following strategic objectives

Increase Market Penetration We intend to further penetrate the clean energy sector by

identifying the needs of and providing additional IEM solutions to new and existing customers

securing additional long-term contracts as growing proportion of our revenues

effectively matching product innovations with the future needs of our customers including AMI rollouts designed to migrate

North America to smart electricity grid and

expanding both our sales force and the scope of our commercial and industrial demand response offerings conservation

energy efficiency solutions and other clean energy
alternatives throughout North America

Expand the Market for our Intelligent Energy Management Solutions We intend to continue demonstrating the effectiveness of our

capacity programs in order to secure additional long-term contracts with existing and future customers by

marketing to and educating existing and prospective customers consumer advocates consultants and industry experts about

the benefits of IEM solutions and

working with utilities state regulators and local state and federal governmental agencies to explain the benefits of IEM

solutions and obtain rate treatment similar to supply-side resources such that electric utilities are allowed to earn rate of

return on the capital invested in demand management resources

Develop New Distribution Channels Through Strategic Alliances We are focused on expanding our current product strategic

alliances and identifying new strategic relationships We intend to leverage these relationships to achieve greater adoption of our

products and services by and bring new offerings to market for our electric utility customers through bundled offerings



Continue to be an Innovative Leader in our Markets From 2001 to 2010 we invested approximately $20.3 million in research and
development alone We intend to continue such research and development in addition to capturing operational and technical

knowledge gained from the smart grid offerings This will enable us to develop new and innovative solutions to better serve our
existing electric utility customer base large CI customers and to appeal to new customers We believe that this continued
investment strategy will allow us to realize new revenue opportunities and decrease our operating costs thereby enabling us to remain

competitive and to maintain our market position

Pursue Targeted Strategic Opportunities We intend to pursue strategic relationships and opportunities to strengthen our competitive
position in the clean

energy sector through domestic and international opportunities This sector is comprised of number of

companies with niche offerings or customer relationships which provide attractive opportunities whether through acquisition
partnering or joint alliances

Segments

As of December31 2010 we reported our results of operations in two reportable segments our Residential Business segment and our
Commercial Industrial Business segment In prior periods we reported the results of operations in three segments the Utility
Products Services segment the Residential Business segment and the CI Business segment For the year ended December 31
2010 the Utility Products Services segment is presented as part of the Residential Business segment The results of our energy
efficiency programs were previously reported in the Residential Business segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the

energy
efficiency programs are reported as part of the CI Business segment Accordingly the results of operations have been reclassified

for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 to conform to the presentation for the year ended December 31 2010 We believe
that the new reporting structure more accurately represents the broader customer markets which we serve residential and commercial
and industrial

Residential Business

Our Residential Business segment offers IEM networks that address demands for residential and small commercial end-use

participants These solutions include intelligent hardware our Inte11iSOURCE software and services such as installation marketing
and program management Our suite of intelligent hardware includes broad range of products from basic one-way load control
switches to technologically sophisticated smart thermostats and in-home displays that encompass the entire range of the smart grid
market Our products are designed to communicate on multiple communication modes including wireless internet VHF paging
telephone broadband cable cellular and radio frequency communication We provide the hardware that is installed at utility

consumers location on high-energy consumption equipment such as central air conditioning Our software applications send wireless

messages to manage and control our hardware Upon receiving the messages our hardware in turn reduces the length of time the

equipment operates thereby making electric capacity available to the utility Our advanced metering products consist of hardware that

is installed at utilitys residential or business customers electric meter These devices collect information from the meter and
transmit it through software application where it is then stored on servers This information is used by the utility to manage
electricity consumption analyze usage trends and generate billing information

Our InteI1iSOURCE software is next-generation demand management and grid optimization platform capable of integrating with

legacy paging systems and future AMI deployments with the ability to provide two-way real-time communication between utilities

and their customers of all classes including commercial and industrial customers small business owners and residential customers
IntelliSOURCE is based on an open-standards approach and is designed with four fundamental functional elements in mind that are

required to support the emerging smart grid transformation communication command and control data management and

knowledge applications

Depending on customer needs the Residential Business segment sells product and software offerings VPC programs and turnkey
programs In some instances we sell the customer product and software and the customer elects to perform the services such as

installation and marketing to complete its IEM network In other instances as in our VPC and turnkey programs we provide the

product and software as well as perform full program services including installation and customer acquisition marketing If we
provide full outsourced pay-for-performance capacity through the IEM network we refer to the program as VPC program in which
we typically own the assets of the system Our VPC programs are pay-for-performance in that we are only paid for capacity that we
provide as determined by measurement and verification process with our customers as described below If the customer elects to

own the IEM network or we are paid for the services as opposed to being paid for reduced capacity or energy we refer to the program
as turnkey program

Peak load demand defined as the maximum capacity of electricity required over specified time is dynamic in nature and places the

greatest stress on the grid system due to both the elevated levels and
fluctuating duration of demand Our VPC and turnkey offerings

compete in the peak capacity markets and provide solution to alleviate stress on the electric grid by aggregating and coordinating the

demands of load consuming equipment



Virtual Peaking Capacity VPC Programs

The structure of our VPC programs is on pay-for-performance basis whereby we enter into long-term contracts with utilities and are

paid under each contract based on the amount of verifiable kilowatts of capacity that we provide Under our VPC programs we

typically own and operate the entire IEM network

The consumers who elect to participate in our VPC programs agree to allow us to install our products in their homes or businesses in

order to decrease energy usage of certain appliances such as their central air conditioner electric water heater irrigation pump or pool

pump during short periods of peak energy demand These devices are controlled remotely by using our digital control units or

thermostats coupled with our Inte11iSOURCE software We in return receive payment for this capacity from the utility under our

existing contract with the utility

We operate our VPC programs through long-term fixed price contracts with our utility customers which make periodic payments to

us based on estimates of the amount of electric capacity that we expect to make available to them during the contract year We refer to

these payments as proxy payments and electric capacity on which proxy payments are made as estimated capacity During contract

negotiations or in the first contract year of VPC program estimated capacity is negotiated and established by the contract During

each succeeding contract year estimated capacity is the available capacity from the previous year contract year begins at the end of

utilitys seasonal peak energy demand for electricity We refer to this seasonal peak energy demand as the cooling season For

example the cooling season for one of our VPC contracts runs from June to September 30th and the contract year for this

agreement begins on October and ends on September 30th We and our utility customers analyze results of measurement and

verification tests that are performed during the cooling season of each contract year to statistically determine the capacity that was

available to the utility during the cooling season Measurement and verification tests are necessary because our hardware installed at

participant locations to control energy usage of selected appliances are one-way devices that are programmed to receive and respond

to wireless signal initiated by our software and transmitted over public or private network but does not send confirmation

Therefore there is no verification that any certain device received signal or properly executed its command Because thousands of

devices are subject to control in typical residential VPC programs for one-way communicating systems statistically significant

measurement and verification is performed on subset of these devices This methodology has been developed that verifies the

reduction of energy usage measured in kilowatts for statistical sample of devices with an accepted utility confidence level generally

of 90% or greater This methodology is widely accepted in the industry We refer to the results of this measurement and verification

process as our available capacity

Available capacity varies with the electricity demand of high-use energy equipment such as central air conditioning compressors at

the time the measurement and verification tests are conducted which in mmdepends on factors beyond our control such as

temperature and humidity and the time of day and the day of the week the measurement and verification tests are performed The

correct operation of and timely communication with devices used to control equipment are also important factors that affect available

capacity Any difference between our available capacity and the estimated capacity on which proxy payments were previously made

will result in either refund payment from us to our utility customer or an additional payment to us by our customer We refer to this

process as the annual settlement

Turnkey Programs

Our turnkey programs are targeted for utilities that not only need to have available capacity but often want to own the underlying

assets and pay for our services and solutions We provide the same or similar intelligent energy management network as that provided

in our VPC programs however we do not own the underlying assets and are not paid based on available capacity We are paid based

on negotiated rates for our product software and services and these payments are not subject to annual settlement

Commercial Industrial CIBusiness

The CI Business segment provides IEM solutions to utilities and independent system operators that are managing programs or

auctions for large CI consumers These solutions are delivered through the management of megawatts for these CI consumers in

VPC and open market programs as well as through the completion of energy efficiency projects Similar to the Residential Business

segment the CI Business segment contracts with utilities to provide available capacity to utility customers through pay-for

performance VPC programs We recruit large CI end-use participants into the VPC program requesting that participants reduce

electricity usage at certain times and provide the available capacity to our customer



Open Markets

In open markets grid operators and utilities seek bids from their commercial and industrial consumer base to provide demand

response capacity based on prices offered in competitive bidding These opportunities are generally characterized by energy and

capacity obligations with shorter contract periods and prices that may vary by hour by day by month or by bidding period Several

major grid operators including PJM Interconnection New York Independent System Operator New England Power Pool and Electric

Reliability Council of Texas have active demand capacity markets in which we participate Our CI Business segment works with

commercial and industrial consumers to first identify available demand response capacity and then register and facilitate the sale of

that capacity in the open market on behalf of those consumers In these transactions we receive revenue from grid operators and make

payments to commercial and industrial consumers for both contracting to reduce electricity usage and actually doing so when called

upon

Energy Efficiency Program

The structure of our energy efficiency program is pay-for-performance model whereby we provide permanent base load reduction

through equipment upgrades energy auditing and consulting building automation lighting retrotits and other measures that reduce

CI consumers total energy consumption We enter into long-term contracts to provide the reduced capacity maintain and operate
the improvements and ensure their utilization

See Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note 15 for presentation of results of operations for the last three fiscal

years by segment

Marketing and Sales

Our North American sales and development team consists of over 100 sales professionals working together to sell our products and

services

The strategic alliance and marketing role includes competitive analysis promotion placement pricing and product requirements The

marketing function is bridge between sales and engineering and is the primary representative on product development teams The

marketing function also establishes common message for the direct sales force and manufacturer representatives This team provides

pre-sales support manages sales programs requiring ongoing technical expertise and is responsible for all proposal activity

Customers

We have an established customer base of utility and other
energy service providers including municipal and cooperative electric

utilities located across North America in both regulated and deregulated jurisdictions For example our customers include large

investor-owned utilities independent system operators and regional transmission organizations which are regional entities that

monitor and control regional electric grid electric cooperatives municipalities energy service companies and military bases

including energy providers such as Austin Energy Consolidated Edison Company of New York Inc Georgia Power Gulf Power

Company Inc PacifiCorp Pepco Holdings Inc PJM Interconnection PPL Corporation Progress Energy Inc and San Diego
Gas Electric Company For the

year ended December 31 2010 our top ten customers account for 71% of our consolidated revenue

Of these customers two customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue PJM Interconnection LLC 28% and Pepco Holdings
Inc 12% For the

year ended December 31 2009 our top ten customers accounted for 67% of our consolidated revenue Of these

customers two customers accounted for more than 10% of our revenue PJM Interconnection LLC 20%and NV Energy 12% For

the year ended December 31 2008 our top ten customers accounted for 71% of our consolidated revenues Of these customers three

customers accounted for more than 10% of our revenue PJM Interconnection LLC 19% Consolidated Edison Company of New
York Inc 14%and NV Energy 12%

Manufacturing

We outsource all of our product manufacturing operations to contract manufacturers For our current production requirements we
utilize both domestic manufacturer and an additional manufacturer that has facilities offshore This dual sourcing complements our

supply chain effort and helps support our plans for continual cost reductions quality improvement and diversification of supply risk

Standard surface mount and thru-hole technologies are designed by our engineers and can be produced on wide variety of

manufacturing equipment thereby allowing competitive bidding from contract manufacturers We manage all bills of materials and

approved vendor lists and provide the contract manufacturers with design change notices

We employ dedicated test engineers who design all product test systems write custom software for product tests and monitor product

quality and yields All outgoing product at our contract manufacturers is tested on the systems that we have designed Additionally

quality data is collected electronically and utilized by our design engineers for continuous product improvement and by the contract

manufacturer for improvement of key manufacturing processes Quality control tests are performed on statistically significant



portion of all outgoing orders to ensure compliance to specifications and corrective action techniques are employed to permanently

resolve issues

Competition

The clean energy sector is highly competitive We face competition from traditional clean energy providers advanced metering

equipment and service providers and supply-side independent power producers In addition some traditional providers of advanced

meter reading products may add demand response products and services to their existing business We also compete against traditional

supply-side resources such as natural gas-fired peaking plants as well as independent power producers Electric utilities could also

offer their own demand response solutions which would decrease our base of potential customers and could decrease our revenues

and profitability

Regulatory

Our products and services are typically not subject to existing federal and state regulations in the U.S governing the electric utility

industry However our products and their installation are subject to government oversight and regulation under state and local

ordinances relating to communications requirements building codes public safety regulations pertaining to electrical connections and

local and state licensing requirements In the future federal state or local governmental entities or competitors may seek to change

existing regulations impose additional regulations or apply current regulations to cover our products and services

Trademarks

Comverge Inc and its subsidiaries own the following trademarks in the United States 6D Apollo Comverge Coolibrium Datapult

Enerwise Inte1IiSUPPORT IntelliPLAN Inte11iMEASURE IntelliPEAK InteIIiMARKET Inte11iFOCUS IntelliTEMP

lntelliSOURCE Inte11iCONNECT kw Operation Kill-a-Watt Maingate Powerportal Profit from Energy Public Energy Solutions

Sixth Dimension SuperStat The Energy To Go Clean The Energy To Be Clean The Energy To Be Green TheWattSpot Virtual

Peaking Capacity and Wattspot

History and Development of the Business

Our business began as divisions of Scientific Atlanta Inc and Lucent Technologies Inc in 1974 and 1991 respectively In 1992

Acorn Energy Inc formerly known as Acorn Factor Inc or AEI created its Powercom Division to develop advanced meter

reading electric utility data management and analysis and load management solutions Comverge Inc was organized in 1997 as

Delaware corporation by AEI We evolved our operations through the acquisition of the Utility Solutions Division of Lucent

Technologies Inc in 1997 and the organization of Comverge Control Systems Ltd in 1998 In 1999 we acquired the Controls System

Division of Scientific Atlanta Inc We made the strategic decision in 2002 to develop own and operate load management systems on

an outsourced basis for the benefit of our utility customers We named this offering Virtual Peaking Capacity In 2003 we acquired

the intellectual property operating assets and customers of Sixth Dimension Inc In April 2007 we completed an initial public

offering In July 2007 we acquired Enerwise Global Technologies Inc reported as part of the CI Business segment We acquired

the four operating entities comprising the business of Public Energy Solutions in September 2007 and include their offerings as part

of the CI Business segment In February 2010 we appointed Blake Young as our President and Chief Executive Officer In

October 2010 we unveiled our vision for IEM the next-generation of software hardware and services that help electric utilities

commercial and industrial organizations and consumers optimize energy usage

Employees

We had 562 employees as of December 31 2010 Our employees are not represented by any labor unions and we have not

experienced any work stoppages We consider our relations with our employees to be good

Available Information

Our web site is located at http//www.comverge.com Our investor relations website is located at http//ir.comverge.com The

information on or accessible through our web sites is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K Our Annual Report on Form 10-K

Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports are available free of charge on our

investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file with or furnish such material to the

SEC Further copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE
Washington D.C 20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-

SEC-0330 The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding

our filings at http//www.sec.gov



Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers as of March 2011 are as follows

Blake Young 52 became our President and Chief Executive Officer when he was appointed in February 2010 and has served as

member of the Comverge Board of Directors since August 2006 Prior to his appointment Mr Young was the founder and Managing
Partner of Cap2ity Consulting Group business technology and management consulting group from June 2009 to February 2010
Previously he served as Senior Vice President Global IT Technology for BG Group global energy company based in London
from January 2007 to June 2009 Prior to that Mr Young held various senior management positions with Dynegy Inc including
Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer as well as Executive Vice President President of Global Technology
from 1998 to 2005 He also served as President of Illinois Power Company Dynegys electric and gas transmission and distribution

company Prior to his eight years at Dynegy Mr Young served as ChiefInformation Officer of the US Grocery Division of Campbell
Soup Company Before that Mr Young had 14-year career with Tenneco Energy an integrated natural gas transporter and

marketer where he served in number of senior administrative and commercial management positions including Chief Information

Officer and Executive Director of national accounts Mr Young received Bachelor of Science degree from Louisiana State

University

Christopher Camino 44 has served as our Executive Vice President of Sales and Marketing and Chief Marketing Officer since June

2010 Mr Camino has more than 20 years of experience the past seven with SAP primarily as Senior Vice President and General

Manger of the companys utilities and telecommunications divisions Prior to SAP Mr Camino held variety of senior-level sales

positions in the technology and medical sales sectors In particular Mr Camino served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales

for Radiance Technology and was Sector Vice President North America Energy and Utilities for Parametric Technology
Corporation Mr Camino holds Bachelor of Science in business from Miami University in Ohio

Steven Moffitt 45 has served as our Executive Vice President of Engineering and Operations since July 2010 Mr Moffitt has over

20 years experience in information technology leadership strategy development project management and systems development Prior

to joining our company Mr Moffitt served as Vice President and Divisional Chief Information Officer of the BG Group from

November 2008 to March 2010 where he managed the BG Infrastructure globally including data centers network computer and

storage environments Prior to that Mr Moffitt was Managing Director Global Head of Commodities Technology at UBS Investment

Bank from September 2006 to November 2008 Mr Moffitt also served as Senior Vice President Divisional CIO of FiServ Inc
provider of technology solutions to the financial world including banks credit unions and securities processing organizations from

March 2006 to September 2006 Mr Moffitt has also served as Senior Vice President Chief Information Officer of Dynegy Inc
from January 2000 to December 2005 Mr Moffitt holds Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Texas-Arlington where

he majored in Information Systems

EdwardJ Myszka 48 has served as Executive Vice President of Program Delivery since June 2010 Prior to that he served as Chief

Operating Officer of our Clean Energy Solutions Group since October 2008 and as President and Chief Operating Officer of our Smart
Grid Solutions Group from April 2005 to September 2008 Prior to joining Comverge he spent 17 years at Motorola Inc global

communications company where he held numerous positions of increasing responsibility in business management strategic planning
and technology development for the semiconductor telecommunications automotive and

energy industries Since 2000 he was head

of the OEM Energy Systems Division where he held profit and loss responsibility with operations in Asia Europe and the U.S From
1984 to 1988 Mr Myszka led engineering and manufacturing efforts for Lytel Inc an early-stage company pioneering

optoelectronic and semiconductor laser solutions for the telecommunications industry Mr Myszka obtained B.S degree from New
York University formerly Polytechnic Institute of New York and M.S in Metallurgical and Material Engineering and an M.B.A
from the Illinois Institute of Technology

Teresa Naylor 48 joined our company in September 2010 as our Senior Vice President of Human Resources Ms Naylor brings

over 20 years of human resources management and leadership experience to Comverge She leads the human resources business

including leadership development talent management compensation benefits compliance and all human resources generalist

responsibilities Prior to joining the company Ms Naylor served as Vice President of Human Resources for MXENERGY from 2006
to 2010 where she was responsible for the human resource functions and team development Prior to MXENERGY she was the Vice

President of Human Resources for CenterPoint Energy Inc from 2004 to 2006 where she was responsible for all enterprise-wide
executive leadership succession planning and corporate human resources services to over 9000 employees Previously she also held

executive level positions with Dynegy Inc including leadership roles at Illinois Power and Illinova Generating Company from 1998-

2004 and Lincoinland Visiting Nurse Association from 1991 to 1998 Ms Naylor holds Bachelor of Science degree in

interdisciplinary studies organizational management from Cameron University and Master of Science degree from University of

St Francis

Michael Picchi 44 became member of our board of directors in February 2010 and has served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since June 2006 Prior to joining our board Mr Picchi also served as Interim President and Chief Executive

Officer from June 2009 until February 2010 He joined us in February 2006 as Senior Vice President Chief Accounting Officer

responsible for all accounting functions From July 2004 to February 2006 Mr Picchi was Senior Vice PresidentFinance and



Controller for publicly-traded PRG-Schultz International Inc an audit recovery services firm From February 2003 to July 2004 Mr
Picchi served as Chief Accounting OfficerCorporate Controller for Randstad North America the U.S operations of temporary

staffing labor firm Randstad Holding B.V From November 1999 to January 2003 Mr Picchi served as Vice PresidentFinance for

publicly-traded AirGate PCS Inc Sprint PCS wireless affiliate Mr Picchi began his career at Coopers Lybrand LLP and is

certified public accountant and chartered financial analyst He obtained B.S in Accounting and an M.B.A in Finance from Indiana

University

Matthew Smith 36 has served as our Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary since September 2009 Prior to that

he served as our Vice President General Counsel and Secretary from January 2008 to September 2009 Mr Smith joined us in

January 2005 as Senior Counsel responsible for contract negotiations intellectual property litigation and corporate governance

matters Prior to joining us Mr Smith worked for the law firm King Spalding LLP concentrating primarily on intellectual property

and litigation matters Mr Smith began his legal career as federal appellate court clerk for Judge Emory Widener Jr on the U.S

Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit Mr Smith obtained B.A in History and Psychology and J.D from the University of North

Carolina Chapel Hill

Arthur Vos IV 36 has served as our Senior Vice President of Product Management and Alliances since November 2009 From

September 2007 to November 2009 he served as our Vice President Marketing and Strategy Mr Vos was named Vice President

Marketing Products and Strategy in 2004 Mr Vos joined us in April 2003 as our Vice President of Development for our 6DiNET

Group after the acquisition of Sixth Dimension Inc Over 12 year history in the electric power industry Mr Vos has led and

architected numerous demand response and energy monitoring solutions As the Chief Technology Officer of Comverge Mr Vos now

leads our entire development effort which includes an advanced SmartGrid software suite intelligent communicating in-home devices

and distributed energy management solutions Mr Vos obtained B.S and MS degrees from Colorado State University with an

emphasis in artificial intelligence distributed control systems manufacturing systems and embedded system design

John Waterworth 33 has served as our Vice President and Corporate Controller of the Company since March 2009 Prior to that

Mr Waterworth served as Controller of the Company from July 2006 to February 2009 Prior to joining the Company Mr
Waterworth was member of the audit services

group
of KPMG LLP As Vice President and Corporate Controller Mr Waterworth

is responsible for the Companys financial reporting and internal controls Mr Waterworth is certified public accountant and earned

his Bachelors and Masters degrees in accounting from the University of Georgia



Item 1A Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves high degree of risk Before making an investment in our common stock you should
carefully consider thefollowing risks as well as the other information contained in this annual report including our financial
statements and the notes thereto and Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The risks described below are those that we believe are the material risks that we face Any of the risk factors described below could

signIcantly and adversely affect our business prospects financial condition and results of operations As result the trading price
of our common stock could decline and you may lose part or all ofyour investment

Risks Related to Our Business

We have incurred annual net losses since our inception and we may continue to incur annual net losses in the future

Our annual net loss for the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $31.4 million $31.7 million and $94.1 million

respectively Our accumulated deficit from inception through December 31 2010 was $215.9 million Initially our net losses were
driven

principally by start-up costs and the costs of developing our technology More recently our net losses have been driven

principally by our energy efficiency business marketing operating and depreciation expenses as well as impairment charges To
grow our revenues and customer base we plan to continue emphasizing the expansion and development of our capacity programs
which will include increased marketing and operating expenses In the short-term our success in operating our capacity contracts will

have negative effect on earnings because of the consumer acquisition costs we incur during the installation phase of the contract
These increased costs may cause us to incur net losses in the foreseeable future and there can be no assurance that we will be able to

grow our revenues and expand our client base to become profitable Furthermore these expenses are not the only factors that may
contribute to our net losses For example interest expense on our currently outstanding debt and any debt we incur in the future will

contribute to our net losses As result even if we significantly reduce our marketing or operating expenses we may continue to

incur net losses in the future

We may not receive the payments anticipated by our long-term contracts and recognize revenues or the anticzpated margins from
our backlog or expected business and comparisons of period-to-period estimates are not necessarily meaningful and may not be
indicative of actual payments

Payments from long-term contracts represent our estimate of the total payments that our contracts allow us to receive over the course
of the contract term Our estimated payments from these long-term contracts are based on number of assumptions The expectations
regarding our annual and multi-year contracts include assumptions relating to purchase orders received contractual minimum order
volumes and purchase orders that we expect to receive under contract if it is extended based on amounts and timing of historical

purchases We also assume that we will be able to meet our obligations under these contracts on timely basis The expectations
regarding the build-out of our capacity contracts are based on our experience to date in building out the load management systems as

well as future expectations for continuing to enroll participants in each contracts service territory In some instances we may not
build out to our contracted capacity due to enrollment rates varying from our expectations We have also included assumptions for

how we believe the programs will perform during the measurement and verification tests If we are not able to meet this build-out

schedule we have higher than expected withdrawal by consumers from our programs or if the measurement and verification results

are lower than expected we may not be able to receive the full amount of estimated payments from long-term contracts While we
have historically recorded $0.3 million penalty per megawatt in liquidated damages for each megawatt that we believed we would
not fulfill for our energy efficiency contracts we have not reduced our anticipated payments from long-term contracts for any
penalties As of December 31 2010 we anticipated potential payment of $0.3 million in liquidated damages for our energy
efficiency contracts based on our build-out rate for the 2010 and 2011 program years We have also assumed that no contracts will be
terminated for convenience or other reasons by our customers and that the rate of replacement of participant terminations under our

capacity contracts will remain consistent with our historical average Changes in our estimates or any of these assumptions the
number of load control devices installed changes in our measurement and verification test results and payments contracts being
rescheduled cancelled or renewed disputes as to actual capacity provided or new contracts being signed before existing contracts are

completed and other factors may result in actual payments from long-term contracts being significantly lower than estimated

payments from long-term contracts comparison of estimated payments from long-term contracts from period to period is not

necessarily meaningful and may not be indicative of actual payments

Our backlog represents our estimate of revenues from commitments including purchase orders and long-term contracts that we
expect to recognize over the course of the next 12 months The inaccuracy of any of our estimates and other factors may result in

actual results being significantly lower than estimated under our reported backlog Material delays market conditions cancellations

or payment defaults could materially affect our financial condition results of operation and cash flow Accordingly comparison of
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backlog from period to period is not necessarily meaningful and may not be indicative of actual revenues As of December 31 2010

we had contractual backlog of $119 million through December 31 2011

We operate in highly competitive markets if we are unable to compete successfully we could lose market share revenues and

profit

We face strong competition from traditional intelligent energy management and clean energy providers both larger and smaller than

us from advanced metering infrastructure equipment and from energy service providers In addition we may face competition from

large internet and/or software based companies Advanced metering infrastructure systems generally include advanced meter reading

with demand response component including communications infrastructure Energy service providers typically provide expertise

to utilities and end-use consumers relating to energy audits demand reduction or energy efficiency measures We also compete

against traditional supply-side resources such as natural gas-fired power plants and independent power producers In addition some

providers of advanced meter reading products may add demand response products or energy services to their existing business and

other such providers may elect to add similarofferings in the future Further energy
service providers may add their own demand

response solutions which could decrease our base of potential customers and could decrease our revenues and profitability

Certain energy
service and advanced metering infrastructure providers are substantially larger and better capitalized than we are and

these providers have the ability to combine advanced meter reading or commodity sales and demand response products into an

integrated offering to large existing customer base Because many of our target customers already purchase either advanced meter

reading energy efficiency products or services demand response products or services or commodities from one or more of our

competitors our success depends on our ability to attract target customers away from their existing providers or to partner with one or

more of these entities to distribute our products In addition the target market for our capacity programs has been composed largely

of early adopters or customers who have sought out new technologies and services Because the number of early adopters is

limited our continued growth will depend on our success in marketing and selling our capacity programs to mainstream customers in

our target markets Larger competitors could focus their substantial financial resources to develop competing business model that

may be more attractive to potential customers than what we offer Competitors who also provide advanced metering infrastructure or

energy services may offer such services at prices below cost or even for free in order to improve their competitive positions In

addition because of the other services that our competitors provide they may choose to offer intelligent energy management services

as part of bundle that includes other products such as residential advanced meter reading and automated invoicing which we do not

offer Any of these competitive factors could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain customers cause us to lower our prices

in order to compete and reduce our market share and revenues

Some of our strategic alliances are not exclusive and accordingly the companies with whom we have strategic alliances may in the

future elect to compete with us by developing and selling competing products and services In addition these companies have similar

and often more established relationships with our customers and may recommend other products and services to their customers

instead of our products and services

The significant competition in our industry has resulted in increasingly aggressive pricing and we anticipate that prices may continue

to decrease We believe that in some instances our prices are currently higher than those of our competitors for similarsolutions

Users of our solutions may switch to another clean energy provider based on price particularly if they perceive the quality of our

competitors products to be equal to or better than that of our products Continued price decreases by our competitors could result in

loss of customers or decrease in the growth of our business or it may require us to lower our prices to remain competitive which

would result in reduced revenues and lower profit margins and may adversely affect our results of operations and financial position

and delay or prevent our future profitability

Failure to provide quality products and services including third party suppliers manufacturing quality products and third-party

installers properly installing our products could cause malfunctions of our products potential recalls or replacements or delays

in the delivery ofour products or services which could damage our reputation cause us to lose customers and negatively impact

our revenues and growth

Our success depends on our ability to provide quality products and reliable services in timely manner which in part depends on the

proper functioning of facilities and equipment owned operated and/or manufactured by third parties upon which we depend For

example our reliance on third parties includes

utilizing components that they manufacture in our products

utilizing products that they manufacture for our various capacity programs
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outsourcing cellular and paging wireless communications that are used to execute instructions to our devices

under our VPC programs and clients in open market programs

outsourcing certain installation maintenance data collection and call center operations to third-party providers

and

buying capacity from third parties who have contracted with electricity consumers to participate in our VPC

programs

Because we are wholly dependent upon third parties for the manufacture and supply of certain products the event of significant

interruption in the manufacturing or delivery of our products by these vendors or in defects from the manufacturers could result in our

being required to expend considerable time effort and expense to establish alternate production lines at other facilities and our

operations could be materially disrupted which could cause us to not meet production deadlines and lose customers In addition our

contracts often provide that we install products in the end-users facilities or premises using Comverge employees or third party

installers To the extent such installations are faulty or inadequate considerable time effort and expense may be incurred to remedy
the situation and restore customer satisfaction Any delays malfunctions inefficiencies or interruptions in these products services or

operations could adversely affect the reliability or operation of our products or services which could cause us to experience difficulty

retaining current customers and attracting new customers In addition our brand reputation and growth could be negatively

impacted For example in August 2010 we were notified by the supplier of our thermostats White-Rodgers that White-Rodgers had

filed with the Consumer Product Safety Commission or the CPSC to address product issue with the thermostats that White-Rodgers
had shipped to Comverge White-Rodgers reported to the CPSC that it was aware of incidents of battery leakage in the model of

thermostat sold to Comverge in which battery leakage led to an overheating of the device We are not aware of any reports of

personal injury associated with these incidents but are aware of claims for minor property damage White-Rodgers informed us that

in the event of battery leakage electrolyte can contact the printed circuit board which may result in the circuit board overheating

White-Rodgers has not conceded that the thermostats contain defect or pose substantial product hazard but has nevertheless

voluntarily proposed corrective action plan that was approved by the CPSC in January 2011 to address thermostats in inventory and

thermostats installed in the field White-Rodgers has stated that it will cover reasonable costs associated with implementing the

corrective action Comverge is not aware of any information suggesting that Comverges communication module in these thermostats

is related to the reported incidents This corrective action by White-Rodgers could impact our current and future utility residential

demand response business including but not limited to continued business and installations in 2011 In relation to the White-Rodgers
thermostat issue Comverge was sued in the Western District of Kentucky where Louisville Gas and Electric Company and

Kentucky Utilities Company collectively the Plaintiffs filed breach of warranty lawsuit against Comverge relating to certain White-

Rodgers brand thermostats and ii Eastern District of Kentucky where East Kentucky Power Cooperative filed similar claims against

Comverge relating to certain White-Rodgers brand thermostats For further information on lawsuits relating to the thermostat issue

see Item Legal Proceedings contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K

We rely on certain components and products from single supplier or limited number of suppliers

We rely on third party suppliers to manufacture and supply certain products for our various capacity programs In addition some of

the components necessary for our products are currently provided to us by single supplier including the thermostats used in our

utility residential demand
response business and we generally do not maintain large volumes of inventory Our reliance on these third

parties involves number of risks including among other things the risk that

we may not be able to control the quality and cost of these products or respond to unanticipated changes and

increases in demand

we may lose access to critical services and components resulting in an interruption in the delivery of products or

services to our customers and

we may not be able to find new or alternative components for our use or reconfigure our products in timely

manner if the components necessary for our products become unavailable

If any of these risks materialize it could significantly increase our costs and adversely affect the reliability or operation of our

products or services Lead times for materials and components ordered by us vary and depend on factors such as the specific supplier

contract terms and demand for component at given time If these manufacturers or suppliers stop providing us with the components
or services

necessary for the operation of our business we may not be able to identify alternate sources in timely fashion Any
transition to alternate manufacturers or suppliers would likely result in increased expenses and operational delays and we may not be

able to enter into agreements with new manufacturers or suppliers in timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms Any
disruptions in product flow may harm our ability to generate revenue lead to customer dissatisfaction damage our reputation and

result in additional costs
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We depend on the electric utility industry and associated power pool marketsfor revenues and as result our operating results

have experienced and may continue to experience significant variability due to volatility in electric utility capital spending or the

open market programs and other factors affrcting the electric utility industry

We derive substantially all of our revenues from the sale of solutions products and services directly or indirectly to the electric utility

industry and open market programs In relation to our electric utility customers purchases of our solutions products or services by

electric utilities may be deferred or cancelled as result of many factors including consolidation among electric utilities changing

governmental or grid operator regulations weather conditions rising interest rates reduced electric utility capital spending and

general economic downturns In addition significant amount of revenue is dependent on long-term relationships with our utility

customers which are not always supported by long-term contracts This revenue is particularly susceptible to variability based on

changes in the spending patterns of our utility customers

The open market programs in which we participate could be materially altered in ways that negatively affect our ability to participate

and in turn decrease revenues For example these markets typically utilize short-term contracts and often have price volatility

Prices in these markets typically fall whenever capacity providers place excessive amounts of capacity for auction in these markets If

prices decline below the point at which customers who typically participate in these programs recognize benefit from participating or

if they decide to participate with another provider we would no longer be able to enroll these customers which could result in us

recognizing lower than expected revenues

We have experienced and may in the future experience significant variability in our revenues on both an annual and quarterly

basis as result of these factors Pronounced variability in the open markets or an extended period of reduction in spending by

electric utilities could negatively impact our business and make it difficult for us to accurately forecast our future sales which could

lead to increased spending by us that is not matched with equivalent or better revenues

We could be required to make substantial refunds or pay damages to our customers if the actual amount of electric capacity we

provide under our capacity programs is materially less than estimated or required under the applicable agreements

We typically operate our capacity programs through long-term fixed price contracts with our utility customers Under our base load

contracts our utility customers make periodic payments based on verified load reduction after inspecting and confirming the capacity

reduced through energy efficiency measures While the base load is able to be permanently reduced once the energy efficiency

devices are installed and verified the utility often retains the right to conduct follow up inspections for subsequent years
If the

energy

consumer removes the installed devices shuts down operations or vacates the physical premises there is the potential that any

subsequent inspection by our utility customer would result in lower amount of base load reduced capacity than originally verified

which may consequently obligate us to pay penalty In addition our base load contracts require building out specified amount of

capacity megawatts at pre-determined dates throughout the contract life Due to our potential participants limited capital spending

and increased competition in the marketplace we are experiencing challenges in meeting certain contractual build-out milestones in

timely manner If we fail to fulfill the required contracted capacity by the dates specified in our contracts we would be obligated to

pay penalties of up to $0.3 million per megawatt that we fail to obtain in 2011 and 2012 As of December 31 2010 we have recorded

potential liquidated damages for capacity fulfillment delays related to certain 2010 and 2011 contractual milestones

In the open market programs which typically have term of one to three years we sell capacity that we obtain through our programs

to independent system operators The independent system operator makes periodic payments to us based on estimates of the amount

of electric capacity that we expect to make available during the contract year We refer to these payments as proxy payments and

electric capacity on which proxy payments are made as estimated capacity contract year generally begins on June st and ends

May 31st of the following year We and the independent system operator analyze results of the metering data collected during the

capacity events or test events to determine the capacity that was available during the actual event Any discrepancy between our

analysis of the metering data and the analysis from the independent system operator could result in lower than expected revenues or

potential damages payable by us In addition the PJM Interconnection or PJM open market program has amended rules which create

potential penalties if the projected megawatts do not perform To the extent PJM does not call an event test events will be initiated

before September 30 of each year to test the potential capacity If we do not provide the required capacity during an event or test

event we may be subject to penalties PJM has recently eliminated the Interruptible Load for Reliability ILR program effective

2012 Customers that currently participate as ILR resources must be moved into other open market programs by 2012 in order to

avoid loss of revenue This change also requires additional capital support for both planned and new megawatts under the three

year Base Residual Auction and ii has increased the potential penalties for non-compliance As result of the elimination of the ILR

program and the changing open market programs we may incur significantly higher penalties in the future

Under our VPC contracts which typically have term of five to ten years our utility customers make periodic payments to us based

on estimates of the amount of electric capacity we expect to make available to them during the contract year We refer to these

payments as proxy payments and electric capacity on which proxy payments are made as estimated capacity During contract

negotiations or the first contract year of VPC program estimated capacity is negotiated and established by the contract contract
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year generally begins at the end of the summer months after utilitys seasonal peak energy demand for electricity We refer to this

seasonal peak energy demand as the cooling season For example the cooling season for one of our VPC contracts runs from June 1st

to September 30th and the contract year for this agreement begins on October 1St and ends on September 30th We and our utility

customers analyze results of measurement and verification tests that are performed during the cooling season of each contract
year to

statistically determine the capacity that was available to the utility during the cooling season We refer to measured and verified

capacity as our available capacity Available capacity varies with the electricity demand of high-use energy equipment such as

central air conditioning compressors at the time measurement and verification tests are conducted which in turn depends on factors

beyond our control such as fluctuations in temperature and humidity Although our contracts often contain restrictions regarding the

time of day and in some cases the day of the week the measurement and verification tests are performed the actual time within the

agreed testing period that the tests are performed is beyond our control If the measurement and verification tests are performed
during period of generally lower electricity usage then the capacity made available through our system could be lower than

estimated capacity for the particular contract being tested The correct operation of and timely communication with devices used to

control equipment are also important factors that affect available capacity under our VPC contracts Any difference between our

available capacity and the estimated capacity on which proxy payments were previously made will result in either refund payment
from us to our utility customer or an additional payment to us by our customer We refer to this process as the annual settlement For
the contract year 2010 while we are still working toward final settlement in certain programs we estimate that we will pay $0.1

million in the aggregate excluding the NV Energy program which expired in January 2011 as result of the programs annual

settlement For 2009 and 2008 we paid $0.6 million and $0.2 million respectively as result of the annual settlement

Any refund payments that we may be required to make as result of subsequent inspection or failure to meet initial minimum
capacity under our base load contracts to the power pool under our auction contracts or pursuant to an annual settlement

determination under our VPC contracts could be substantial and could adversely affect our liquidity and anticipate revenue

projections In addition because measurement and verification test results for each VPC contract generally establishes estimated

capacity on which proxy payments will be made for the following contract year downward adjustment in estimated capacity for

particular VPC contract would decrease the dollar amount of proxy payments for the following contract year and could significantly

decrease our estimated backlog and estimated payments from long-term contracts In addition such adjustment could result in

significant year-to-year variations in our quarterly and annual revenues

significant portion of our revenues are generatedfrom contracts with small number of customers the postponement
modification or termination of which could significantly reduce our revenues

Our revenues historically have been generated from small number of customers In 2010 2009 and 2008 our top ten customers

accounted for approximately 71% 67% and 71% of our consolidated revenues respectively In 2010 two customers accounted for

more than 10% of our revenues PJM Interconnection LLC 28% and Pepco Holdings Inc 12% In 2009 two customers accounted

for more than 10% of our revenues PJM Interconnection LLC 20% and NV Energy 12% In 2008 three customers accounted for

more than 10% of our revenues PJM Interconnection LLC 19% Consolidated Edison Company of New York Inc 14% and NV
Energy 12% Our capacity contracts are multi-year contracts that are subject to postponement modification or termination by our

utility customers Such action by customer with respect to one or more of our significant contracts would significantly reduce our

revenues

Our failure to meet product development and commercialization milestones may result in customer dissatisfaction cancellation of
existing customer orders or our failure to successfully compete in new markets

In the past we have not met all of our product development and commercialization milestones For example we were behind

schedule in developing next-generation demand response product for major customer This delay resulted in deferral of sales and

gross profit associated with contracted delivery schedules for our products In addition we are behind schedule in developing next-

generation load management product resulting in delay in the planned commercialization of this product

We establish milestones to monitor our progress toward developing commercially feasible products or to meet contractual delivery
requirements of our customers In meeting these milestones we often depend on third-party contractors in the U.S and other

countries for much of our hardware manufacturing and software development Internal delays or delays by third-party contractors

could cause us to miss product development or delivery deadlines In addition internal development delays could result in the loss of

commercially available hardware and software products as we are unable to rely on outside vendors to provide such products when
contractual rights for the supply or license of such products expire As an example we are required to develop certain new products
with certain milestones for our Pepco Holdings Inc agreement announced on January 23 2009 In addition we are developing and

enhancing our software platform IntelliSOURCE formerly known as Apollo Delays in either development schedule could

negatively affect our business We may not successfully achieve our milestones in the future which could distract our employees
harm our relationships with our existing and potential customers and result in cancelled orders deferred or lost revenues and/or

margin compression and our inability to successfully compete in new markets
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Changes in the availability and regulation of radio spectrum or paging providers limiting paging services may cause us to lose

utility customers

significant number of our products use radio spectrum which is subject to regulation in the United States by the Federal

Communications Commission Licenses for radio frequencies must be obtained and periodically renewed Licenses granted to us or

our customers may not be renewed on acceptable terms if at all The Federal Communications Commission may adopt changes to the

rules for our licensed and unlicensed frequency bands that are incompatible with our business These changes in frequency allocation

may result in the termination of demand response programs by our utility customers or the replacement of our systems with ones

owned by our competitors This would erode our competitive advantage with respect to those utility customers and would force us to

compete with other providers for their business In addition paging providers may discontinue providing paging services which may

result in no coverage or an increase in our cost in seeking alternative providers

We may be subject to damaging and disruptive intellectual property litigation related to allegations that our products or services

infringe on intellectual property held by others which could result in the loss of use of the product or service

Third-party patent applications and patents may be applicable to our products As result third-parties have made and may in the

future make infringement and other allegations that could subject us to intellectual property litigation relating to our products and

services which litigation is time-consuming and expensive divert attention and resources away from our daily business impede or

prevent delivery of our products and services and require us to pay significant royalties licensing fees and damages In addition

parties making infringement and other claims may be able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief that could effectively block our

ability to provide our services and could cause us to pay substantial damages In the event of successful claim of infringement we

may need to obtain one or more licenses from third parties which may not be available at reasonable cost or at all

The expiration of our capacity contracts without obtaining renewal or replacement capacity contract or finding another revenue

source for the capacity our operating assets can provide could materially affect our business

Although we have entered into additional long-term contracts in different geographic regions and are regularly in discussions with our

customers to extend our existing contracts or enter into new contracts with these existing customers there can be no assurance that any

of these contracts will be extended or that we will enter into new contracts on favorable terms If these contracts are not extended or

replaced we would expect to enroll the capacity that we make available under such contracts in another demand response capacity

program although there is no assurance we would be able to do so For example our capacity contract amendment with NV Energy

was not continued in 2011 NV Energy accounted for 4% 12% and 12% of our total revenue in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Regulatory or legislative rule changes made by major grid operators state commissions or FERC could adversely impact our

revenues

We operate in regulated market Changes to rules regulations or laws may affect our business and anticipated revenues During

2008 PJM Interconnection LLC or PJM announced rule change for economic demand response programs in the PJM open market

The rule change reduced the price we receive under our economic or voluntary demand response programs for commercial and

industrial consumers Because such programs are voluntary the lower price and operating rule changes in 2008 made it less

compelling for our commercial and industrial consumers to participate in the demand
response programs We rely on our demand

response programs to generate revenue and PJM or any other major grid operator may reduce incentives to consumers or make other

economic rule changes in the future that would have negative impact on our business Rule changes relating to the capacity market

at PJM expanding the availability of demand response resources outside of the summer months have been approved by the FERC

which could take effect three years from now These rule changes are not clearly defined and in turn the effects any such rule

changes could have on our revenues are unknown at this time however such rule changes have taken effect

We face risks related to potential expansion into international markets

We may expand our addressable market by pursuing opportunities to provide intelligent energy management solutions in international

markets We have had little experience operating large programs in markets outside of the United States Accordingly new markets

may require us to respond to new and unanticipated regulatory marketing sales and other challenges There can be no assurance that

we will be successful in responding to these and other challenges we may face as we enter and attempt to expand in international

markets International operations also entail variety of other risks including

unexpected changes in legislative or regulatory requirements of foreign countries

currency exchange fluctuations
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longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection and

significant taxes or other burdens of complying with
variety of foreign laws

International operations are also subject to general geopolitical risks such as political social and economic instability and changes in

diplomatic and trade relations One or more of these factors could adversely affect any international operations and result in lower

revenue than we expect and could significantly affect our profitability

If we have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting
may be adversely affrcted

There were no material weaknesses identified by management or our independent registered public accounting firm during the audit of
our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December31 2010 and 2009 material weakness is deficiency or
combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that material

misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis However there is no
assurance that we will not discover material weaknesses in internal controls in the future

As part of our business strategy we may pursue the acquisition of complementary businesses To the extent we acquire new
business we must integrate the accounting system for the business with our own and we may experience challenges in our internal

control over financial reporting as result Any such difficulty we encounter could increase the risk of material weakness The
existence of one or more material weaknesses in any period would preclude conclusion that we maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting Such conclusion would be required to be disclosed in our future Annual Reports on Form 10-K and may
impact the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting

Any internal or external security breaches involving our products could harm our reputation and even the perception of security
risks whether or not valid could inhibit market acceptance of our products and cause us to lose customers

Our customers use our products to compile and analyze sensitive and confidential information The occurrence or perception of

security breaches in our products or services could harm our reputation financial condition and results of operations In addition we
may come into contact with sensitive consumer information or data when we perform operational support or maintenance functions
for our utility customers failure to handle this information

properly or compromise of our security systems that results in

customer personal information being obtained by unauthorized
persons could adversely affect our reputation with our customers and

others as well as our operations results of operations financial condition and liquidity and could result in litigation against us or the

imposition of penalties In addition security breach could require that we expend significant additional resources related to our
information security systems and could result in disruption of our operations This risk is enhanced through the distribution of our
new IntelliSOURCE software system and integration work with the utilities back office as we anticipate our system and solutions will

be utilized on larger scale

Our loan and security agreements contain financial and operating restrictions that may limit our access to credit If we fail to

comply with covenants in our loan and security agreements we may be required to repay our indebtedness thereunder which may
have an adverse effect on our liquidity

Our loan and security agreements contain covenants that may limit our ability to operate our business invest sell assets create liens

or make distributions or other payments to our investors and creditors All of these restrictions may limit our ability to take advantage
of potential business opportunities as they arise

For instance provisions in our loan and security agreements with Silicon Valley Bank or SVB and Partners for Growth III L.P or

PFG impose restrictions on our ability to among other things incur more debt pay dividends and make distributions make certain

investments redeem or repurchase capital stock create liens enter into transactions with affiliates and merge or consolidate

These agreements also contain other customary covenants including covenants which require us to meet specified financial ratios and
financial tests We may not be able to comply with these covenants in the future Our failure to comply with these covenants may
result in the declaration of an event of default and cause us to be unable to borrow under our loan and security agreements with SVB
and PFG In addition to preventing additional borrowings under these agreements an event of default if not cured or waived may
result in the acceleration of the maturity of indebtedness outstanding under these agreements which would require us to pay all

amounts outstanding If an event of default occurs we may not be able to cure it within any applicable cure period if at all Further
an event of default under our PFG agreement contractually qualifies as an event of default under our SVB agreement The PFG
agreement also sets forth certain quarterly revenue targets If the revenue targets are not maintained the lender has the right but not
the obligation to begin requiring quarterly repayments of the loan balance over the remaining term of the loan Such payments would
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be front-loaded such that 45% of the loan balance would be due over the first twelve month after the lenders election If the maturity

of our indebtedness is accelerated we may not have sufficient funds available for repayment or we may not have the ability to borrow

or obtain sufficient funds to replace the accelerated indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all

We will require significant capital to pursue our growth strategy but we may not be able to obtain additionalfinancing on

acceptable terms or at alL

The growth of our business will depend on significant amounts of capital for marketing and product development of our intelligent

energy management solutions including intelligent hardware and software In addition we will consider both international expansion

and strategic acquisitions of complementary businesses or technologies to grow our business which could require significant capital

and could increase our capital expenditures related to future operation of the acquired business or technology We may not be able to

obtain additional capital on acceptable terms or at all Because of our losses we do not fit traditional credit lending criteria which in

particular could make it difficult for us to obtain loans or to access the capital markets Moreover our loan and security agreements

contain restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness which if not waived could prevent us from obtaining needed

capital There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing and failure to obtain additional financing when

needed could adversely affect our ability to maintain and grow our business

The reorganization of our business may cause disruptions in our operations customer relationships employee turnover or other

business failure

We have implemented organizational changes as part of our strategic initiatives to better and more efficiently manage our business

The changes may result in additional employee turnover or loss of certain customer relationships if we fail to adequately perform

implementing these organizational changes requires significant time and resource commitments from our senior management In the

event that we are unable to effectively implement these organizational changes we are unable to recruit maintain the caliber of or

retain key employees as result of these initiatives or these initiatives do not yield the anticipated benefits our business may be

adversely affected

Our ability to provide bid bonds performance bonds or letters of credit is limited and could negatively affect our ability to bid on or

enter into significant long-term agreements

We are occasionally required to provide letters of credit bid bonds or performance bonds to secure our performance under customer

contracts or open market programs Our ability to obtain such bonds primarily depends upon our capitalization working capital past

performance management expertise and reputation and external factors beyond our control including the overall capacity of the

surety market Surety companies consider those factors in relation to the amount of our tangible net worth and other underwriting

standards that may change from time to time Events that affect surety markets generally may result in bonding becoming more

difficult to obtain in the future or being available only at significantly greater cost In addition some of our customers also require

collateral in the form of letters of credit to secure performance or to fund possible damages as the result of an event of default under

our contracts with them Our ability to obtain letters of credit under our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank is

limited to $30.0 million in the aggregate As of December 31 2010 we had $18.1 million of letters of credit outstanding from the

facility If we enter into significant long-term agreements or increase our bidding in certain open market power pools and either of

which require the issuance of letters of credit our liquidity could be negatively impacted Our inability to obtain adequate bonding or

letters of credit and as result to bid or enter into significant long-term agreements could have material adverse effect on our

future revenues and business prospects

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property our business and results of operations could be negatively affected

Our ability to compete effectively depends in part upon the maintenance and protection of the intellectual property related to our

capacity programs and the solutions hardware firmware and software that we have acquired or developed internally Patent

protection is unavailable for certain aspects of the technology that is important to our business In addition one or more of our

pending patent applications may not be issued To date we have attempted to rely on copyright trademark and trade secrecy laws as

well as confidentiality agreements and licensing arrangements to establish and protect our rights to this technology However we

have not obtained confidentiality agreements from all of our customers and vendors some of our licensing or confidentiality

agreements are not in writing and some customers are subject to laws and regulations that require them to disclose information that

we would otherwise seek to keep confidential Policing unauthorized use of our technology is difficult and expensive as is enforcing

our rights against unauthorized use The steps that we have taken or may take may not prevent misappropriation of the technology on

which we rely In addition effective protection may be unavailable or limited if we expand to other jurisdictions outside the United

States as the intellectual property laws of foreign countries sometimes offer less protection or have onerous filing requirements Any

litigation could be unsuccessful cause us to incur substantial costs and divert resources away from our daily business
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We may not be able to maintain quality customer care during periods of growth or in connection with the addition of new and

complex products or services which could adversely affect our ability to acquire and retain utility customers and particiants in

our capacity programs

In the past during periods of growth we have not been able to expand our customer care operations quickly enough to meet the needs

of our increased customer base and the quality of our customer care has suffered As we add new and complex products and services

or we undergo product issues with corrective actions we will face challenges in increasing and training our customer care staff If we
are unable to hire train and retain sufficient personnel to provide adequate customer care in timely manner we may experience

customer dissatisfaction and increased participant terminations The risk is enhanced through selling solution based systems

contingent upon our Inte11iSOURCE software as the software and potential integration are complex and often times outside of our

control i.e in the instance and to the extent we are required to integrate with an AMI providers meter software

Electric utility industry sales cycles can be lengthy and unpredictable and require significant employee time andfinancial

resources with no assurances that we will realize revenues

Sales cycles with our customers can generally be long and unpredictable Our customers include electric utilities and large

commercial and industrial energy consumers that generally have extended budgeting procurement and regulatory approval processes

In addition electric utilities tend to be risk averse and tend to follow industry trends rather than be the first to purchase new products

or services which can extend the lead time for or prevent acceptance of new products or services such as our capacity programs or

advanced metering initiatives Accordingly our potential customers may take longer to reach decision to purchase products This

extended sales
process requires the dedication of significant time by our personnel and our use of significant financial resources with

no certainty of success or recovery of our related expenses It is not unusual for an electric utility or commercial and industrial energy
consumer to go through the entire sales process and not accept any proposal or quote In addition pilot test programs which are often

conducted and analyzed before sale becomes final generally result in operating losses to us due to the lack of scalability start-up

costs development expenditures and other factors

If we are unable to expand the distribution of our products through strategic alliances we may not be able to grow our business

Part of our ability to grow our business depends on our success in continuing to increase the number of customers we serve through

variety of strategic marketing alliances or channel partnerships with metering companies communications providers advanced meter

reading providers installation companies and other large multinational companies Revenues from strategic alliances have not

historically accounted for significant portion of our total revenues although we plan to increasingly rely on such alliances to grow
our business in the future We may not be able to maintain productive relationships with the companies with which we have strategic

alliances and we may not be able to establish similar relationships with additional companies on timely and economic basis if at all

An increased rate of terminations of residential commercial and industrial energy consumers or the use of more efficient

products by such consumers who are enrolled in our VPC open market or turnkey programs or who would enroll in such

programs would negatively impact our business by reducing our revenues and requiring us to spend more money to maintain and

grow our particivant base

Our ability to provide electric capacity under our capacity contracts depends on the number of residential commercial and industrial

energy consumers who enroll and participate in our programs The average annual rate of participant terminations for our residential

VPC programs from inception through December 31 2010 was approximately 7% As result we will need to acquire new
participants on an ongoing basis to maintain available capacity provided to our utility customers In addition to the extent existing or

future participants install high efficiency air conditioning units which could minimize the effectiveness of our solution as to that

participant we may face lower measurement and verification results If we are unable to recruit and retain participants for our

capacity programs we will face difficulties acquiring capacity to sell through such programs Furthermore the increased competition
and the length of contracts for commercial and industrial capacity consumers may result in an increase of such consumers not re

enrolling when their contract ends or terminating their contract for more lucrative offer which could further restrict our ability to

acquire capacity to sell into such programs If participant termination rates increase we will need to acquire more participants in

order to maintain our revenues and more participants than estimated to grow our business This loss of revenues resulting from

participant terminations can be significant and limiting terminations is an important factor in our ability to achieve future profitability

If we are unsuccessful in controlling participant terminations we may be unable to acquire sufficient number of new participants or

we may incur significant costs to replace participants which could cause our revenues to decrease and we might not become

profitable

If we lose key personnel upon whom we are dependent we may not be able to manage our operations and meet our strategic

objectives
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Many key responsibilities of our business have been assigned to relatively small number of individuals Our future success depends

to considerable degree on the vision skills experience and effort of our senior management team including Blake Young our

President and Chief Executive Officer Michael Picchi our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Edward

Myszka our Executive Vice President of Program Delivery Christopher Camino our Executive Vice President of Sales and

Marketing and Chief Marketing Officer Steve Moffitt our Executive Vice President of Engineering and Operations Arthur Vos IV

our Senior Vice President of Product Management and Alliances Matt Smith our Senior Vice President General Counsel and

Secretary and Teresa Naylor our Senior Vice President of Human Resources We do not maintain key-person insurance on any of

these individuals Any loss or interruption of the services of any of our key employees could significantly reduce our ability to

effectively manage our operations and implement our strategy

The success of our businesses depends in part on our ability to develop new products and services and increase the functionality of

our current products

From 2001 through December 31 2010 we have invested over $20.3 million in research and development costs associated with our

current products From time to time our customers have expressed need for increased functionality in our products and software In

response and as part of our strategy to enhance our solutions and grow our business we plan to continue to make substantial

investments in the research and development of new technologies Our future success will depend in part on our ability to continue to

design and manufacture new competitive products and software to enhance our existing products and to provide new value-added

services Product development initiatives will require continued investment and we may experience unforeseen problems in the

performance of our technologies or products including new technologies that we develop and deploy Furthermore we may not

achieve market acceptance of our new products solutions and software For example in the past we incurred significant costs to

develop specific product for large commercial and industrial customers that has found limited market acceptance If we are unable

to develop new products and services or if the market does not accept such products and services our business and results of

operations will be adversely affected In addition if we are unable to maintain low costs for established products supplied under fixed

fee contracts our business and results of operations will be adversely affected

Current market developments may adversely affect our business results of operations and access to capital

On October 2008 former President George Bush signed into law the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 in

response to the financial crises affecting the U.S banking system housing and financial markets Over the past few years dramatic

declines in the housing market including increasing foreclosures have resulted in concern about the stability of the financial markets

generally Many lenders and institutional investors have continued to be criticized over their reluctance to provide funding The

resulting lack of available credit and lack of confidence in the financial markets could materially and adversely affect our results of

operations and financial conditions and our access to capital In particular we may face the following risks in connection with these

events

continuing foreclosures in the housing market may cause decline in participation in our demand response programs

our ability to assess the creditworthiness of our customers may be impaired due to slow payment receivership or

bankruptcy of our customers and

our ability to borrow or our customers availability to borrow from other financial institutions could be adversely

affected by further disruptions in the capital markets or other events including actions by credit rating agencies and

investor expectations

We face risks jf we are unable to participate in the funding benefits of the Stimulus BilL

On February 17 2009 President Obama signed into law the American Reinvestment and Recovery Act of 2009 or the Stimulus Bill

in response to the financial crises affecting the U.S economy The Stimulus Bill provides for funding for various energy and

electrical projects including smart grid funding While we anticipate positive benefits from the Stimulus Bill to the extent our utility

customers delay potential demand response programs to focus on other stimulus funded roll-outs or we are unable to benefit andlor

our competitors benefit from this bill our business may be adversely affected

We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates or complete acquisitions successfully which may inhibit our rate of

growth and we may not be successful in integrating any acquired businesses and acquisitions that we complete which may expose

us to number of unanticipated operational or financial risks

In addition to organic growth we have pursued and to the extent we continue to pursue growth through the acquisition of companies

or assets we may enlarge our geographic markets add experienced management and increase our product and service offerings
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However we may be unable to implement this growth strategy if we cannot identify suitable acquisition candidates or reach

agreement on potential acquisitions on acceptable terms or for other reasons Moreover our acquisition efforts involve certain risks

including

difficulty integrating operations and systems

the potential for key personnel and customers of the acquired company terminating their relationships with the acquired

company as result of the acquisition

additional financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax planning and financial reporting

additional risks and liabilities including for environmental-related costs as result of our acquisitions some of which

we may not discover during our due diligence

disruption of our ongoing business or insufficient management attention to our ongoing business and

realizing cost savings or other financial benefits we anticipated

The rapid growth of the clean energy sector may cause us to experience more competition for acquisition opportunities which could
result in higher valuations for acquisition candidates As result we may be required to pay more for acquisitions we believe are

beneficial which could in turn require us to recognize additional goodwill in connection with such acquisitions To the extent that

any acquisition results in additional goodwill it will reduce our tangible net worth which might have an adverse effect on our credit

In addition in the event that we issue shares of our common stock as part or all of the purchase price an acquisition will dilute the

ownership of our then-current stockholders Once integrated acquired operations may not achieve levels of revenues synergies or

productivity comparable to those achieved by our existing operations or otherwise perform as expected For example we did not

experience the anticipated revenue growth during 2010 2009 and 2008 from our acquisitions of Enerwise and PES which was due in

part to PES not reaching its anticipated build-out and in part to the regulatory rule change in 2008 that affected Enerwises economic

program in PJM In addition future acquisitions could result in the incurrence of additional indebtedness and other expenses There

can be no assurance that our acquisition strategy will not have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results

of operations

Our business may become subject to modified or new government regulation which may negatively impact our ability to market
our products

Our products and services are not subject to the majority of existing federal and state regulations in the U.S governing the electric

utility industry However our products and their installation are subject to government oversight and regulation under state and local

ordinances relating to communication requirements building codes public safety regulations pertaining to electrical connections and
local and state licensing requirements In the future federal state or local governmental entities or competitors may seek to change
existing regulations impose additional regulations or apply current regulations to cover our products and services If any of these

things occur as applicable to our products or services whether at the federal state or local level they may negatively impact the

installation servicing and marketing of our products and increase our costs and the price of our products and services We are

currently evaluating various state regulations regarding installation work for one of our programs While we do not know the outcome
of our evaluation or the potential for any state regulatory board to address such work there is the potential that we could suffer loss

of significant installation revenue if not all installation revenue for this contract

We are exposed to fluctuations in the market values of our portfolio investments and interest rates impairment of our investments

could harm our earnings

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings types and maturities These securities are generally classified as available-

for-sale and consequently are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as

separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of tax For information regarding the sensitivity of and
risks associated with the market value of portfolio investments and interest rates see Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosure About Market Risk

We may be required to record sign ficant charge to earnings if our goodwill or intangible assets become impaired

We are required under generally accepted accounting principles to review our amortizable intangible assets for impairment when

events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable Factors that may be considered change in

circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our amortizable intangible assets may not be recoverable include decline in stock
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price and market capitalization and slower growth rates in our industry Goodwill and indefinite lived assets are required to be tested

for impairment at least annually During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2008 we recorded significant charges to earnings in

our consolidated financial statements as result of our determination that certain goodwill and intangible assets were impaired See

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note for discussion on the impairment charges We will continue to

evaluate our remaining goodwill and intangible assets as required under generally accepted accounting principles and those results

could adversely impact our results of operations in the future

If we fail to hire and train additional personnel and improve our controls and procedures to respond to the growth of our business

the quality of our products and services could materially suffer and cause us to lose customers

Our business and operations have expanded rapidly since our inception For example from January 2003 through December 31

2010 the number of our employees increased more than 700% growing from 70 to 562 To continue expanding our customer base

effectively and to meet our growth objectives for the future we are currently working to fill multiple positions within our company

In addition we must continue to successfully train motivate and retain our existing and future employees In order to manage our

expanding operations we will also need to continue to improve our management operational and financial controls and our reporting

systems and procedures All of these measures will require significant expenditures and will demand the attention of management If

we are not able to hire train and retain the
necessary personnel or if these operational and reporting improvements are not

implemented successfully the quality of our products and services could materially suffer as result and cause us to lose customers

Our business may be subject to additional obligations to collect and remit sales use or other tax and any successful action by

state foreign or other authorities to collect additional sales use or other tax could adversely harm our business

We file sales and/or use tax returns in certain states within the U.S as required by law and certain client contracts for portion of the

hardware software and services that we provide We do not collect sales or other similar taxes in other states and many of the states

do not apply sales or similar taxes to the vast majority of the services that we provide However one or more states could seek to

impose additional sales or use tax collection and record-keeping obligations on us Any successful action by state foreign or other

authorities to compel us to collect and remit sales or use tax either retroactively prospectively or both could adversely affect our

results of operations and business

Natural disasters widespread pandemics and other factors outside of our control could disrupt our business

We must protect our business and our network infrastructure against damage from earthquake flood hurricane and similarevents

natural disaster or other unanticipated problem could also adversely affect our business by among other things harming our primary

data center or other internal operations limiting our ability to communicate with our customers and limiting our ability to sell our

IEM solutions and services We do not insure against several natural disasters including earthquakes

Any outbreak of widespread communicable disease pandemic such as the outbreak of the H1NI influenza virus in 2009 or the

SARS epidemic of 2003 could similarly impact our operations Such impact could include among other things the inability for our

sales and operations personnel located in affected regions to travel and conduct business freely the impact any such disease may have

on one or more of the distributors for our solutions in those regions and increased supply chain costs Additionally any future health-

related disruptions at our third-party contract manufacturers or other key suppliers could affect our ability to supply our customers

with our solutions and services in timely manner which would harm our results of operations

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Shares eligible forfuture sale may cause the market price for our common stock to decline even if our business is doing well

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales may occur could cause the

market price of our common stock to decline This could also impair our ability to raise additional capital in the future through the

sale of our equity securities Under our fifth amended and restated certificate of incorporation we are authorized to issue up to

150000000 shares of common stock of which 25329118 shares of common stock were outstanding as of December 31 2010 We

cannot predict the size of future issuances of our common stock or the effect if any that future sales and issuances of shares of our

common stock or the perception of such sales or issuances would have on the market price of our common stock

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock

We have not declared or paid any dividends on our common stock to date and we do not anticipate paying any dividends on our

common stock in the foreseeable future We intend to reinvest all future earnings in the development and growth of our business In
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addition our senior loan agreement prohibits us from paying dividends and future loan agreements may also prohibit the payment of
dividends Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend
on our results of operations financial condition capital requirements business opportunities contractual restrictions and other factors

deemed relevant To the extent we do not pay dividends on our common stock investors must look solely to stock appreciation for

return on their investment in our common stock

Our fifth amended and restated certificate of incorporation second amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain

provisions that could discourage acquisition bids or merger proposals which may adversely affect the market price of our common
stock

Provisions in our fifth amended and restated certificate of incorporation our second amended and restated bylaws and applicable
provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware may make it more difficult or expensive for third party to

acquire control of us even if change of control would be beneficial to the interests of our stockholders These provisions could

discourage potential takeover attempts and could adversely affect the market price of our common stock Our fifth amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and our second amended and restated bylaws

currently provide for classified board of directors could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or

prevent change of control At our 2010 Annual Meeting our shareholders approved stockholder proposal that

requested the board to take the
necessary steps to declassify the board and to adopt the annual election of each director

As discussed in this years proxy statement stockholders will be asked to approve the amendment of our certification of

incorporation in order to implement the declassification of the board However the approval of the amendment will

require an affirmative stockholder vote by at least 66 2/3% of the total number of outstanding shares to amend the our
certificate of incorporation

authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors during takeover

attempt

prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors which would otherwise allow holders of less than majority of
stock to elect some directors

require super-majority voting to effect amendments to certain provisions of our fifth amended and restated certificate of

incorporation and to effect amendments to our second amended and restated bylaws concerning the number of directors

limit who may call special meetings

prohibit stockholder action by written consent requiring all actions to be taken at meeting of the stockholders

establish advance notice requirements for
nominating candidates for election to the board of directors or for proposing

matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholders meeting and

require that vacancies on the board of directors including newly-created directorships be filled only by majority vote
of directors then in office

In addition Delaware law prohibits us from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder meaning
generally that stockholder who beneficially owns more than 15% of our common stock cannot acquire us for period of three years
from the date this person became an interested stockholder unless various conditions are met such as approval of the transaction by
our board of directors

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

In Norcross Georgia we lease 35600 square feet of office
space for our Residential Business segment and our executive and

administrative
support functions In East Hanover New Jersey we lease 14250 square feet of office space for our sales and customer

acquisition marketing functions In Kennett Square Pennsylvania we lease 19737 square feet of office space for our CI Business

segment In Broomfield Colorado we lease approximately 4300 square feet of office space for software development We also lease
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properties in certain cities as program offices The above facilities are in good condition and we believe that our properties will be

sufficient to support our operations for the foreseeable future We do not own any properties

Item Legal Proceedings

We have provided information about certain legal proceedings in which we are involved in Note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements in Part II Item

In addition to the matters disclosed in Note 12 we are party to various investigations lawsuits arbitrations claims and other legal

proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business and based on information available to us we do not believe at this time

that any such additional proceedings will individually or in the aggregate have material adverse effect on our financial position

liquidity or results of operations For further information on the risks we face from existing and future investigations lawsuits

arbitrations claims and other legal proceedings please see Risk Factors in Part Item 1A of this report

Item Reserved
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Part II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol COMV since April 12 2007 Prior to that time
there was no public market for our common stock The following table sets forth the

range of high and low sales prices per share as

reported on the Nasdaq Global Market for each quarterly period in 2010 and 2009

2010 2009
Comwrge Inc First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
Price per Share Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

High 1325 1228 1043 836 752 1323$ 1387$ 1310
Low 9.58 8.23 5.88 5.81 3.76 6.25 9.46 9.92

The closing sales price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market was $5.55 per share on March 2011 As of March

2011 there were 25344242 shares of our common stock outstanding which were held by approximately 344 holders of record Such
number of stockholders does not reflect the number of individuals or institutional investors holding stock in nominee name through
banks brokerage firms and others

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock For the foreseeable future we intend to retain and reinvest any earnings
in our business and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends Whether or not we declare any dividends will be at the discretion
of our board of directors considering then-existing conditions including our financial condition and results of operations capital

requirements contractual restrictions including those under our loan agreement business opportunities and other factors that our
board of directors deems relevant

Use of Proceeds from Public Offerings

During 2007 we completed public offerings of our common stock on April 18 2007 Registration Nos 333-137813 and 333-142082
and December 12 2007 Registration No 333-146837 Net proceeds to us from both offerings were $110 million

Of the net proceeds received we utilized $34 million for our two acquisitions completed during 2007 $7 million to repay outstanding
debt over the last three years $9 million for non-financed capital expenditures and $32 million to fund the operations of our business

and for general corporate purposes

We plan to use the remaining proceeds from the offerings discussed above to finance capital requirements of our current long-term

contracts to finance research and development to fund the cash consideration of potential future acquisitions and for other general

corporate purposes We have invested portion of the remaining proceeds in marketable securities pending their use

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of$ 100 in cash on April 12 2007 the date we priced our

stock pursuant to our initial public offering through December 31 2010 for1 our common stock the SP 500 Index the

Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index After April 12 2007 measurement points are the

last trading day prior to the end of each of our quarters Returns are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future

performance Data for the SP 500 Index the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index assume
reinvestment of dividends if dividends were paid We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no present plans to

do so
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September 30 December 31

___________ ___________ 2010 2010

43.67 38.39

111.31 122.66

95.50 106.96

72.05 77.49

September 30 December 31

____________ ____________
2008 2008

25.56 27.22

81.17 62.95

84.34 63.58

89.21 52.71

September 30 December 31

_____________ _____________
2007 2007

182.56 174.94

106.40 102.33

108.92 10693

117.70 144.79

As of March 2011 the total value of an investment of$100 in cash on April 12 2007 through March 2011 would be $30.83

$129.82 $112.84 and $80.39 for our common stock the SP 500 Index the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Clean Edge

U.S Liquid Series Index respectively

The stockprice performance data included in the above graph and table is not intended to be indicative offuture stock price

performance

March31 June30

2010 2010

Coxnverge Inc 62.83 49.78

SP 500 114.06 100.53

Nasdaq Composite Index 96.68 8504

Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index 73.68 62.87

March 31 June 30

2009 2009

Conwerge Inc 361 67.22

SP 500 61.92 78.21

Nasdaq Composite Index 6143 73.98

Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index 49.84 65.18

March31 June30

2008 2008

Comverge Inc 139 67

SP 500 92.18 89.20

Nasdaq Composite Index 92.45

Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index 107.79 116.12

April 12 June 30
2007 2007

Comverge Inc 100.00 172.28

SP 500 100.00 104.30

Nasdaq Composite Index 100.00 104.96

Nasdaq Clean Edge U.S Liquid Series Index 100.00 110.06

September 30 December 31

2009 2009

6783 62.44

97.75 108.76

85.57 91.49

72.49 75.87
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliate Purchases

The following table discloses purchases of shares of our common stock made by us or on our behalf for the periods shown below

Total Number of Average Price

Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share

October 1-October31 2010 108 7.78

November November 30 2010 3347 6.69

Decener Decerther 312010 1509 6.72

Represents shares surrendered by employees to exercise stock options and to satisfy tax withholding obligations on vested

restricted stock and stock option exercises
pursuant to the Amended and Restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Item Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth our selected historical financial data for the periods indicated The selected statement of operations data

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and the selected balance sheet data as of December 31 2010 and 2009 have

been derived from our audited financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report The selected

statement of operations data for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 and the selected balance sheet data as of December 31
2008 2007 and 2006 have been derived from our audited financial statements and related notes thereto not included in this annual

report

The information presented below should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations and the financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report

Year Ended December 31
20101 20091 20081 2007 2006

in thousands except per share data

Statement of Operations Data

Total revenue 119389 98844 77238 55162 33873
Total cost of revenue 74538 65648 43335 28818 16897

loss pnfit 44851 33196 33903 26344 16976

Operating expenses

Gençrai and adizjnistrative expenses 39362 37781 34463 22072 13910

Marketing and selling expenses 18031 17737 15738 9831 7912
Researth and development expenses 6279 4878 1137 997 790

Amortization of intangible assets 2144 2209 2439 973 24

Inpairment charges 9871 75432

Operating loss 30836 29409 95306 7529 5660
Jutereat and other eqense income net 854 2038 299 1072 454

Loss before income taxes 31690 31447 95007 6457 6114
Proviaion benefit for income taxes 339 219 901 147 46

Net loss 31351 31666 94106 6604 6160
Net loss pr share

Basic and diluted 1.27 1.45 4.45 0.46 1.89

As of December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

in thousands

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents and nirketab1e securities 35592 50478 47847 72929 3774
Goodwill and intangible assets 4315 16958 18430 93197 694

Totalasseta 114157 120897 125157 203145 28836

Total long-term liabilities 25486 13867 29499 30496 5000

Shareholders equity 46058 74044 67660 152631 8399
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The results of operations for the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 will not be comparable to the results of

operations for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 due to the Enerwise and PES acquisitions completed in the

second half of 2007 The year ended December 31 2007 includes results from the date of acquisitions to the end of the year

The years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 include full year
of operating results for the consolidated company

including the acquired entities
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion together with the financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this
annual report This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on management current expectations estimates
and projections about our business and operations The

cautionaiy statements made in this annual report should be read as applying
to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this annual report Our actual results may differ materially from
those currently anticipated and expressed in such forward-looking statements as result of number offactors including those we
discuss under Risk Factors and elsewhere in this annual

report

Overview

Comverge is leading provider of intelligent energy management or IEM solutions that empower utilities commercial and industrial

customers and residential consumers to use energy in more effective and efficient manner Intelligent energy management solutions
build upon demand response enabling two-way communication between providers and consumers giving all customer classes the
insight and control needed to optimize energy usage and meet peak demand Beyond just reducing the

energy load this new approach
reduces cost for the utility or grid operator integrates other systems and allows for the informed

decision-making that will power the
smart grid

We provide our IEM solutions through our two reportable segments the Residential Business segment and the Commercial
Industrial or CI Business segment The Residential Business segment sells intelligent energy management networks to utility
customers for use in programs with residential and small commercial end-use participants These solutions include intelligent
hardware our IntelliSOURCE software formerly known as Apollo and services such as installation customer acquisition marketingand program management If the utility customer elects to own the intelligent energy management network we refer to the program
as turnkey program If we provide capacity through fully-outsourced programs where we typically own the asset we refer to the
program as Virtual Peaking Capacity or VPC program Our VPC programs are pay-for-performance in that we are only paid for

capacity that we provide as determined by measurement and verification
process with our customers The CI Business segment

provides intelligent energy management solutions to utilities and independent system operators that are managing programs or
auctions for large CI consumers These solutions are delivered through the management of megawatts for these CI consumers in

open markets and VPC programs as well as through the completion of energy efficiency projects

We evaluate the megawatts of capacity that we own manage or provide to the electric utility industry according to operating segment
Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contracts or in open market programs generate recurring revenue while megawatts
provided under turnkey contracts or through product sales generate revenue at the point of sale As of December 31 2010 we owned
or managed 3732 megawatts an increase of 833 megawatts or 29% from December 31 2009 The following table summarizes
megawatts owned managed or provided as of December 31 2010

December 31 2010

Residential CI Total

Business Business Comwre
Megawatts owned under capacity contracts 597 294 891

Megawatts owned for sale in open market progran 16 1698 1714
Megawatts provided under turnkey contracts 658 690
Megawatts managed fora fee on pay-for-performance basis 437 437

Megawatts owned or managed 1271 246 3732

Our VPC contract with Nevada Energy for 155 megawatts of contracted capacity will not be in effect in 2011 We expect to

decrease Megawatts owned under long-term capacity contract by these 155 megawatts during the first quarter of 2011
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The table below presents the activity in megawatts owned or managed during the year ended December 31 2010

of December 31 2009

Capacity contracts

Open market programs

Turnkey contracts

Asof December 31.2010

Megawatts owned under capacity contracts

Megawatts

Owned or Managed

2899

520

320

3732

As of December 31 2010 we owned 891 megawatts of contracted capacity from long-term contracts Our existing VPC contracts

represented contracted capacity of 827 megawatts and our energy efficiency capacity contracts represented contracted capacity of 64

megawatts The table below presents the activity in megawatts of contracted capacity from long-term capacity contracts

As ofDeceither 31 2008

Arizona VPC program

Maryland VPC programs awarded

California VPC program

Expansion of current VPC program

Total new VPC megawatts awarded

Consolidated Edison energy efficiency capacity contract anndments

As of December 31 2009

Pennsylvania VPC program awarded

Expansion of current VPC program

California VPC program temunation

Total new VPC megawatts awarded net

Consolidated Edison energy efficiency capacity contract anndment

As ofDecember3l 2010

Megavntts Owned

under Long-Term

Capacity Contracts

701

125

48

40

218

21
898

50

12

40
22

29
891

Our VPC contract with Nevada Energy for 155 megawatts of contracted capacity will not be in effect in 2011

Cumulatively we have installed capacity of 558 megawatts under our long-term capacity contracts as of December 31 2010

compared to 462 megawatts as of December 31 2009 an increase of 96 megawatts The main components of the change are an

increase of 91 megawatts in our VPC programs and megawatts in our energy efficiency programs during the year
ended December

31 2010 The table below presents contracted capacity installed capacity and available capacity as of December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

Megawatts December 312010 ____________________

Contracted capacity

Installed capacity

Available capacity

For residential VPC programs installed capacity generally refers to the number of devices installed multiplied by the

historically highest demonstrated available capacity provided per
device for the applicable service territory For Cl VPC

programs installed capacity generally refers to the megawatts that our participants have committed to shed

Available capacity represents the amount of electric capacity that we have made available to our customers during each

contract year based on the results of our measurement and verification process For residential VPC programs we have used

the most recently settled measurement and verification results to present available capacity for each period which is typically

measured during the fourth quarter of each year For CI VPC programs we have assumed that our participants will shed

the committed capacity as included in installed capacity

December 31 2009

891

558

510

898

462

421
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Megawatts owned for sale in open markets

As of December 31 2010 we had 1714 megawatts enrolled in open market programs an increase of 520 megawatts from December

31 2009 We consider capacity enrolled when participant has agreed to shed committed capacity in an open market program in

which we participate

Megawatts managed under turnkey contracts

As of December 31 2010 we managed 690 megawatts under turnkey contracts an increase of 320 megawatts from December 31
2009 The increase of 320 megawatts consists of 40 megawatts from an expansion of our program with Pepco Holdings Inc in

January 2010 and 280 megawatts from executed agreements with three other utility customers during the year Under these

agreements we will provide full turnkey program including hardware installation customer acquisition marketing and call center

services We calculate megawatts managed under turnkey contracts by using pre-determined factor of anticipated load reduction for

each unit deployed in relation to the type of end-use participant whether residential or commercial and industrial and our customers

service territory

Recent Developments

As reported in the our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for September 30 2010 in the Recent Developments section White-Rodgers

had reported to the Consumer Protect Safety Commission that it was aware of incidents of battery leakage in model 1F88 thermostats

sold to Comverge in which battery leakage led to an overheating of the device resulting in fire hazard The corrective action plan to

remedy this issue was approved by the CPSC on January 12 2010 http//www.cpsc.gov/cpscpub/prerel/prhtmlll/l1096.html and is

currently being implemented by White-Rodgers and its corrective action vendor

Payments from Long-Term Contracts

Payments from long-term contracts represent our estimate of total payments that we expect to receive under long-term agreements

with our customers The information presented below with respect to payments from long-term contracts includes payments related to

our VPC contracts energy efficiency contracts turnkey contracts and open market programs As of December 31 2010 we estimated

that our total payments to be received through 2024 were approximately $546 million

These estimates of payments from long-term contracts are forward-looking statements based on the contractual terms and conditions

In managements view such information was prepared on reasonable basis reflects the best currently available estimates and

judgments and to managements knowledge and belief presents the assumptions and considerations on which we base our belief that

we can receive such payments However this information should not be relied upon as being necessarily indicative of actual future

results and readers of this annual report should not place undue reliance on this information Any differences among these

assumptions other factors and our actual experiences may result in actual payments in future periods significantly differing from

managements current estimates of payments allowed under the long-term contracts and our actual experiences may result in actual

payments collected being significantly lower than current estimates See Risk FactorsWe may not receive the payments anticipated

by our long-term contracts and recognize revenues or the anticipated margins from our backlog and comparisons of period-to-period

estimates are not necessarily meaningful and may not be indicative of actual payments The information in this section is designed to

summarize the financial terms of our long-term contracts and is not intended to provide guidance on our future operating results

including revenue or profitability

Our estimated payments from long-term contracts have been prepared by management based on the following assumptions

VPC Programs

Our existing VPC contracts as of December 31 2010 represented contracted capacity of 827 megawatts In calculating an estimated

$225 million of payments from our VPC contracts as of December 31 2010 we have included expectations regarding build-out based

on our historical experience as well as future expectations of participant enrollment in each contracts service territory We have

assumed that once our build-out phase is completed we will operate our VPC contracts at the capacity achieved during build-out

which generally will be the contracted capacity

The amount our utility customers pay to us at the end of each contract year may vary due to the results of measurement and

verification tests performed each contract year based on the electric capacity that we made available to the utility during the contract

year The payments from VPC contracts reflect our most reasonable currently available estimates and judgments regarding the

capacity that we believe we will provide our utility customer

The amount of available capacity we are able to provide and therefore the amount of payments we receive is dependent upon the

number of participants in our VPC programs For purposes of estimating our payments under long-term contracts we have assumed

the rate of replacement of participant terminations under our VPC contracts will remain consistent with our historical average
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Energy Efficiency Programs

Our existing energy efficiency contracts as of December 31 2010 represent potential remaining contracted capacity of 19 megawatts

In calculating the estimated $12 million in payments from these contracts we have included expectations for build-out through

contract end based on our historical experience We have assumed that once our build-out is complete the permanent base load

reduction will remain installed and will continue to provide the installed capacity for the remainder of the contract term

Open Markel Programs

As of December 30 2010 we had up to 997 megawatts bid into various capacity open market programs with PJM Interconnection

LLC We currently expect to receive $129 million in long term payments through the year 2014 In estimating the long term

payments we have assumed that we will have limited churn among our commercial and industrial participants that we have currently

enrolled in the auctions and that we will be able to fulfill incremental capacity in certain programs with new enrollments

Turnkey Programs

Our turnkey contracts as of December 31 2010 represent $154 million in payments expected to be received through the year 2014

with seven utility customers to provide products software and services including program management installation and/or

marketing Payments from turnkey contracts are based on contractual minimum order volumes forecasted installations and other

services applied over the term of the contract

Other Contracts

We expect to receive an estimated $26 million in payments through 2014 pursuant to currently executed contracts for our intelligent

energy management solutions

In addition to the foregoing assumptions our estimated payments from long-term contracts assume that we will be able to meet on

timely basis all of our obligations under these contracts and that our customers will not terminate the contracts for convenience or

other reasons Our annual net loss in 2010 2009 and 2008 was $31.4 million $31.7 million and $94.1 million respectively We may
continue to generate annual net losses in the future including through the term of our long-term contracts See Risk FactorsWe

have incurred annual net losses since our inception and we may continue to incur annual net losses in the future

Although we currently intend to release quarterly updates of future revisions that we may make to our estimated payments from long-

term contracts we do not undertake any obligation to release the results of any future revisions that we may make to these estimated

payments from long-term contracts to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this annual report

Backlog

Our backlog represents our estimate of revenues from commitments including purchase orders and long-term contracts that we

expect to recognize over the course of the next twelve months The inaccuracy of any of our estimates and other factors may result in

actual results being significantly lower than estimated under our reported backlog Material delays market conditions cancellations

or payment defaults could materially affect our financial condition results of operation and cash flow Accordingly comparison of

backlog from period to period is not necessarily meaningful and may not be indicative of actual revenues As of December 31 2010

we had contractual backlog of$l19 million through December 31 2011
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2009

Revenue

The following table summarizes our revenue for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31
Percent

2010 2009 Change

Segment Revenue

Residential Business 67605 60496 12

Commercial Industrial Business 51784 38348 35

Total 119389 98844 21

In
prior years we reported the results of operations in three segments the Utility Products Services segment the Residential

Business segment and the CI Business segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the Utility Products Services segment is

presented as part of the Residential Business segment Accordingly revenue of $31.4 million has been reclassified for the year ended

December 31 2009 The results of our energy efficiency programs were previously reported in the Residential Business segment For

the
year

ended December 31 2010 the energy efficiency programs are reported as part of the CI Business segment Accordingly
revenue of $10.5 million has been reclassified for the

year ended December 2009

Residential Business

Our Residential Business segment had revenue of $67.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $60.5 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $7.1 million or 12% The increase in revenue is due to an increase of $20.3 million

in revenue from our turnkey programs as we continued to ramp existing programs expanded one of our programs into new region

and began operations for three new programs during the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in revenue from turnkey

programs was partially offset by decrease of $7.0 million in revenue from our residential VPC programs and $6.2 million from our

other product and service sales partially due to the impact on revenue from the White-Rodgers product issue as described below The

decrease in residential VPC program revenue was due to the NV Energy VPC program which transitioned from an aggressive growth

phase in 2009 to primarily maintenance of the megawatts previously deployed in 2010

We defer revenue and direct cost under our VPC contracts until such revenue can be made fixed and determinable through

measurement and verification test generally in our fourth quarter In the fourth quarters of the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 we recognized VPC contract revenue of $19.0 million and $25.7 million respectively

During the year ended December 31 2010 we sold 210000 units of thermostats and digital control units compared to 182000 units

of thermostats and digital control units during the year ended December 31 2009 For the
year

ended December 31 2010 our turnkey

programs comprised 44% of total units sold compared to 8% during the
year ended December 31 2009

In August 2010 we were notified by the supplier of our thermostats White-Rodgers that White-Rodgers had filed with the Consumer

Product Safety Commission or CPSC to address product issue with the thermostats that White-Rodgers had shipped to Comverge
White-Rodgers has not conceded that the thermostats contain defect or pose substantial product hazard but has nevertheless

voluntarily proposed corrective action plan to address thermostats in inventory and thermostats installed in the field In January

2011 the CPSC approved the corrective action plan White-Rodgers has stated that it will cover reasonable costs associated with

implementing the corrective action plan This corrective action by White-Rodgers negatively impacted revenue and operating cost in

2010 and could impact our current and future utility residential demand response business including but not limited to continued

thermostat and installation sales in 2011
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C1 Business

Our CI Business segment had revenue of $51.8 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $38.3 million for

the year
ended December 31 2009 an increase of $13.5 million or 35% The increase in revenue is due to an increase of$14.1

million in revenue from increased megawatts in open market programs across the nation primarily the PJM capacity program

In addition the CI Business segment had an increase of $4.1 million in revenue due to increased megawatt commitments in

our CI VPC programs compared to the prior year The increase in open market and CI VPC program revenue was partially

offset by decrease of $4.6 million in the energy efficiency programs and decrease of $0.1 million in other energy

engineering services The decrease in revenue from our energy efficiency programs is primarily due to decline in the number

of installations we performed compared to the prior year For 2011 notwithstanding decrease in the price per megawatt for

PJM our largest customer in 2010 we expect that growth in our other geographical markets and our CI VPC programs to

result in increased revenue in our CI Business segment compared to 2010

Gross Profit and Margin

The following table summarizes our gross profit and gross margin for the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 dollars in

thousands

Year F.nded December 31
2010 2009

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Profit Margin Profit Margin

Segment Gross Profit and Margin

Residential Business 27887 41 22015 36

Commercial Industrial Business 16964 33 1.181 29

Total 44851 38 33.196 34

In prior years we reported the results of operations in three segments the Utility Products Services segment the Residential

Business segment and the CI Business segment For the year
ended December 31 2010 the Utility Products Services segment is

presented as part of the Residential Business segment Accordingly gross profit of$12.4 million has been reclassified for the year

ended December 31 2009 The results of our energy efficiency programs were previously reported in the Residential Business

segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the energy efficiency programs are reported as part of the CI Business segment

Accordingly gross profit of $4.3 million has been reclassified for the
year

ended December 31 2009

Residential Business

Gross profit for our Residential Business segment was $27.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $22.0 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $5.9 million or 27% The increase in gross profit is due to an increase of $4.9

million from our turnkey programs and $5.0 million from our VPC programs partially offset by decrease of $4.0 million from our

other product and service sales The increase in gross profit from our turnkey programs is due to the increased revenue during the year

ended December 31 2010 as result of our operation of expanded and new programs The increase in
gross profit from our VPC

programs is result of the higher gross margin provided as we fully expensed the cost of capital deployed in our NV Energy VPC

contract during 2009 prior to the one-year contract extension The gross profit from other product and service sales decreased in

part due to the decrease in sales from certain thermostat customers as result of the White-Rodgers corrective action

Gross margin for our Residential Business segment was 41% for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to 36% for the year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of five percentage points The increase was due to the gross margin contributed by the

residential VPC programs

CJ Business

Gross profit for our CI Business segment was $17.0 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $11.2 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $5.8 million or 52% The increase in gross profit is due to an increase of $6.0

million in gross profit from increased megawatts in open markets across the nation primarily the PJM capacity program In addition

the CI Business segment had an increase of $2.6 million in gross profit due to increased megawatts provided through our CI VPC

programs compared to the prior year The increase in open market and CI VPC program revenue was partially offset by decrease

of $2.8 million in the energy efficiency programs The decrease in
gross profit from our energy efficiency programs is primarily due

to decline in the number of installations we performed compared to the prior year
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Gross margin for the year ended December 31 2010 increased by four percentage points compared to gross margin for the year ended
December 31 2009 due to the enrollment of more profitable megawatts in the PJM capacity program

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our operating expenses for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

Percent

2010 2009 Change
Operating Expenses

3eneral and administrative expenses 39362 37781

Marketing and selling expenses 18.031 17.737

Research and development expenses 6279 4878 29
Amortization of intangible assets

2.144 2.209 00

Irainnent charges 9871
Total

75687 62605 21 00

Not meaningful

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $39.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $37.8 million for the year
ended December 31 2009 an increase of $1.6 million or 4% The increase in general and administrative

expenses is due to an
increase of $2.8 million in compensation and benefits $2.1 million in centralization costs as we transitioned certain functions to our

Norcross Georgia office $0.9 million in occupancy expense as we established branch offices for our new turnkey programs $0.8
million in professional fees and $0.7 million in other expenses These increases in general and administrative expenses were partially
offset by decrease of $5.7 million in

non-recurring charges incurred during the
year ended December 31 2009 We recorded $5.7

million of charges comprised of $4.3 million in stock based compensation and retirement and consulting expense related to the
retirement of our former Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer and $1.4 million in stock based compensation related to the
acceleration of non-executive stock options with strike price of$l4.l0 or higher

Marketing and Selling Expenses

Marketing and selling expenses were $18.0 million for the
year ended December 31 2010 compared to $17.7 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of $0.3 million or 2% The increase in marketing and selling expenses is due to an increase of
$2.2 million in compensation and benefits partially offset by decrease of $0.6 million in marketing and advertising and $0.3 million
in other expenses In addition we recorded non-recurring charge of $1.0 million in stock based compensation related to the
acceleration of non-executive stock options with strike price of $14.10 or higher during the year ended December 31 2009

We expense customer acquisition costs as incurred VPC customer acquisition costs were $4.3 million and $6.3 million for the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively decrease of $2.0 million mainly due to our NV Energy VPC program transitioning
from an aggressive growth strategy to maintenance phase

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are incurred primarily in connection with the identification testing and development of new
products and software specifically the development of products to support utility Advanced Metering Infrastructure or AMI
Research and development expenses were $6.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010 and $4.9 million for the year ended
December 31 2009 an increase of $1.4 million or 29% The increase in research and development expenses is mainly due to an
increase and re-deployment in headcount and an increase in contractors to develop new AMI-enabled hardware products and our
IntelliSOURCE software

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets remained consistent at $2.1 million and $2.2 million for the
years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively
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In addition to the amortization presented in operating expenses we also recorded $0.7 million in amortization expense for the year

ended December 31 2010 in our cost of revenue compared to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009

Impairment Charges

We entered into an amendment with certain customer during the fourth quarter of 2010 that decreased committed capacity in the

Energy Efficiency reporting unit in the CI Business segment thereby reducing future cash flows The decline in future cash flows

impacted the fair value of the reporting unit causing its carrying value to exceed its fair value when we performed our impairment

assessment The valuation for the goodwill was performed using discounted cash flow income approach to valuing the business

using 13.1% discount rate Based on the results of the assessment we recorded $7.7 million in impairment charges in the fourth

quarter of2OlO We also evaluated the Energy Efficiency reporting units intangible assets for impairment Based on the evaluation

we recorded $2.2 million in impairment charges related to non-compete agreements and contract acquisition intangible assets The

Energy Efficiency reporting units goodwill and intangible assets were fully impaired and no further balance remains

Total non-cash impairment charges for the year ended December 31 2010 were $9.3 million net of tax benefit For the year
ended

December 31 2010 the impairment charge net of tax benefit per share was $0.38

Interest Expense Net

We recorded net interest expense of $0.9 million for year ended December 31 2010 compared to net interest expense of $2.1 million

for the year
ended December 31 2009 decrease of $1.2 million The decrease of $1.2 million in net interest expense was mainly

result of non-recurring $0.8 million charge recorded to interest expense to write-off unamortized debt issuance costs related to our

termination of the General Electric Capital Corporation credit agreement during the year ended December 31 2009 The remaining

decrease of $0.4 million in net interest expense was result of less debt outstanding for the majority of 2010

Other Income Net

Net other income remained consistent at $21000 for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to net other income of $76000 for

the year ended December 31 2009

Income Taxes

tax benefit of $0.3 million was recorded during the year ended December 31 2010 As result of the impairment of certain

intangible assets the related deferred tax liability was removed from our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2010 and is

reflected as tax benefit in our consolidated statements of operations for the
year

ended December 31 2010 provision of $0.2

million was recorded during the year ended December 31 2009 related to deferred tax liability

We provided full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets because the realization of any future tax benefits could not be

sufficiently assured as of December 31 2010 and 2009

Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2008

Revenue

The following table summarizes our revenue for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31
Percent

2009 2008 Change

Segment Revenue

Residential Business 60496 45041 34

Commercial Industrial Business 38.348 32.197 19

Total 98844 77238 28

In prior years we reported the results of operations in three segments the Utility Products Services segment the Residential

Business segment and the CI Business segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the Utility Products Services segment is

presented as part of the Residential Business segment Accordingly revenue of $31.4 million and $22.5 million has been reclassified

for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The results of our energy efficiency programs were previously

reported in the Residential Business segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the energy efficiency programs are reported as

part of the CI Business segment Accordingly revenue of $10.5 million and $12.1 million has been reclassified for the years ended

35



December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Residential Business

Our Residential Business segment had revenue of $60.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $45.0 million for

the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of$l5.5 million or 34% The increase in revenue is due to an increase of $5.9 million

in revenue from our turnkey programs as we began operations for three new turnkey programs during the year ended December 31
2009 The residential VPC programs contributed an increase of $7.3 million in revenue due to the increased available capacity

provided to our customers as result of increased build-out in our customers service territories In addition our other product and

service sales increased by $2.3 million as our customers procured product and services for their own intelligent energy management
networks We defer revenue and direct cost under our VPC contracts until such revenue can be made fixed and determinable through

measurement and verification test generally in our fourth quarter In the fourth quarters of the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 we recognized VPC contract revenue of $25.7 million and $18.8 million respectively

During the year ended December 31 2009 we sold 182000 units of thermostats and digital control units compared to 141000 units

of thermostats and digital control units during the year ended December 31 2008 For the
year ended December 31 2009 our turnkey

programs comprised 8% of total units sold compared to 3% during the year ended December 31 2008

CI Business

Our CI Business segment had revenue of $38.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $32.2 million for the

year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $6.1 million or 19% The increase in revenue is due to an increase of $7.7 million in

revenue from increased megawatts in open market programs across the nation primarily the PJM capacity program In addition the

CI Business segment had an increase of $2.4 million in revenue due to increased megawatt commitments in our CI VPC program

compared to the prior year The increase in open market and CI VPC program revenue was partially offset by decrease of $1.6

million in the energy efficiency programs and decrease of $2.4 million in other energy engineering services The decrease in energy

efficiency program revenue is due to decline in installations partially offset by an increase of $1.4 million in non-recurring revenue

benefits due to contractual amendments during the
year ended December 31 2009 compared to 2008 The decrease of $2.4 million in

energy management revenue is due to the decline in our engineering projects during the year ended December 31 2009 as result of

the general decline in expenditures by our customers

Gross Profit and Margin

The following table summarizes our gross profit and gross margin for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 dollars in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Profit Margin Profit Margin
Segment Gross Profit and Margin

Residential Business 22015 36 0/ 24919 55

Commercial Industrial Business 11181 29 8.984 28

Total 33196 34 33.903 44

In prior years we reported the results of operations in three segments the Utility Products Services segment the Residential

Business segment and the CI Business segment For the
year ended December 31 2010 the Utility Products Services segment is

presented as part of the Residential Business segment Accordingly gross profit of$l2.4 million and $9.6 million has been

reclassified for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The results of our energy efficiency programs were

previously reported in the Residential Business segment For the year ended December 31 2010 the energy efficiency programs are

reported as part of the CI Business segment Accordingly gross profit of $4.3 million and $4.4 million has been reclassified for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Residential Business

Gross profit for our Residential Business segment was $22.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $24.9 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $2.9 million or 12% The decrease in gross profit is due to decrease of $5.6

million from our residential VPC programs partially offset by an increase of$l.6 million from our turnkey programs and $1.1 million

from our other product and service sales In our VPC programs the cost of the hardware and installing that hardware are capitalized

and depreciated over the remaining term of the contract with the utility which is shorter than the operating life of the equipment As
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previously disclosed our NV Energy VPC contract had an original expiration of January 2010 Therefore all capital deployed in

2009 under that one VPC contract was fully expensed in 2009 resulting in lower gross profit for that VPC contract and the

Residential Business segment as whole

Gross margin for our Residential Business segment was 36% for the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to 55% for the year

ended December 31 2008 decrease of 19 percentage points The decrease was due to the
gross margin provided by the Nevada

VPC contract discussed above

CJ Business

Gross profit for our CI Business segment was $11.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $9.0 million for the

year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $2.2 million or 24% The increase in gross profit is due to an increase of $1.6 million in

gross profit from increased megawatts in open market programs across the nation primarily the PJM capacity program In addition

the Cl Business segment had an increase of $1.1 million in gross profit due to increased megawatt commitments in our CI VPC

programs compared to the prior year The increase in open market and CI VPC program revenue was partially offset by decrease

of $0.1 million in the energy efficiency programs and decrease of $0.4 million in other energy engineering services The decrease in

energy efficiency program gross profit is due to decline in installations as well as the recording of certain liquidating damages for

not attaining capacity commitments in certain geographical regions of metro New York City

Gross margin for the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 remained consistent at 29% and 28% respectively

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our operating expenses for the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31
Percent

2009 2008 Change

Operating Expenses

General and administrative expenses 37781 34463 10

Marketing and selling expenses
7.737 5.738 13

Research and development expenses 4878 1137 329

Amortization of intangible assets 2.209 2439

Impairment charges 75432

Total 62605 129209 52

Not meaningful

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $37.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $34.5 million for the year

ended December 31 2008 an increase of $3.3 million or 10% The increase in general and administrative expenses is attributable to

$5.7 million of non-recurring charges recorded during 2009 comprised of $2.8 million in stock based compensation related to the

acceleration of equity awards and $1.5 million in retirement and consulting payments pursuant to the retirement agreement of Mr
Robert Chiste our former Chairman of the Board of Directors President and Chief Executive Officer and $1.4 million in stock

based compensation related to the acceleration of non-executive stock options with strike price of$14.l0 or higher Net of these

non-recurring charges general and administrative expenses
decreased by $2.4 million mainly due to cost containment and reduction

measures implemented during 2009

Marketing and Selling Expenses

Marketing and selling expenses were $17.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $15.7 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 an increase of $2.0 million or 13% We recorded $1.0 million in stock based compensation related to the

acceleration of non-executive stock options with strike price of $14.10 or higher which was partially offset by decrease in other

stock based compensation excluding the acceleration of $0.1 million The remaining increase in marketing and selling expenses was

comprised of $1.6 million increase in commission expense and $0.5 million increase in marketing and advertising partially offset

by $1.0 million decrease in consulting expense

We expense customer-acquisition costs as incurred VPC customer acquisition costs were $6.3 million and $4.6 million for the

years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively an increase of $1.7 million
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are incurred primarily in connection with the identification testing and development of new
products and software specifically the development of products to support utility Advanced Metering Infrastructure or AMI
Research and development expenses were $4.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 and $1.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 an increase of $3.8 million or 329% The increase in research and development expenses is mainly due to an

increase and re-deployment in headcount and an increase in contractors to develop new AMI-enabled hardware products and our

IntelliSOURCE software

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was $2.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $2.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 decrease of $0.2 million or 9% The decrease in amortization expense is due to the decrease in finite-lived

intangible assets as result of our impairment assessment during 2008 partially offset by the amortization of non-compete agreements

In addition to the amortization presented in operating expenses we also recorded $0.6 million in amortization
expense for the year

ended December 31 2009 in our cost of revenue compared to $0.2 million for the
year ended December31 2008

Impairment Charges

We performed our annual impairment test as of December 31 2009 and the results of the test indicated no impairment Other than

our annual impairment test no other impairment tests during the year were necessary as no events or changes in circumstances

occurred during 2009

During the third quarter of 2008 in the CI Business segment rule change for economic demand response programs in the PJM
market caused decline in the projected operating results for the remainder of 2008 and future periods Based on the reduction of

projected operating results in current and future periods we determined that an interim impairment test of goodwill was required The

valuation for the goodwill was performed using discounted cash flow income approach to valuing the business using 19.5%

discount rate The valuation resulted in non-cash impairment of goodwill related to the CI Business segment of $67.7 million to

reflect the carrying value in excess of the fair value

As part of the reorganization announced on September 12 2008 we made the decision to no longer use the Enerwise trade name
Accordingly we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $2.8 million related to the Enerwise trade name

Contemporaneous with our interim goodwill impairment test we also performed an analysis of the potential impairment and

reassessed other identified intangible assets within the CI Business segment The impairment analysis for the customer relationships

was performed using an excess earnings income approach to valuing the asset using 19.5% discount rate As result we recorded

non-cash impairment charge of $4.9 million to reduce the carrying value to the calculated fair value

Total noncash impairment charges for the year ended December 31 2008 were $75.4 million For the year ended December 31 2008
the impairment charge net of tax benefit per share was $3.52

Interest Expense Net

We recorded net interest
expense of $2.1 million for year ended December 31 2009 compared to net interest expense of $22000 for

the year ended December 31 2008 The increase of $2.1 million in net interest expense during each period was mainly result of less

investment income and increased interest expense as result of our outstanding debt facilities as well as $0.8 million charge

recorded to interest expense to write-off unamortized debt issuance costs related to our termination of the General Electric Capital

Corporation credit agreement

Other Income Net

Net other income decreased to $0.1 million for the
year ended December 31 2009 compared to net other income of $0.3 million for

the year ended December 31 2008 In the year ended December 31 2008 we recorded $0.3 million gain on extinguishment of debt

as result of our prepayment to certain note holders at 2% discount of their then outstanding balance No such gain was recorded in

the year ended December 31 2009

Income Taes

provision of $0.2 million was recorded during the year ended December 31 2009 related to deferred tax liability tax benefit of
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$0.9 million was recorded during the year ended December 31 2008 As result of the $2.8 million trade name intangible asset

impairment the related deferred tax liability of $1.0 million was removed from our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31

2008 and is reflected as tax benefit in the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2008

We provided full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets because the realization of any future tax benefits could not be

sufficiently assured as of December 31 2009 and 2008

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to our initial public offering in April 2007 we funded our operations primarily through the issuance of an aggregate
of

$40.9 million in preferred stock $4.0 million in subordinated convertible debt and borrowings under our then senior loan

agreement
and General Electric Capital Corporation credit facility We used these proceeds to fund our operations and to

invest in our VPC programs both in the form of capital expenditures to build out the capacity under our VPC contracts and

participant acquisition expenses
such as advertising and participant incentive payments which were expensed as incurred In

April 2007 we completed an initial public offering of 5300000 shares of our common stock Aggregate proceeds to us from

the offering were $86.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses In

conjunction with the completion of our initial public offering the holder of our then only outstanding subordinated

convertible debt converted $1.0 million of the principal balance into 138121 shares of common stock In December 2007 we

completed second public offering of 4000000 shares of our common stock Of the 4000000 shares 920000 were newly

issued and the remaining shares were sold by selling stockholders Aggregate proceeds to us from the offering were $24.0

million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses In conjunction with the completion

of our second offering the holder of our subordinated convertible debt converted an additional $1.1 million of the principal

balance into 151933 shares of common stock In November 2009 we completed third public offering of 2760000 shares

of common stock Aggregate proceeds to us from the offering were $27.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and

commissions and offering expenses In November 2008 we entered into security and loan agreement with Silicon Valley

Bank The security and loan agreement was amended in February 2010 to increase the revolver loan from $10.0 million to

$30.0 million for borrowings to fund general working capital and other corporate purposes
and issuances of letters oTcredit

In November 2010 we entered into convertible loan agreement with Partners for Growth III L.P for $15.0 million to fund

general working capital and other corporate purposes

Working capital as of December 31 2010 was $40.1 million consisting of $82.7 million in current assets and $42.6 million in current

liabilities Working capital as of December 31 2009 was $49.7 million consisting of $82.7 million in current assets and $33.0 million

in current liabilities In addition we had aggregate
available borrowing capacity under our loan agreement of$l 1.9 million as of

December 31 2010 and $5.4 million as of December 31 2009 Management believes that working capital and borrowings available

under our loan facilities will be sufficient to meet our capital needs for at least the next 12 months Future available sources of

working capital including cash and cash equivalents
marketable securities short-term or long-term financing equity offerings or any

combination of these sources should allow us to meet our long-term liquidity needs although our ability to raise additional debt or

equity cannot be assured
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Operating activities 14369 7779 13833
Investing activities 5085 24.234 9.964
Financing activities

11185 12953 3613
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 8269 3.502 20184

Cash Flows Provided by Used in Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities was $14.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to cash provided by operating
activities of $7.8 million for the

year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $22.2 million The change in cash flows from operating
activities included an increase in net loss of $8.7 million after adjusting for non-cash items including depreciation amortization
stock-based compensation and impairment charges The remaining change of$ 13.5 million in cash flows from operating activities

was result of the change in operating assets and liabilities primarily an increase in accounts receivable due to increased billings in

our new turnkey programs as well as timing of cash receipts and an increase in payables and accrued
expenses due to the increased

megawatts under contract and thus increased participant payments in our CI open market programs

Cash flows provided by operating activities was $7.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to cash used in

operating activities of$13.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $21.6 million The change in cash flows

from operating activities included decrease in net loss of $5.7 million after adjusting for non-cash items including depreciation

amortization stock-based compensation and impairment charges The remaining $15.9 million change in cash flows from operating
activities was result of the change in operating assets and liabilities primarily decrease in accounts receivable due to the timing of

cash receipts from our customers

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $5.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $24.2 million during the
year

ended December 31 2009 decrease of$19.1 million The decrease was due to change in marketable securities of $12.3 million as
certain securities matured and we used the resulting cash to fund our operations We incurred less capital expenditures during the year
ended December 31 2010 mainly due to the Nevada VPC program transitioning from aggressive growth to maintenance phase

Cash used in investing activities was $24.2 million during the
year ended December 31 2009 compared to $10.0 million for the year

ended December 31 2008 an increase of $14.2 million The increase was due to change in marketable securities of $11.5 million as

we invested portion of the cash received from our late 2009 equity offering The remaining increase of $2.7 million was due to

increased capital expenditures as we built out our existing residential VPC programs

Our capital expenditures are mainly for purchases of equipment and installation services used to build out and expand our VPC
programs Installation services represent the installation of the demand

response hardware at participants locations primarily
residential

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $11.2 million during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $13.0 million

during the year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $1.8 million During the year ended December 31 2010 we received $15.0
million from borrowings under our Partners for Growth or PFG debt facility and repaid $3.0 million net under our Silicon Valley

Bank or SVB debt facility During the
year ended December 31 2009 we received $10.9 million from additional borrowings under

our then-outstanding General Electric Capital Corporation or GECC credit agreement During late 2009 we completed our third

offering of common stock and received net proceeds of $27.4 million and used those proceeds to pay the remaining outstanding debt

with GECC of $23.4 million

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $13.0 million during the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $3.6 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $9.4 million During the year ended December 31 2009 we received $10.9
million from additional borrowings under our then-outstanding GECC credit agreement During late 2009 we completed our third

offering of common stock and received net proceeds of $27.4 million and used those proceeds to pay the remaining outstanding debt

40



with GECC of $23.4 million During the year ended December 31 2008 we received $15.0 million and $8.1 million in borrowings

from our SVB and GECC debt facilities respectively We also repaid $18.9 million in subordinated convertible promissory notes

from our acquisitions completed in 2007

Indebtedness

Loan Agreement

On February 2010 Comverge Inc and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into second amendment to its existing credit

and term loan facility with Silicon Valley Bank The second amendment increased the revolver loan by an additional $20.0 million

bringing the total revolver loan to $30.0 million for borrowings to fund general working capital and other corporate purposes and

issuances of letters of credit The second amendment also added Alternative Energy Resources Inc wholly owned subsidiary of

Comverge as borrower and extended the term of the revolver facility by one year to December 2012 In connection with the

extension of the term of the credit facility commitment fee of$100000 was paid on February 2010 and additional commitment

fees of $75000 are payable on each of February 2011 and February 2012 The amended facility provides $30.0 million

revolver for borrowings to fund working capital and other corporate purposes
and $15.0 million term loan which was used to repay

maturing convertible notes The term loan is no longer available for additional borrowings and our outstanding balance as of

December 31 2010 was $9.8 million As of December 31 2010 we had $11.9 million of borrowing availability from the revolver

loan

The interest on revolving loans under the amended facility accrues at either rate per annum equal to the greater of the Prime Rate

or 4% plus the Prime Rate Advance Margin or rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Advance Rate plus the LIBOR Rate Advance

Margin as such terms are defined in the amended facility agreement The second amendment also sets forth certain financial ratios to

be maintained by the borrowers on consolidated basis On November 23 2010 Comverge Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries

entered in fourth amendment to its facility with SVB The fourth amendment modified the availability provisions and financial

covenants under the agreement and also modified certain definitions to reflect the subordinated convertible loan agreement with

Partners for Growth III L.P The obligations under the amended facility are secured by all assets of Comverge and its other borrower

subsidiaries The revolver terminates and all amounts outstanding thereunder are due and payable in full on December31 2012 and

the term loan is payable over 57 months beginning April 2009 and matures on December 31 2013 The facility contains customary

terms and conditions for credit facilities of this type including restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness create liens

enter into transactions with affiliates transfer assets pay dividends or make distributions on or repurchase our stock consolidate or

merge with other entities or suffer change in control In addition we are required to meet certain financial covenants customary

with this type of agreement including maintaining minimum specified tangible net worth and minimum specified ratio of current

assets to current liabilities The facility contains customary events of default including for payment defaults breaches of

representations breaches of affirmative or negative covenants cross defaults to other material indebtedness bankruptcy and failure to

discharge certain judgments If default occurs and is not cured within any applicable cure period or is not waived our obligations

under the facility may be accelerated

Subordinated Convertible Loan Agreement

On November 2010 Comverge Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into five-year $15.0 million subordinated

convertible loan agreement with Partners For Growth III L.P The loan is interest only payable monthly and accrues at rate per

annum equal to the floating Prime Rate plus 2.50% currently 5.75% in total as such terms are defined in the loan agreement The

agreement contains customary events of default including for payment defaults breaches of representations breaches of affirmative

or negative covenants cross defaults to other material indebtedness bankruptcy and failure to discharge certain judgments If

default occurs and is not cured within any applicable cure period or is not waived our obligations under the loan agreement may be

accelerated The agreement also sets forth quarterly revenue targets to be maintained by the borrowers on consolidated basis If the

revenue targets are not maintained the lender has the right but not the obligation to begin requiring quarterly repayments of the loan

balance over the remaining term of the loan Such payments would be front-loaded such that 45% of the loan balance would be due

over the first twelve month after the lenders election The obligations under the loan agreement are secured by all assets of Comverge

and its subsidiaries The lender may convert the note into up to 1594048 shares of Comverge common stock at $9.41 per share

Comverge may convert the note at the market price per share on the date of election discounted by certain percentage

The loan provides at our option the ability to borrow up to an additional $5.0 million in the first 36 months convertible into common

stock at conversion price based upon the stock price at the time of the additional borrowing however at no time may the amount of

existing unconverted borrowings exceed $15.0 million In connection with the loan commitment fee of $0.3 million was paid on

November 2010 There are no additional commitment fees

Credit Agreement

In January 2007 Alternative Energy Resources Inc or AER entered into credit agreement with General Electric Capital

Corporation or GECC to provide AER with up to $40.0 million of borrowings to fund capital expenditures related to VPC contracts
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The credit agreement had term loan facility up to $37.0 million and letter of credit sublimit of $3.0 million for total availability of

$40.0 million Borrowings under the GECC credit agreement bore interest at either prime plus 1.5% or LIBOR plus 2.75% per
annum at our election On December 2009 we repaid $24.7 million representing all outstanding indebtedness and fees due under
the credit agreement and terminated the facility As result of the termination we recognized $0.8 million of interest expense during
the year ended December 31 2009 due to the write-off of the unamortized debt issuance costs

Letters of Credit

After the amendment in February 2010 our facility with Silicon Valley Bank provides for the issuance of up to $30.0 million of letters

of credit As of December 31 2010 we had $18.1 million face value of irrevocable letters of credit outstanding from the facility

Additionally we have $2.1 million of cash collateralized letters of credit outstanding which are presented as portion of the restricted

cash in our financial statements

Capital Spending

As of December 31 2010 our VPC programs had installed capacity of 558 megawatts Our existing VPC contracts as of December

31 2010 provided for potential contracted capacity of 891 megawatts Our residential VPC programs require significant amount of

capital spending to build out our demand
response networks We expect to incur approximately $21.1 million in capital expenditures

primarily over the next three years to continue building out our existing VPC programs of which $8.4 million is anticipated to be
incurred through December 31 2011 If we are successful in being awarded additional VPC contracts we would incur additional
amounts to build out these new VPC programs

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortization or EBITDA is defined as net loss before net interest expense
income tax expense benefit and depreciation and amortization EBITDA is non-GAAP financial measure and is not substitute for

other GAAP financial measures such as net loss operating loss or cash flows from operating activities as calculated and presented in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S or GAAP In addition our calculation of EBITDA may or may
not be consistent with that of other companies We urge you to review the GAAP financial measures included in this annual report and

our consolidated financial statements including the notes thereto and the other financial information contained in this annual report
and to not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business

EBITDA is common alternative measure of performance used by investors financial analysts and rating agencies to assess operating
performance for companies in our industry Depreciation is

necessary element of our costs and our ability to generate revenue We
do not believe that this

expense is indicative of our core operating performance because the depreciable lives of assets vary greatly

depending on the maturity terms of our VPC contracts The clean energy sector has experienced recent trends of increased growth and
new company development which have led to significant variations among companies with respect to capital structures and cost of

capital which affect interest expense Management views interest expense as by-product of capital structure decisions and
therefore it is not indicative of our core operating performance Our internal budgets are based on EBITDA and we use EBITDA as

one of several criteria to determine performance-based cash compensation

We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA before stock-based compensation expense and impairment charges Management does not
believe that stock-based compensation is indicative of our core operating performance because the stock-based compensation is fixed

at the grant date then expensed over period of several
years after the grant date and generally cannot be changed or influenced by

management after the
grant date Management believes the impairment charges related to the Enerwise and Energy Efficiency

reporting units to be not indicative of our core operating performance as these charges relate to acquisitions completed in prior

periods

reconciliation of net loss the most directly comparable GAAP measure to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for each of the fiscal

periods indicated is as follows dollars in thousands
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Net loss

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense income net

Provision benefit for income taxes

EBJTDA

Non-cash stock compensation expense

Non-cash inairment charge

Adjusted EBITDA

2010

33351

Year Ended December 31

___________
2009 2008

31666 94106

20499 7609

2114 22

___________
219 901

8834 87376

10038 6876

9871 ___________
75432

8506 1204 5068

Non-GAAP Net Loss

We believe that the presentation of non-GAAP net loss which is measure that adjusts for the impact of stock-based compensation

expense and amortization expense for acquisition-related assets provides investors and financial analysts with consistent basis for

comparison across accounting periods and therefore is useful to investors and financial analysts in helping them to better understand

our operating results and underlying operational trends

Although stock-based compensation is an important aspect of the compensation of our employees and executives stock-based

compensation expense is generally fixed at the time of grant then amortized over period of several years after the grant of the stock-

based award and generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the grant

We do not acquire intangible assets on predictable cycle Amortization costs are fixed at the time of an acquisition are then

amortized over period of several years after the acquisition and in some cases the remaining value of acquired intangibles and

goodwill is decreased due to impairment charges In addition to amortization expense we record tax expense
related to tax deductible

goodwill arising from certain prior acquisitions These expenses generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the

acquisition

reconciliation of net loss the most directly comparable GAAP measure to non-GAAP net loss for each of the fiscal periods

indicated is as follows dollars in thousands

Net loss per share basic and diluted

Non-cash stock compensation expense

Amortization of intangible assets from acquisition

Impairment charges related to acquisitions

Change in acquisition-related
deferred incon taxes

Non-GAAP net loss per share basic and diluted

Weighted average shares used in computation basic and diluted

Commitments and Contingencies

Year Ended December 31

____________
2009 2008

31666 94106

10038 6876

2209 2439

74389

1.27 1.45 4.45

0.13 0.46 0.32

0.09 0.10 0.12

0.38 0.00 3.52

0.01 0.01

0.66 0.88 0.48

24667485 21786978 21160979

In the ordinary conduct of our business we are subject to various investigations lawsuits arbitrations claims and other legal

proceedings Although we cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of any investigations lawsuits arbitrations claims and

other legal proceedings asserted against us we do not believe that any currently pending legal proceeding or proceedings to which we

are party or of which any of our property is subject will have material adverse effect on our business results of operations cash

flows or financial condition except as disclosed in Item Legal Proceedings and Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements

contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K

9111

875

339

21704

3327

Net loss

Non-cash stock compensation expense

Amortization of intangible assets from acquisition

Impairment charges related to acquisitions net of tax effect

Change in acquisition-related
deferred income taxes

Non-GAAP net loss

2010

31351

3327

2144

9260

224

16.396

220

19199

228

10174
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Our policy is to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes related to legal matters as well as ranges of probable
losses determination of the amount of the liability required if any for these contingencies is made after an analysis of each known
issue liability is recorded and charged to operating expense when we determine that loss is probable and the amount can be

reasonably estimated Additionally we disclose contingencies for which material loss is reasonably possible but not probable As of
December 31 2010 there were no material contingencies requiring accrual or disclosure

Contractual Obligations

Information regarding our known contractual obligations of the types described below as of December 31 2010 is set forth in the

following table dollars in thousands

Payments Due by Period

Less Than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total Year 1-3 Years -5 Years Years

Cash interest payments on debt 4.767 1136 1.978 1653
Operating lease obligations 6844 2624 2676 895 649
Retirement obligations 623 179 277 167

Warranty obligations 620 620

Total 37604 7559 11681 17715 649

Cash Interest Payments on Debt

As of December 31 2010 $24.8 million of outstanding debt was at floating interest rates We have assumed that the interest rate on
the outstanding debt will remain relatively consistent with that as of December 31 2010 in estimating cash interest payments on debt

Licensing Agreement

We are obligated to pay royalties to the licensor for each unit sold that incorporates certain licensed technology under two
separate

licensing agreements During the
years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we paid $0.1 million During the year ended December

31 2009 and 2008 we paid no royalties under the agreement These payments have been excluded from the table above

Guarantees

We typically grant customers limited warranty that guarantees that our products will
substantially conform to current specifications

for one year related to software and hardware products from the delivery date We also indemnify our customers from
third-party

claims relating to the intended use of our products Standard software license agreements contain indemnification clauses Pursuant to
these clauses we indemnify and agree to pay any judgment or settlement relating to claim

We guaranteed the electrical capacity we have committed to deliver pursuant to certain long-term contracts Such guarantees may be
secured by cash letters of credit performance bonds or third-party guarantees Performance guarantees during the year ended
December 31 2010 and 2009 were $19.8 million and $7.5 million respectively

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and judgments that affect our reported assets liabilities
revenue and expenses and our related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On an on-going basis we re-evaluate our
estimates including those related to revenue recognition impairment of long-lived assets and stock-based compensation We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results

may differ from these estimates summary of our critical accounting policies is set forth below

Revenue Recognition Residential Business

We sell hardware products and services directly to utilities for use and deployment by the utility We recognize revenue for such
sales when delivery-has occurred or services have been rendered and the following criteria have been met delivery has occurred
the price is fixed and determinable collection is probable and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists
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We have certain contracts which are multiple element arrangements and provide for several deliverables to the customer that may

include installation services marketing services program management services software hardware and hosting services These

contracts require no significant production modification or customization of the software and the software is incidental to the

products and services as whole We evaluate each deliverable to determine whether it represents separate unit of accounting if

objective and reliable evidence of fair value exists for all units of accounting in the arrangement revenue is allocated to each unit

of accounting based on relative fair values Each unit of accounting is then accounted for under the applicable revenue recognition

guidance

We defer revenue and the associated cost of revenue related to certain long-term VPC contracts until such time as the annual

contract payment is fixed and determinable We invoice VPC customers on monthly or quarterly basis throughout the

contract year The VPC contracts require us to provide electric capacity through demand reduction to utility customers and

require measurement and verification of such capacity on an annual basis in order to determine final contract consideration

for given contract year Contract years typically begin at the end of control season generally at the end of utilitys

summer cooling season that correlates to the end of the utilitys peak demand for electricity and continue for twelve months

thereafter Once we secure VPC contract with utility customer our Residential Business segment incurs significant

marketing costs to identify and enroll participants in our VPC programs These participant acquisition costs are expensed as

incurred Once participant enrolls in one of our VPC programs we install digital control unit or thermostat at the

participants location The cost of the installation and the hardware are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining term of

the contract with the utility which is shorter than the operating life of the equipment The depreciation is recognized

contemporaneously with revenue

Revenue Recognition CI Business

We enter into agreements to provide demand response services The demand response programs require us to provide electric

capacity through demand reduction to utility end customers when the utility or independent system operator
calls demand

response event to curtail electrical usage Demand response revenue is earned based on our ability to deliver capacity In order to

provide capacity we manage portfolio of commercial and industrial end users electric loads Capacity amounts are verified

through the results of an actual demand response event or customer initiated demand response test We recognize revenue and

associated cost of revenue in demand response
services at such time as the capacity amount is fixed and determinable

We record revenue from capacity programs with independent system operators The capacity year for our primary capacity

program spans from June to May 31st annually For participation we receive cash payments on monthly basis in the capacity

year Participation in the capacity program requires us to respond to requests from the system operator to curtail energy usage

during the mandatory performance period of June through September which is the peak demand season The annual payments for

capacity year are recognized at the end of the mandatory performance period once the revenue is fixed and determinable

We enter into agreements to provide base load capacity through energy efficiency projects Energy efficiency revenue is earned

based on our ability to achieve committed capacity through load reduction In order to provide capacity we deliver and install

demand side management measures The base load capacity contracts require us to provide electric capacity to utility customers

and include measurement and verification of such capacity in order to determine contract consideration We defer revenue and

associated cost of revenue in our electric load reduction services until such time as the capacity amount and therefore the related

revenue is fixed and determinable Once the capacity amount has been verified the revenue is recognized If the revenue is

subject to penalty refund or an ongoing obligation the revenue is deferred until the contingency is resolved andlor we have met

our performance obligation Certain contracts contain multiple deliverables or elements which require us to assess whether the

different elements qualify for separate accounting The separate deliverables in these arrangements meet the separation criteria

Accordingly revenue is recognized for each element by applying the residual method since there is objective evidence of fair

value of only the undelivered item The amount allocated to the delivered item is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon

delivery of the additional element

Revenue from time-and-materials service contracts and other services are recognized as services are provided Revenue from

certain fixed price contracts are recognized on percentage-of-completion basis which involves the use of estimates If we do not

have sufficient basis to measure the progress towards completion revenue is recognized when the project is completed or when

final acceptance is received from the customer We also enter into agreements to provide hosting services that allow customers to

monitor and analyze their electrical usage Revenue from hosting contracts is recognized as the services are provided generally

on recurring monthly basis

Goodwill and Intangibles net

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net tangible assets and identified intangible assets of businesses

acquired in purchase transactions Goodwill is not being amortized Intangibles are recorded at their fair value at acquisition date We
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amortize finite-lived intangibles over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method which approximates the projected

utility of such assets based upon the information available Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for

impairment on at least an annual basis on December 31 of each year as well as on an as-needed basis determined by events or

changes in circumstances

Goodwill is allocated among and evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level which is defined as an operating segment or one
level below an operating segment Goodwill was tested for impairment using the two-step approach Step of the goodwill

impairment test used to identify potential impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount
including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not

impaired and the second step of the impairment test is not required If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its fair value
the second step of the goodwill impairment test would be performed to measure the amount of impairment if any

We entered into an amendment with certain customer during the fourth quarter of 2010 that decreased committed capacity in the

Energy Efficiency reporting unit in the C1 Business segment thereby reducing future cash flows The decline in cash flows

impacted the fair value of the reporting unit causing its carrying value to exceed its fair value when we performed our impairment
assessment Based on this evaluation we recorded impairment charges See Results of Operations Year Ended December 31 2010

Compared to Year Ended December 31 2009 Impairment Charges for complete discussion on the methodology and assumptions

applied The results of the annual impairment test indicated no additional impairment as of December 31 2010

We performed our annual impairment test as of December 31 2009 and the results of the tests performed indicated no impairment

An impairment test of goodwill and certain intangible assets was performed during the third quarter of 2008 The interim impairment
assessment was triggered by rule change in certain market effected in 2008 that reduced the price we receive under our economic
or voluntary demand response programs for commercial and industrial consumers in the PJM service territory Based on this

evaluation we recorded impairment charges See Results of Operations Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended
December 31 2008 Impairment Charges for complete discussion on the methodology and assumptions applied

Impairment ofLong-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
should be assessed by comparing their carrying value to the undiscounted estimated future net operating cash flows expected to be

derived from such assets If such evaluation indicates potential impairment discounted cash flow analysis is used to measure fair

value in determining the amount of these assets that should be written off

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 were $3.3 million $10.0

million and $6.9 million respectively before income taxes For awards with service conditions and graded-vesting one-time

election was made to recognize stock-based compensation expense on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the

entire award For options with performance and/or service conditions only we utilized the Black-Scholes option pricing model to

estimate fair value of options issued For restricted stock awards with service conditions we utilized the intrinsic value method For
awards with market conditions we utilized lattice model to estimate the award fair value and the derived service period

Determining the fair value of stock options at the grant date requires judgment including estimates for the risk-free interest rate

volatility annual forfeiture rate and expected term Performance-based unvested awards require management to make assumptions

regarding the likelihood of achieving company or personal performance goals If any of these assumptions differ significantly from

actual stock-based compensation expense could be impacted We will recognize $8.0 million of additional
expense related to

unvested awards as of December 31 2010 over weighted average period of 1.9 years

On November 2009 our board of directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of 192053 time-based stock options with

exercise prices equal to or greater than $14.10 for certain of its employees Restricted stock stock options with vesting based on

performance and stock options held by executive officers and directors were not accelerated As result of the acceleration an

aggregate of 192053 unvested stock options with exercise prices ranging from $14.10 to $34.23 became immediately exercisable

The weighted average exercise price of the options that were accelerated was approximately $23.85 The accelerated options would
have vested from time to time through February 2012 All other terms and conditions applicable to the accelerated stock option

grants including the exercise price number of shares and term remain unchanged The incremental non-cash stock based

compensation expense recognized in the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of the acceleration was $2.7 million

Mr Robert Chiste retired from the Company as Chairman of the Board of Directors President and Chief Executive Officer

effective June 19 2009 and resigned from the Companys Board effective June 20 2009 In connection with his retirement Mr
Chiste and the Company entered into retirement agreement dated July 17 2009 pursuant to which related to equity awards all

unvested options held by Mr Chiste as of June 19 2009 vest and became exercisable in full and remain exercisable for the lesser of

their remaining terms or until March 31 2013 and all restricted stock grants and any other equity-based awards held by Mr Chiste as
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of June 19 2009 vest and became exercisable in full As result the Company recorded an expense of $2.8 million in non-cash stock-

based compensation expense during the third quarter of 2009

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB issued amendments to the accounting and disclosure for

revenue recognition These amendments effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after June 15 2010 early adoption is permitted

modif the criteria for recognizing revenue in multiple element arrangements and the scope of what constitutes non-software

deliverable Our management is currently assessing the impact of the adoption on its consolidated financial position and results of

operations

In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update or ASU No 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements andDisclosures

Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements The guidance requires previous fair value hierarchy disclosures to be further

disaggregated by class of assets and liabilities class is often subset of assets or liabilities within line item in the statement of

financial position In addition significant transfers between Levels and of the fair value hierarchy are required to be disclosed

These additional requirements became effective January 2010 for quarterly and annual reporting The guidance did not have an

impact on the consolidated financial results as this guidance relates only to additional disclosures

In February 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-09 Subsequent Events Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure

Requirements The update removes the requirement to disclose date through which subsequent events have been evaluated The

update is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15 2010 The guidance did not have an impact on the consolidated

financial results as this guidance relates only to disclosures

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk

We face minimal
exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates These exposures may change over time as

business practices evolve and could have material impact on our financial position and results of operations We do not utilize any

foreign currency exchange transactions to hedge our exposure Foreign currency gains for the years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 were immaterial

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31 2010 $24.8 million of outstanding debt was at floating interest rates Based on outstanding floating rate debt of

$24.8 million as of December 31 2010 an increase of 1.0% in the prime rate would result in an increase in our interest expense of

approximately $0.2 million per year

Market Value of Portfolio Investments

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings types and maturities As of December 31 2010 we had $35.0 million of

investments in money market funds commercial
paper

and corporate debentures/bonds recorded at fair value on our balance sheet

While our investments are made in highly rated securities and in compliance with our investment policy these investments are

exposed to fluctuations in market values and could have material impact on our financial position and results of operations
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Comverge Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of Comverge Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in

the accompanying index presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the

related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is

responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial

statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated

audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all

material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating

the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 2011
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COMVERGE INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share and per share data

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7800 16069

Restricted cash 1736 3000

Marketable securities 27.792 34409

Billed accounts rccei able net 14433 8119

Unhilled accounts receivable 17992 11873

Inventory net 9181 6605

Deferred costs 1.712 1715

Other current assets 2056 938

Total current assets 82702 82.728

Restricted cash 3733 2636

Property and equipment net 22.480 18.340

Intangible assets net 3816 8779

Goodwill 499 8.179

Other assets 927 235

lotalassets 114.157 120.897

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 8455 6874
Accrued expenses 17.375 11574

Deferred revenue 5.821 5890

Current portion of longterm debt 3000 3.000

Other current liabilities 7962 5.648

Total current liabilities 42.613 32986

Long-term liabilities

Dc terred re en ue ô62 1.203

Long-tcrnidebt 21750 9750
Other liabilities 2074 2.914

Total long-term liabilities 25486 13867

Commitments and contingencies Note 12

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock S0.OOl par\ alue per share authoriied 15.000.000

shares no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2010

and December 31 2009

Comnn stock $0.00 par value per share authorized 150.000000 25 25

shares issued 25355.223 and outstanding 25329118 shares as of

December 31 2010 and issued 25072764 and outstanding 25067102
shares as ofDecember3l2009

Additional paid-in capital 262.226 258.660

Common stock held in treasuty at cost 26105 and 5.662 shares as of 257 63
December31 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively

Accumulated delicit 215.947 184596
Accumulated other coirehensive incon 18

otal shareholders equity 46.058 74.04

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 114157 120.897

The accompanying nofr.s arc an integral part u/these on colic/afro /mnancial ctatemnenls
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COM VERGE INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except share and per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Re enue

Product 23152 20732 17890

Service 96.237 78112 59348

Total revenue 119389 98844 77238

cost of revenue

Product 17662 12912 11087

Ser ice 56876 52.736 32248

Total cost of revenue 74538 65648 43335

Gross prolit
44.851 33196 33903

Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses
39.362 37.781 34463

Marketing and selling expenses
18031 17737 15738

Research and development expenses
6.279 4.878 1.137

Amortization of intangible assets 2144 2209 2439

Impairment charges
9.871 75.432

Operating loss 30836 29409 95306

interest expense net
875 2114 22

Other income net 21 76 321

Loss before income taxes 31.690 31447 95.007

Provision benefit for income taxes 339 219 901

Net loss 31.351 31666 94.106

Net loss per share basic and diluted 1.27 1.45 4.45

Weighted average
shares used

in computation
24.667485 21786978 1.160979

The coin/anviFlg
notes are an integral part of flies consolidated none ui

.s tat enents
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COMVERCE INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

ear Lnded December 31
2010 2009 2008

Cash t1oss froni operating actisities

Net loss 31351 31666 94106

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pros ided by used in operating actis ties

1prcciation
6.276 17689 5004

Amortintion of intangible assets 2.835 2.810 2605

Stock-based conensation
3.327 10038 6876

Impairment charges
9.87l 75.432

in on einguishment ofdebt 328

Writcotl of debt issuance costs
754

Amortition of debt issuance costs III 258 217

Amortization accretionofmarketahle securities 739 252 175

Loss on disposal of property and equipment
415 670 353

Iloss ance Fr inventory obsolescence 316 10 65

Allowance for doubtfiul accounts 210 66 213

Deferred income taxes 387 220 815

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Hilled and unhilled accounts receivable net 12.643 4.727 12804

inventory net 3065 2059 2.037

Deterred costs and other assets 26 806 708

Accounts payable
1916 958 3.101

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7907 6.003 397

Deferred revenue
390 1.821 2.877

Net cash pros ided by used in operating activities 14.369 7779 l3.833

Cash I1oss from inwsting activities

Changes in restricted cash 167 1579 1692

ash paid for acquisitions net ofcash acquired
4%

Purchases ofrrarketable securities 26 049 39166 34635

Matunties ofmarketahle securities l920 32.750 39726

Purchases ofproperty and equipment 11040 1490 11615

Purchases oftechnology licenses 83 l.l8 1.700

Net cash used in investing activities 5085 24.234 9.9643

cash fios from financing acthities

lroceeds from exerLises of stock options
239 1067 39

Payment of enloyee tais due to net settlement stock option exercises 194 96 54

Horrossings under SVB loan facility 8000 15000

Repayment of SVB loan facility 21.000 2250

itorros ings under PFi loan facility
15.000

Borrowings under GECC credit agreement 10900 8.087

Repayment of iECCcreclit agreement
2.424

Repayment ofsubordinated convertible promissory notes 590 18.860

Net proceeds paynntsfrom issuance ofcornnn stock 3S 27371 614

Payment of debt issuance costs 525 25 305

Net cash pros ided by tinancing activities 11.185 12.953 3.613

Net change in cash and cash equis alents 8.269 3502 20.184

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
16.069 19571 39755

Cash aitd cash equivalents at end ofperiod 7.800 16.069 19.571

Cash paid br interest
952 1.629 l.688

Suenwntal thscIure of nucash Lnwsting and financing acthltles

Recording ofasset retirement obligation 239 399 427

Common stock issued as consideration hi business acquisitions
36

Coninvin stock issued on cons ersion ofconsertihle debt 1.91$

The aecoinpaming notes are au integral part of t/1CSL COflSOlikItd /ìuiwirial StclknO17t.S

53



COMVERGE INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
in thousands except share and per share data

Descrotion of Business and Basis of Present ation

Description of Business

Comverge Inc Delaware corporation and its subsidiaries collectively the Company provide intelligent energy management
solutions that enable energy providers and consumers to optimize their power usage and meet peak demand The Company delivers

its intelligent energy management solutions through portfolio of hardware software and services The Company has two operating

segments the Residential Business segment and the Commercial Industrial or CI Business segment

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of its subsidiaries The consolidated financial statements

have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America The consolidated

financial statements presented reflect entries
necessary for the fair presentation of the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 All entries required for the fair presentation of the

financial statements are of normal recurring nature Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation

Liquidity

The Company reported annual net losses in 2010 2009 and 2008 of $31351 $31666 and $94106 respectively The Companys
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31 2010 were $35592 As of December 31 2010
the Company had $24750 of debt outstanding

Working capital as of December 31 2010 was $40089 consisting of $82702 in current assets and $42613 in current liabilities

Working capital as of December 31 2009 was $49742 consisting of $82728 in current assets and $32986 in current liabilities

Management believes that available cash and cash equivalents marketable securities and borrowings available under our loan facility

will be sufficient to meet our capital needs for at least the next 12 months Future available sources of working capital including cash

and cash equivalents and marketable securities short-term or long-term financing equity offerings or any combination of these

sources should allow us to meet our long-term liquidity needs although our ability to raise additional debt or equity cannot be

assured

Significant Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Use ofEstimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expense during the

reporting periods Significant estimates include managements estimate of provisions required for non-collectible accounts receivable
obsolete or slow-moving inventory and potential product warranty liability as well as managements estimates related to revenue

recognition using the percentage-of-completion method Actual results could differ from those estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents Cash

and cash equivalents consist of cash and demand deposits in banks and short-term investments

The Company maintains cash balances to secure its performance or to fund possible damages as the result of an event of default

related to certain service contracts These amounts have been classified as restricted cash on the balance sheet and are classified as

current or noncurrent based on the underlying restriction

Allowance for Doubful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on specific identification of accounts considered to be doubtful of collection as well as

historical experience As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there were $1 72 and $369 respectively identified as doubtful of

collection
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Inventory net

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market Inventory cost is determined on the basis of specific identification based on

acquisition cost and due provision is made to reduce all slow-moving obsolete or unusable inventories to their estimated useful or

scrap values As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there were provisions of $466 and $188 respectively for finished goods inventory

identified as slow-moving obsolete or unusable

Property and Equipment net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets In the case of installed assets that are part of long-term contracts the assets are

depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the term of the contract Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of

the lease term or useful life Improvements are capitalized
while repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred Gains or losses

realized on the disposal or retirement of property and equipment are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations

The Company recognizes the fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred if

reasonable estimate of fair value can be made The Residential Business segment installs hardware at residences of select utility

customers At the request of the homeowner the Company is obligated to remove this hardware Any associated asset retirement costs

are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and recognized as depreciation expense over the assets life The

Companys estimate is based on the historical data for the ratio of cumulative assets removed to the cumulative number of assets

installed Accordingly in the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company recognized an asset retirement obligation

liability and an associated change in the cost of long-lived assets of $239 $399 and $427 respectively

Goodwill and Intangibles net

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net tangible assets and identified intangible assets of businesses

acquired in purchase transactions Goodwill is not being amortized Intangibles are recorded at their fair value at acquisition date The

Company amortizes finite-lived intangibles over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to twenty years using the straight-line

method which approximates the projected utility of such assets based upon the information available Goodwill and other indefinite-

lived intangible assets are tested for impairment on at least an annual basis on December 31st of each year as well as on an as-needed

basis determined by events or changes in circumstances

Goodwill is allocated among and evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level which is defined as an operating segment or one

level below an operating segment Goodwill was tested for impairment using the two-step approach Step of the goodwill

impairment test used to identify potential impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount

including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not

impaired and the second step of the impairment test is not required If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its fair value

the second step of the goodwill impairment test would be performed to measure the amount of impairment if any

The Company entered into an amendment with certain customer during the fourth quarter of 2010 that decreased committed capacity

in the Energy Efficiency reporting unit in the CI Business segment thereby reducing future cash flows The decline in cash flows

impacted the fair value of the reporting unit causing its carrying value to exceed its fair value when we performed our impairment

assessment Based on this evaluation the Company recorded impairment charges See note for complete discussion on the

methodology and assumptions applied The results of the annual impairment test indicated no additional impairment as of December

31 2010

The Company performed its annual impairment test as of December 31 2009 and the results of the tests performed indicated no

impairment

An impairment test of goodwill and certain intangible assets was performed during the third quarter of 2008 The interim impairment

assessment was triggered by rule change in certain market effected in 2008 that reduced the price the Company receives under its

economic or voluntary demand response programs for commercial and industrial consumers Based on this evaluation the Company

recorded non-cash impairment charge complete discussion on the methodology and assumptions applied is included in note

The Company performed its annual impairment test as of December 31 2008 and the results of the tests performed indicated no

additional impairment

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount should be assessed by comparing their carrying value to the undiscounted estimated future net operating cash flows expected

to be derived from such assets If such evaluation indicates potential impairment discounted cash flow analysis is used to measure

fair value in determining the amount of these assets that should be written off
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Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are amortized over the term of the corresponding debt instrument using the straight-line method which

approximates the effective interest method Amortization of debt issuance costs was $111 $258 and $217 for the years ended
December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The Company recorded $754 write-off of debt issuance costs during the year
ended December 31 2009 as result of the payment and termination of the Companys credit agreement

Debt issuance costs are included in Other current assets and Other assets and consisted of the following as of December 31 2010 and
2009

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Debt issuance costs at begiining of year 234 1221
Addition ofdeht issuance costs

525 25
Write-off of debt issuance costs

754
Amortization of debt issuance costs III 258
Debt issuance costs at end of year 648 234

Warranty Provision

The Company generally warrants its products against certain manufacturing and other defects These product warranties are provided
for specific periods of time and/or

usage of the product depending on the nature of the product the geographic location of its sale and
other factors The warranty provision included in Other current liabilities is set forth below

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Warranty provision at beginning of year 82 101
Accruals for warranties issued during the

year 1.093 19

Warranty settlements during the
year 555 38

Warranty provision at the end olyear 620 82

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses financial instruments in the normal course of business including cash and cash equivalents investment securities
accounts receivable accounts payable accrued expenses and debt obligations The carrying values of accounts receivable accounts

payable and accrued expenses approximated their respective fair values at each balance sheet date due to the short-term maturity of
these assets and liabilities The carrying value of the debt obligations approximated its fair value given the market rates of interest and
maturity schedules

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company derives significant portion of its revenue from products and services that it supplies to electricity providers such as

utilities and independent system operators Changes in economic conditions and unforeseen events could occur and reduce consumers
use of electricity The Companys business success depends in part on its relationships with limited number of large customers
During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company had two customers which accounted for 28% and 12% of the Companys
revenue The total accounts receivable from these customers were $14200 and $3864 respectively as of December 31 2010
During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company had two customers which accounted for 20% and 12% of the Companys
total revenue The total accounts receivable from these customers were $8649 and $572 respectively as of December 31 2009
During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company had three customers which accounted for 19% 14% and 12% of the

Companys total revenue

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the Companys total revenue in 2010 2009 and 2008

The Company is subject to concentrations of credit risk from its cash and cash equivalents short-term investments and accounts
receivable The Company limits its exposure to credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments by
placing its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments with multiple domestic financial institutions and adhering to the

Companys investment policy
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Revenue Recognition
Residential Business

The Company sells hardware products and services directly to utilities for use and deployment by the utility The Company recognizes

revenue for such sales when delivery has occurred or services have been rendered and the following criteria have been met delivery

has occurred the price is fixed and determinable collection is probable and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists The

Company reports shipping and handling revenue and its associated costs in revenue and cost of revenue respectively

The Company has certain contracts which are multiple element arrangements and provide for several deliverables to the customer that

may include installation services marketing services program management services software hardware and hosting services These

contracts require no significant production modification or customization of the software and the software is incidental to the products

and services as whole The Company evaluates each deliverable to determine whether it represents separate unit of accounting If

objective and reliable evidence of fair value exists for all units of accounting in the arrangement revenue is allocated to each unit of

accounting based on relative fair values Each unit of accounting is then accounted for under the applicable revenue recognition

guidance

The Company defers revenue and the associated cost of revenue related to certain long-term Virtual Peaking Capacity or VPC

contracts until such time as the annual contract payment is fixed and determinable The Company invoices VPC customers on

monthly or quarterly basis throughout the contract year The VPC contracts require the Company to provide electric capacity through

demand reduction to utility customers and require measurement and verification of such capacity on an annual basis in order to

determine final contract consideration for given contract year Contract years typically begin at the end of control season

generally at the end of utilitys summer cooling season that correlates to the end of the utilitys peak demand for electricity and

continue for twelve months thereafter Once participant enrolls in one of the Companys VPC programs the Company installs

intelligent hardware at the participants
location The cost of the installation and the hardware are capitalized and depreciated as cost

of revenue over the remaining term of the contract with the utility which is shorter than the operating life of the equipment The

Company also records telecommunications costs related to the network as cost of revenue The cost of revenue is recognized

contemporaneously
with revenue

The current deferred revenue and deferred cost of revenue as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 are provided below

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

Deferred revenue

VPC contract related
2502 3443

Other
3.3 19 2.447

current deferred revenue
5821 5890

Deferred cost of revenue

VPC contract related
1041 1072

Other
671 643

Current deferred cost of revenue 1712 1715

Revenue Recognition
Commercial Industrial Business

The Company enters into agreements to provide demand response services The demand response programs require the Company

to provide electric capacity through demand reduction to utility end customers when the utility or independent system operator

calls demand response event to curtail electrical usage Demand response revenues are earned based on the Companys ability to

deliver capacity In order to provide capacity the Company manages portfolio of commercial and industrial end users electric

loads Capacity amounts are verified through the results of an actual demand response event or customer initiated demand

response test The Company recognizes revenue and associated cost of revenue in its demand response
services at such time as

the capacity amount is fixed and determinable

The Company records revenue from capacity programs with independent system operators The capacity year
for its primary

capacity program spans
from June lt to May 3lst annually For participation the Company receives cash payments on monthly

basis in the capacity year Participation in the capacity program requires the Company to respond to requests from the system

operator to curtail energy usage during the mandatory performance period of June through September which is the peak demand

season The annual payments for capacity year are recognized at the end of the mandatory performance period once the revenue

is fixed and determinable
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The Company enters into agreements to provide base load capacity Energy efficiency revenues are earned based on the Companys
ability to achieve committed capacity through base load reduction In order to provide capacity the Company delivers and installs

energy efficiency management solutions The base load capacity contracts require the Company to provide electric capacity to utility

customers and include measurement and verification of such capacity in order to determine contract consideration The Company
defers revenue and associated cost of revenue until such time as the capacity amount and therefore the related revenue is fixed and
determinable Once the capacity amount has been verified the revenue is recognized If the revenue is subject to penalty refund or an

ongoing obligation the revenue is deferred until the contingency is resolved and/or the Company has met its performance obligation
Certain contracts contain multiple deliverables or elements which require the Company to assess whether the different elements

qualify for separate accounting The separate deliverables in these arrangements meet the separation criteria Accordingly revenue is

recognized for each element by applying the residual method since there is objective evidence of fair value of only the undelivered
item The amount allocated to the delivered item is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon delivery of the additional

element

Revenue from time-and-materials service contracts and other services are recognized as services are provided Revenue from
certain fixed price contracts are recognized on percentage-of-completion basis which involves the use of estimates If the

Company does not have sufficient basis to measure the
progress towards completion revenue is recognized when the project is

completed or when final acceptance is received from the customer The Company also enters into agreements to provide hosting
services that allow customers to monitor and analyze their electrical usage Revenue from hosting contracts is recognized as the
services are provided generally on recurring monthly basis Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized on straight-

line basis over the life of the contract

Foreign Currency Transactions

The
currency

of the primary economic environment in which the operations of the Company are conducted is the United States Dollar

dollar Accordingly the Company and its subsidiaries use the dollar as their functional currency All exchange gains and losses
denominated in non-dollar currencies are presented on net basis in operating expense in the consolidated statement of operations
when they arise Foreign currency gains for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 were immaterial

Comprehensive Loss

The Company reports total changes in equity resulting from revenues expenses and gains and losses including those that do not
affect the accumulated deficit Accordingly other comprehensive loss includes those amounts relating to unrealized gains and losses
on investment securities classified as available for sale in the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders equity and

comprehensive loss

Marketable Securities

The Company classifies all of its marketable securities as available-for-sale The Company considers all highly liquid interest-earning
securities with maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents Securities with maturities beyond three
months are classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such marketable securities

represent the investment
of cash that is available for current operations These securities are recorded at market value using the specific identification method
unrealized gains and losses excluding other-than-temporary impairments are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in

the financial statements
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The amortized cost and fair value of marketable securities with
gross

unrealized gains and losses as of December 31 2010 and 2009

were as follows

Money market funds

Commercial paper

Corporate debentures/bonds

Total marketable securities

Cash in operating accounts

Total

December 31 2010

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

1657 1657

9395 9395

23982 24 13 23993

35034 24 13 35045

6016 6016

41050 24 13 41061

Cash and

Equivalents ______________ ______________

1657

3598 5797

1998 21995

7253 27792

547 5469

7800 5469 27792

Restricted Marketable

Cash Securities

Money market funds

Commercial paper

Corporate debentures/bonds

Total marketable securities

Cash in operating accounts

Total

December 31 2009

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Cash and Restricted Marketable

Cost Gains Losses Value Equivalents Cash Securities

15622 15622 10406 2216 3000

6142 6142 6142

26249 45 27 26267 1000 25267

48013 45 27 48031 11406 2216 34409

8083 ___________ ___________ 8083 4663 3420

56096 45 27 56114 16069 5636 34409

Realized gains and losses to date have not been material Interest income for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$929 $515 and $1583 respectively

The Company applies fair value hierarchy that requires the use of observable market data when available and prioritizes the inputs

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value in the following categories

Level Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets

Level Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or

similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions

are observable in the market

Level Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market

These unobservable assumptions reflect its own estimates of assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset

or liability

The Companys assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis are generally classified within Level or Level of the fair

value hierarchy The types
of instruments valued based on quoted market prices in active markets include most money market

securities U.S Treasury securities and equity investments Such instruments are generally classified within Level of the fair value

hierarchy The Company invests in money market funds that are traded daily and does not adjust the quoted price for such

instruments

The types of instruments valued based on quoted prices in less active markets broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing

sources with reasonable levels of price transparency include the Companys U.S Agency securities Commercial Paper U.S

Corporate Bonds and certificates of deposit Such instruments are generally classified within Level of the fair value hierarchy The

Company uses consensus pricing which is based on multiple pricing sources to value its fixed income investments

The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Companys marketable securities accounted for at fair value

as of December 31 2010 and 2009 Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is

significant to the fair value measurement
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Money market fluids

Commercial paper

Corporate debentures/bonds

Total

December 31
2010

1657

9395

23993

35045

Money market fluids

Commercial paper

Corporate debentures/bonds

Total

December 31

2009

15622

6142

26267

48031

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other Significant

Markets for Identical Observable Unobservable

Assets
Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

12622 3000

6142

26267

12622 35409

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred Advertising expense was $3503 $4114 and $3889 for the years ended December 31
2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Substantially all advertising costs were incurred to promote the Companys VPC and open market
programs to participants in an effort to acquire electric capacity in fulfillment of certain capacity commitments with utility customers
and independent system operators

Software Development Costs for internal Use

Software costs for internal use of$164 $176 and $516 were capitalized in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively These costs will be
amortized over three-year expected life in accordance with Company policy During the

year ended December 31 2010 2009 and
2008 $293 $209 and $87 respectively was recorded as depreciation expense for internal use software

Software Development Costs to be Sola Leased or Otherwise Marketed

The capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility and ends when the
software is generally available Based upon the Companys product development process technological feasibility is established upon
the completion of working model or detailed program design To date the period between achieving technological feasibility and the

general availability of the related products has been short and software development costs qualifying for capitalization have not been
material Accordingly the Company has not capitalized any software development costs All software development costs are

component of research and development expense

Research and Development Expenses

All research and development costs are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of salaries and benefits

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the
years December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $3327 $10038 and $6876

respectively before income taxes

Segment Reporting

As of December 31 2010 the Company reports through two operating segments the Residential Business segment and the CI
Business segment Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and is

evaluated regularly by the Company in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance The Companys chief

operating decision maker assesses the Companys performance and allocates the Companys resources based on these segments
These segments constitute the Companys two reportable segments

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
Significant

Markets for Identical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

1657

1657

9395

23993

33388
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Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects

of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used

for income tax purposes as well as operating loss capital loss and tax credit carryforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

classified as current or noncurrent based on the classification of the related assets or liabilities for financial reporting or according to

the expected reversal dates of the specific temporary differences if not related to an asset or liability for financial reporting Valuation

allowances are established against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that they will not be realized The Company

recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there

were no accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB issued amendments to the accounting and disclosure for

revenue recognition These amendments effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 early adoption is permitted

modify the criteria for recognizing revenue in multiple element arrangements and the scope
of what constitutes non-software

deliverable The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption on its consolidated financial position and results of

operations

In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update or ASU No 20 10-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements The guidance requires previous fair value hierarchy disclosures to be further

disaggregated by class of assets and liabilities class is often subset of assets or liabilities within line item in the statement of

financial position In addition significant transfers between Levels and of the fair value hierarchy are required to be disclosed

These additional requirements became effective January 2010 for quarterly and annual reporting These amendments did not have

an impact on the consolidated financial resulis as this guidance relates only to additional disclosures

In February 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-09 Subsequent Events Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure

Requirements The update removes the requirement to disclose date through which subsequent events have been evaluated The

update is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15 2010 The change in disclosure did not have material impact

on the Companys financial position results of operation or cash flows

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss
per

share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the

period Diluted net loss per
share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and when dilutive

potential common shares from options restricted stock and warrants using the treasury stock method and from convertible securities

using the if-converted method Because the Company reported net loss for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 all

potential common shares have been excluded from the computation of the dilutive net loss per
share for all periods presented because

the effect would have been antidilutive Such potential common shares consist of the following

Year Ended December 31

20092010 2008

Subordinated debt convertible to comnn stock 1594048 17646

Contingently issuable shares
1945

Unvested restricted stock awards 557776 496589 548511

Outstanding options
2.533.947 1.988400 1.810656

Total 4685771 2484989 2388758

Accounts Receivable net

Billed accounts receivable as of December 31 2010 and 2009 was $14433 and $8119 respectively net of the allowance for doubtful

accounts

Unbilled accounts receivable as of December 31 2010 and 2009 was $17992 and $11873 respectively Unbilled accounts receivable

mainly reflect amounts that the Company will invoice in the next twelve months pursuant to the Companys contractual right to make

future billings under the Residential Business segments VPC and turnkey contracts as well as amounts related to the primary capacity

program in which the Company receives monthly payments throughout the program year
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Inventory net

Inventory as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

Raw materials and supplies

Finished goods

Inventory net

Property and Equipment net

Property and equipment as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

638 689

8543 5916

9181 $___________

Load control equipment

Computer hardware and software

Office furniture automobiles and other equipulent

Leasehold improvements

Construction in progress

Property and equipment

Aecuimilated depreciation

Property and equipment net

Balance as of December 31 2008

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

Goodwill net

Balance as of December 31 2009

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

Goodwill net

Balance as of December31 2010

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

Goodwill net

Estimated

Useful Life December31 December31

inyears 2010 2009

Contract term 49423 43679

5723 3625

5-7 2014 2259

1839 1795

2425

61424 51358

38944 33018
22480 18340

Residential CI
Business Business Total

Lease term

N/A

Depreciation expense in respect of property and equipment was $6276 $17689 and $5004 for the years ended December 31 20102009 and 2008 respectively Of such amounts $5256 $16550 and $4126 were included in cost of revenue and $1020 $1139 and$878 were included in general and administrative
expenses for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Goodwill and Intangible Assets net

Changes in the carrying amount of the Companys consolidated goodwill during the
years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

consisted of the
following

499 75424

67744
49 7680

499 75424

67744
499 7620

75923

67744
81 79

75923

67744k

8179

499 75424 75923

75424J 75424k
$_ $_ 499
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The Companys consolidated intangible assets net as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

Estimated As of December31 2010

Useful Life Gross Accumulated Net

years Amount Amortization Amount

Trade names and trademarks 1def1nite 2758 2758

Non-compete agreements 456 456

Acquired tecbno1oy 3-8 5749 3810 1939

Patents 4-20 400 180 220

Customer relationships and contracts 5-10 13646 11989 1657

Total 23009 19193 3816

Estimated As ofDecember3l 2009

Useful Life Gross Accumulated Net

in years Amount Amortization Amount

Trade nans and trademarks 1definit 2758 2758

Non-compete agreements 456 142 314

Acquired technology 3-8 5685 2436 3249

Patents 4-14 401 162 239

Custonr relationships and contracts 5-10 13646 8669 4977

Total 22946 14167 8779

Total estimated amortization expense for all intangible assets for the next five
years

and thereafter is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011 1233

2012 537

2013 451

2014 415

2015 408

Thereafter
772

Impairment Charges Year Ended December 31 2010

Based on the current valuations of the Energy Efficiency reporting unit in the CI Business segment the Company determined

that the related goodwill and intangible assets carrying value was greater than the fair value The Company recorded $9871 in

non-cash impairment charges of goodwill and certain intangible assets in the fourth quarter of 2010 as presented and discussed

below

Impairment

Charges

Goodwill 7680

Noncompete agreements
236

Contract acquisition
1955

Total 9871
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Goodwill

The Company entered into an amendment with certain customer during the fourth quarter of 2010 that decreased committed capacity
in the Energy Efficiency reporting unit in the CI Business segment thereby reducing future cash flows The decline in future cash

flows impacted the fair value of the reporting unit causing its carrying value to exceed its fair value when the Company performed its

impairment assessment The valuation for the goodwill was performed using discounted cash flow income approach to valuing the

business with 13.1% discount rate The fair value of the reporting unit was determined using Level inputs The valuation resulted

in an impairment of goodwill related to the CI Business segment of $7680 This charge is included in the line item Impairment

charges of the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2010 No further goodwill balance

remains related to the Energy Efficiency reporting unit

The Company also performed its annual impairment test on the remaining $499 of goodwill as of December 31 2010 and the results

of the tests indicated no additional impairment

Other intangible assets

Due to the decreased future cash flows as result of the contract amendment the Company also evaluated the related

intangible assets for impairment Using the undiscounted cash flows from the Energy Efficiency reporting unit the Company
compared fair value using Level inputs to carrying value noting that the carrying value exceeded fair value of the reporting
units intangible assets Based on the analysis the Company fully impaired the non-compete agreements and the contract

acquisition intangible assets resulting in $2191 charge during the fourth
quarter of 2010 as presented in the line item

Impairment charges of the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the
year ended December 31 2010

As result of the impairment the Company reversed deferred tax liability of $61 associated with the Energy Efficiency

reporting units intangible assets The impact of the reversal resulted in an income tax benefit recorded in the year ended

December 31 2010

Impairment Charges Year Ended December 31 2008

During the third quarter of 2008 the Company reassessed the outlook for the CI Business segment and evaluated the potential

impairment of the goodwill and other intangible assets of Enerwise These interim impairment assessments were triggered by
rule change in certain market effected in 2008 that reduced the price the Company receives under its economic or voluntary
demand response programs for commercial and industrial consumers The Company performed valuations and reviewed the

Enerwise trade name customer relationship and goodwill balances for impairment Based on the results of these assessments the

Company recorded $75432 in non-cash impairment charges of goodwill and certain intangible assets in the third quarter of 2008
as presented and discussed below

Impairment

Charges
ioodwill 67744
Trade name 2.758

Customer relationships 4930
Total

75.432

Goodwill

In the CI Business segment rule change for economic demand response programs in certain market during the third quarter
caused decline in the projected operating results for the remainder of 2008 and future periods Based on the reduction of projected

operating results in current and future periods the Company determined that an interim impairment test of goodwill was required The
valuation for the goodwill was performed using discounted cash flow income approach to valuing the business using 19.5%

discount rate The valuation resulted in non-cash impairment of goodwill related to the Commercial Industrial Business segment
of $67744 to reflect the carrying value in excess of the fair value This charge is included in the line item Impairment charges of the

Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2008 The Company performed its annual

impairment test as of December 1st and the results of the tests performed on December 31 2008 indicated no additional impairment
of goodwill
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Indefinite-lived intangible assets

As part of the reorganization announced on September 12 2008 the Company made the decision to no longer use the

Enerwise trade name Accordingly the Company fully impaired the Enerwise trade name by recording $2758 non-cash

impairment charge during the third quarter of 2008 This charge is included in the line item Impairment charges of the

Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2008

As result of the impairment the Company reversed deferred tax liability of$l043 associated with the Enerwise trade

name The impact of the reversal resulted in an income tax benefit recorded in the
year

ended December 31 2008

Other intangible assets

Contemporaneous with the Companys 2008 interim goodwill impairment test the Company also performed an analysis of

the potential impairment and reassessed other identified intangible assets within the Commercial Industrial Business

segment The impairment analysis for the customer relationships was performed using an excess earnings income approach to

valuing the asset using 19.5% discount rate As result the Company recorded non-cash impairment charge of $4930 to

reduce the customer relationship carrying value to the calculated fair value This charge is included in the line item

Impairment charges of the Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2008

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

Professional fees 766 917

Capacity supply agreement 13.374 7.943

Other 3235 2714

Total accrued expenses
17375 11.574

Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Payroll bonus and benefits 4085 3107

Severance retirement obligations
179 895

Liquidating darmges 812 765

Other 2886 881

Total other current liabilities 7962 5648

10 Long-Term Debt

On November 2008 Comverge Inc and all its wholly-owned subsidiaries excluding Alternative Energy Resources Inc entered

into $25000 secured revolving credit and term loan facility or the Facility with Silicon Valley Bank or the Lender The Facility

provided $10000 revolver the Revolver Facility for borrowings to fund working capital and other corporate purposes
and

$15000 term loan the Term Loan Facility to repay maturing convertible notes on or before April 12009 On February 2010

Comverge Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries Enerwise Global Technologies Inc Comverge Giants LLC Public Energy

Solutions LLC Public Energy Solutions NY LLC Clean Power Markets Inc and Alternative Energy Resources Inc entered into

second amendment to its existing credit and term loan facility with Silicon Valley Bank The second amendment increased the

revolver loan by an additional $20000 bringing the total revolver loan to $30000 for borrowings to fund general working capital and

other corporate purposes and issuances of letters of credit The second amendment also added Alternative Energy Resources Inc

wholly owned subsidiary of Comverge as borrower and extended the term of the revolver facility by one year to December 2012

In connection with the extension of the term of the credit facility commitment fee of$lOO was paid on February 2010 and

additional commitment fees of $75 are payable on each of February 2011 and February 2012 The interest on revolving loans

under the amended facility accrues at either rate per annum equal to the greater of the Prime Rate or 4% plus the Prime Rate

Advance Margin or rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Advance Rate plus the LIBOR Rate Advance Margin as such terms are

defined in the amended facility agreement The second amendment also sets forth certain financial ratios to be maintained by the

borrowers on consolidated basis On November 23 2010 Comverge Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries entered in fourth

amendment to its facility with SVB The fourth amendment modified the availability provisions and financial covenants under the
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agreement and also modified certain definitions to reflect the subordinated convertible loan agreement with Partners for Growth Ill
L.P The obligations under the amended facility are secured by all assets of Comverge and its other borrower subsidiaries All other
terms and conditions of the credit facility remain the same and in full force and effect The Term Loan Facility became payable over
57 months beginning April 12009 and matures on December 31 2013 The Facility contains

customary terms and conditions for
credit facilities of this type including restrictions on the Companys ability to incur additional indebtedness create liens enter into
transactions with affiliates transfer assets pay dividends or make distributions on or repurchase Comverge Inc stock consolidate
or merge with other entities or suffer change in control In addition the Company is required to meet certain financial covenants
customary with this

type of agreement including maintaining minimum specified tangible net worth and minimum specified ratio
of current assets to current liabilities The Facility contains customary events of default including payment defaults breaches of
representations breaches of affirmative or negative covenants cross defaults to other material indebtedness bankruptcy and failure to

discharge certain judgments If default occurs and is not cured within any applicable cure period or is not waived the Companys
obligations under the Facility may be accelerated As of December 31 2010 the Company had $18081 of outstanding letters of
credit from the revolver loan

In January 2007 AER entered into credit agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation or GECC to provide it with up to
$40000 of borrowings to fund capital expenditures related to VPC contracts The GECC credit agreement would expire in 2014 at
which time all outstanding borrowings would become due and payable Subject to the limitations described below this credit

agreement had term loan facility up to $37000 and letter of credit sublimit of $3000 for total availability of $40000 Borrowings
under the GECC credit agreement bore interest at either prime plus 1.5% or LIBOR plus 2.75% per annum at our election
Borrowings under this credit

agreement were collateralized by all of AERs assets including its intellectual
property and could be

requested from time to time during the first three years of the agreement for up to 90% of capital expenditures incurred under VPC
contract The GECC credit agreement contained customary financial and restrictive covenants including maintenance of minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio minimum interest coverage ratio maximum senior leverage ratio and prohibition on the payment of
dividends On December 2009 the Company repaid all outstanding indebtedness under the credit agreement and terminated the
facility The repayment amount of $24691 included the entire $23037 of

then-outstanding borrowings approximately $1538
in cash collateral to be held by the lenders agent for purposes of reimbursement of draws under and satisfying AERs obligations
relating to outstanding letters of credit $50 prepayment fee and approximately $66 for one months accrued interest and
unused facility fees As result of the termination the Company recognized $754 of interest

expense during the year ended
December 31 2009 due to the write-off of the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs

On November 2010 Comverge Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into five-year $15000 subordinated convertible
loan agreement with Partners For Growth Ill L.P The loan will be used to fund general working capital and other corporate
purposes The loan is interest only payable monthly and accrues at rate per annum equal to the floating Prime Rate plus 2.50%
currently 5.75% in total as such terms are defined in the loan agreement The agreement contains customary events of default
including for payment defaults breaches of representations breaches of affirmative or negative covenants cross defaults to other
material indebtedness bankruptcy and failure to discharge certain judgments If default occurs and is not cured within any
applicable cure period or is not waived our obligations under the loan agreement may be accelerated The agreement also sets forth

quarterly revenue targets to be maintained by the borrowers on consolidated basis If the revenue targets are not maintained the
lender has the right but not the obligation to begin requiring quarterly repayments of the loan balance over the remaining term of the
loan Such payments would be front-loaded such that 45% of the loan balance would be due over the first twelve months after the
lenders election The obligations under the loan agreement are secured by all assets of Comverge and its subsidiaries The lender
may convert the note into up to 1594048 shares of Comverge common stock at $9.41 per share The Company may convert the note
at the market price per share on the date of election discounted by certain percentage The Companys call option qualifies as

contingent beneficial conversion feature which would be recorded if and when the contingent event occurs The loan provides at the
borrowers option the ability to borrow up to an additional $5000 in the first 36 months convertible into common stock at
conversion price based upon the stock price at the time of the additional borrowing however at no time may the amount of existing
unconverted borrowings exceed $15000 In connection with the loan commitment fee of $300 was paid on November
2010 There are no additional commitment fees
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Long-term debt as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

Security and loan agreement with U.S bank collateralized by all assets of

Comverge Inc and its subsidiaries maturing in December 2013 interest payable

at variable rate 3.26% and 3.28% at December 31 2010 and 2009 9750 12750

Subordinated convertible loan agreement with Partners for Growth secured by all

assets of Comverge Inc and its subsidiaries maturing in November 2015

interest payable at variable rate 5.75% at December 31 2010 15000 NA

Total debt 24750 12750

Less Current portion of long-term debt 3000 3000
Total long-term debt 21750 9750

11 Income Taxes

The income tax provision benefit consists of the following

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Federal income taxat statutory federal rate 34.0 34.0 34.0

State income taxexpense benefit net of federal benefit 0.1 0.1

Goodwill impairment 23.3

Other 0.1 0.4 0.5

Valuation allowance 32.8 35.0 9.4

Effective tax rate 1.1 0.7 0.9

reconciliation of income tax expense benefit at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes as reflected in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Current

U.S Federal

State and local 48 19 86
Total 48 19 86

Deferred

U.S Federal 346 187 741

State and local 41 13 74
Total 387 200 815

Provision forincome taxes 339 219 901

Deferred tax assets liabilities consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards 37243 30674

Other 16283 12839

Ioss deferred income taxassets 53526 43513

Less valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets 53526 43415

Net deferred income tax assets 98

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible amortthttion 155 641

Other

Net deferred income taxliabilities 155 543
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As of December 31 2010 the company had net deferred tax liability of$155 related to amortization of tax deductible goodwill

Deferred tax assets are required to be reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of

deferred tax asset will not be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future

taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible In making this determination the Company
considers all available positive and negative evidence affecting specific deferred tax assets including the Companys past and

anticipated future performance the reversal of deferred tax liabilities the length of carry-back and carry-forward periods and the

implementation of tax planning strategies Objective positive evidence is necessary to support conclusion that valuation allowance

is not needed for all or portion of deferred tax assets For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company has determined that

based on all available evidence valuation allowance of $53526 is appropriate The Companys valuation allowance for the
year

ended December 31 2009 was $43415 The Companys cumulative losses in recent years provided the significant negative evidence

used in making the determinations

Deferred tax assets relating to the tax benefits of employee stock option grants have been reduced to reflect exercises through the year
ended December 31 2010 Certain exercises resulted in tax deductions in excess of previously recorded tax benefits The Companys
net operating carryforwards referenced below at December 31 2010 include $20623 of income tax deductions in excess of previously
recorded tax benefits Although these additional tax deductions are reflected in net operating loss carryforwards referenced below the

tax benefit will not be recognized until they reduce taxes payable Accordingly since the tax benefit does not reduce the Companys
current taxes payable in 2010 these tax benefits are not reflected in the Companys deferred tax assets presented above The tax

benefit of these excess deductions will be reflected as credit to additional paid-in capital when recognized

The Company has federal state and foreign net operating losses of approximately $120466 $75519 and $3849 respectively as of

December 31 2010 The Federal net operating loss carryforwards begin expiring in 2019 and state net operating loss carryforwards

began expiring in 2009 The foreign net operating losses do not expire The foreign net operating losses do not expire The above net

operating losses reflect limitation set forth by section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code due to prior ownership changes

As of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 the Company had determined no liabilities for uncertain tax positions should be

recorded The tax years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 remain open for audit based on the statute of limitations

12 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

Rental lease expenses for the years ended December 31 20102009 and 2008 were $2242 $2175 and $1603 respectively The

Company mainly incurs rent expense due to office space leased for both operations and administrative functions These lease

agreements range in length from one year to eight years Estimated future minimum rental payments and lease payments on
noncancelable operating leases as of December 31 2010 were as follows

Year Ended December 31

26242011

1.738
2012

9382013

2014

4462015

Thereafter 649

Employee Retirement Savings Plan

The Company sponsors tax deferred retirement savings plan that permits eligible U.S employees to contribute varying percentages
of their compensation up to the limit allowed by the Internal Revenue Service This plan also provides for discretionary Company
contributions No discretionary contributions were made for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 or 2008

Licensing Agreements

The Company is obligated to pay royalties to the licensor for each unit sold that incorporates certain licensed technology under two

separate licensing agreements During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company paid $105 During the year ended
December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company paid no royalties under the agreement
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Guarantees

The Company typically grants customers limited warranty that guarantees that its products will substantially conform to current

specifications for one year
related to software and hardware products from the delivery date The Company also indemnifies its

customers from third-party claims relating to the intended use of its products Standard software license agreements contain

indemnification clauses Pursuant to these clauses the Company indemnifies and agrees to pay any judgment or settlement relating to

claim As of December 31 2010 and 2009 we had $620 and $82 recorded in accrued warranty liability

The Company has guaranteed the electrical capacity it has committed to deliver pursuant to certain long-term contracts Such

guarantees may be secured by cash letters of credit performance bonds or third-party guarantees Performance guarantees during the

year ended December 31 2010 and 2009 were $19774 and $7512 respectively

Legal Proceedings

We assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes related to legal matters as well as ranges
of probable losses

determination of the amount of the liability required if any for these contingencies is made after an analysis of each known issue In

accordance with applicable accounting guidance liability is recorded and charged to operating expense
when we determine that

loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated Additionally we disclose contingencies for which material loss is

reasonably possible but not probable As litigation or regulatory matter develops we monitor the matter for further developments

that could affect the amount previously accrued if any and update such amount accrued or disclosures previously provided as

appropriate As of December 31 2010 there were no material contingencies requiring accrual or disclosure

On October 12 2010 civil action complaint was filed against the Company in the United States District Court for the Western

District of Kentucky Case No 3l0-CV-00638 by Louisville Gas Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company

Plaintiffs The Plaintiffs have alleged breach of warranty claim relating to certain thermostats which they claim are defective

manufactured by White-Rodgers The relief sought by Plaintiffs includes an unspecified amount of damages pre and post judgment

interest and costs We intend to defend this claim vigorously

On November 22 2010 civil action complaint was filed against the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern

District of Kentucky Case No 5l0-CV-00398 by East Kentucky Power Cooperative Inc EKPC EKPC alleged breach of

warranty claim relating to certain thermostats which they claim are defective manufactured by White-Rodgers We intend to defend

this claim vigorously At this time our management cannot estimate with reasonable certainty the ultimate disposition of these

lawsuits and there can be no assurance that we will not sustain material liability as result of or related to these lawsuits

In December 2010 NV Energy Plaintiff initiated claim against the Company with the American Arbitration Association for

contract dispute arising out of the Companys delivered demand response program and in relation to the White-Rodgers thermostat in

Nevada and ii lawsuit in the U.S District Court of Nevada 210-cv-02094-GMN-RJJ against the Company against the Company

seeking declaration that NV Energy did not violate Non-Disclosure Agreement with the Company by disclosing confidential

andlor trade secret information in connection with our work on NV Energys Advanced Service Delivery ASD project Plaintiff

further contends that it does not owe us for service performed on the ASD project The Company has counter-sued in the proceedings

to recover damages stemming from Plaintiffs tortious conduct breach of contract conversion and misappropriation of trade secrets

among other claims and will vigorously defend and pursue its claims in the actions and countersuits At this time we cannot predict

with reasonable certainty the ultimate disposition of these matters and there can be no assurance that we will not sustain material

liability as result of such matters

13 Stockholders Equity

Public Offerings

In November 2009 the Company completed third public offering of 2760000 shares of common stock Aggregate proceeds from

the offering were $27033 after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses

Common Stock

Holders of the Companys common stock are entitled to dividends if and when declared by the Board of Directors The holders of

common stock are entitled to vote upon all matters submitted to vote of holders of common stock of the Company and shall be

entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held

69



Treasury Stock

Treasury stock represents shares surrendered by employees to exercise stock options and to satisf tax withholding obligations on
vested restricted stock and stock option exercises pursuant to the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended Treasury stock is

carried at the market value on the date of vesting or exercise

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 15000000 shares of preferred stock As of December 31 2010 no preferred stock was issued or

outstanding The rights preferences and provisions would be determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors at the time of

issuance

Stock Warrants

In June 2005 in conjunction with convertible debt financing the Company issued warrant to the lender equal to the outstanding

principal balance converted to Series Preferred based on price of $7.24 per share On March 14 2008 the holder of the then-

outstanding subordinated convertible debt converted the remaining outstanding balance of subordinated convertible debt for shares of

common stock and terminated the loan and security agreement The non-detachable warrant related thereto terminated pursuant to its

terms

In June 2010 the Company entered into joint venture master agreement with Projects International Inc or Projects International to

form strategic alliance arrangement under which the parties will identify and jointly pursue opportunities for demand response smart

grid and
energy efficiency projects in certain countries or geographical regions The Company also entered into warrant agreement

with Projects International pursuant to which up to 1200000 shares of Comverge common stock may be purchased by Projects
International for $16.24 per share upon the attainment of defined performance metrics in the warrant agreement The warrant

agreement provides that warrants will be earned if Projects International is successful during the first three
years of the master

agreement in securing qualifying contract resulting in minimum of 100 megawatts of delivered load reduction over the term of the

contract and in increments of 120000 shares for every 100 megawatts of delivered load reduction contracts in the
aggregate above

the minimum performance metric up to maximum of 1000 megawatts No warrants under the agreement have been issued as of

December 31 2010 and no amounts have been recorded in the results of operations for the year ended December 31 2010

14 Stock-Based Compensation

The Companys Amended and Restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan or 2006 LTIP was approved by the Companys shareholders

in May 2010 and provides for the granting of stock-based incentive awards to eligible Company employees and directors and to other

non-employee service providers including options to purchase the Companys common stock and restricted stock awards at not less

than the fair value of the Companys common stock on the grant date and for term of not greater than seven years Awards are

granted with service vesting requirements performance vesting conditions market vesting conditions or combination thereof

Subject to adjustment as defined in the 2006 LTIP the aggregate number of shares available for issuance is 7556036 Outstanding
stock-based incentive awards expire between five and ten years from the date of grant and generally vest over one to four-year

period from the date of grant As of December 31 2010 1928909 shares were available for grant under the 2006 LTIP The expense
related to stock-based incentive awards recognized for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $3327 $10038 and

$6876

summary of the Companys stock option activity for the
year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively is presented

below

2010 2009 2008

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Awrage Number of Arage Number of Awrage

Options Exercise Range of Options Exercise Options Exercise

in Shares Price Exercise Prices in Shares Price in Shares Price

Outstanding at beg of year 1988400 12.63 $0.58-$34.23 1.810656 14.23 1799852 13.44

Granted 1.024.293 9.71 56.80-511.52 684.970 6.07 418.823 12.76

Exercised 137756 1.74 50.58-57.56 t3104471 3.63 271732 1.43

Cancelled 149750 22.03 $3.76-S34.23 28.131 22.33 1.925 21.41

Forfeited 191240 8.16 $3.76-$l8.00 168648 18.11 134362 24.90

Outstanding at end ofycar 2.533.947 11.82 0.58-S34.23 1988.400 12.63 l.8l0.6S6 14.23

Exercisable at end of year 1442791 13.73 $0.58-$34.23 1.408782 14.46 773853 12.45
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As of December 31 2010 outstanding and exercisable options had no intrinsic value in the aggregate
The intrinsic value of

outstanding options approximates the intrinsic value of options expected to vest

Outstanding as of December 31 2010 Exercisable as of December 31 2010

Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average Average

Remaining Exercise Remaining Exercise

Number Contractual Price per Number Contractual Price per

Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Share Exercisable Life Share

InShares InYears hiShares In Years

$0.58- $0.82 193642 1.2 0.73 193.642 1.2 0.73

S2.40-S3.99 14.038 1.4 2.84 14.038 1.4 2.84

$4.00 $7.99 322299 5.0 4.98 140749 4.0 4.37

58.00-510.33 815.797 6.0 9.65 169.426 5.2 9.65

510.34-514.09 576.552 4.5 11.55 316223 3.4 12.01

S14.l0-$17.99 1.875 2.0 14.10 1875 2.0 14.10

$18.00-$23.53 420348 2.8 18.05 417440 2.8 18.05

$23.54 15547 3.0 23.54 15.547 3.0 23.54

$23.55- $36.00 173849 2.8 32.54 173.851 2.8 32.54

2.533.947 4.4 11.82 1.442.791 3.1 13.73

Of the stock options outstanding as of December 31 2010 2482206 options were held by employees and 51741 options were held

by members or former members of the Board of Directors During the year
ended December 31 2010 proceeds received from the

exercise of 137756 options were $239 The intrinsic value of options exercised during December 31 2010 was approximately $1014

For options
with performance and/or service conditions only the Company utilized the Black-Scholes option pricing model to

estimate fair value of options issued utilizing the following assumptions weighted averages based on grants during the period

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rate
2.03 1.91 2.61

Eected term ofoptions in years
4.6 4.6 4.5

Feeted annual volatility
70 70 70

Lxpected dividend yield
00

The weighted average grant date fair value for option grants awarded during the year was $5.50 $3.66 and $7.23 for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Volatility measures the amount that stock price has fluctuated or is expected to

fluctuate during period The Company determines volatility based on an analysis of comparable public companies The risk-free

interest rate is the rate available as of the option date on zero-coupon U.S government issues with remaining term equal to the

expected life of the option Because it does not have sufficient history to estimate the expected term the Company uses the

simplified method for estimating expected term The simplified method is based on vesting-tranches and the contractual life of each

grant The Company has not paid dividends in the past and does not plan to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future The Company

estimates its forfeiture rate of unvested stock awards based on historical experience

On November 2009 the Companys board of directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of 192053 service-based stock

options with exercise prices equal to or greater than $14.10 for certain of its employees Restricted stock stock options with vesting

based on performance and stock options held by executive officers and directors were not accelerated As result of the acceleration

an aggregate
of 192053 unvested stock options with exercise prices ranging from $14.10 to $34.23 became immediately exercisable

The weighted average
exercise price of the options that were accelerated was $23.85 The accelerated options would have vested from

time to time through February 2012 All other terms and conditions applicable to the accelerated stock option grants including the

exercise price number of shares and term remain unchanged The incremental noncash stock based compensation expense

recognized in the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of the acceleration was $2705
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summary of the Companys restricted stock award activity for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 is presented
below

2010 2009

Weighted Weighted

2008

Weighted

Awrage

Grant Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares Per Share
Shares

Unvested at beginning ofyear 496589 9.28 548511 10.80 96022 24.04
Granted 285505 9.78 164505 7.17 570.193 9.87
Vested 83516 13.89 .146201 12.01 46673 20.93
Cancelled NA NA NA
Foiited 140802 9.03 70226 10.04 71031 15.34
Unvested at end of year 557776 8.91 496589 9.28 548511 10.80

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company granted 285505 restricted stock awards Of these awards 6833 shares were
granted with performance conditions based on achieving an EBITDA target for the year ended December 31 2010 with the remaining
awards granted with service conditions During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company granted 164505 restricted stock
awards Of these awards 8667 shares were granted with performance conditions based on achieving an EBITDA target for the

yearended December 31 2009 with the remaining awards granted with service conditions During the year ended December 31 2008 the

Company granted 570193 restricted stock awards Of these awards 525000 shares were granted with service and market conditions
For awards with market conditions the Company utilized lattice model to estimate the award fair value and the derived service
period

Each of the grants with service and market conditions include three components performance incentive representing 60% of the
total value of each grant that measures the performance of Comverge stock against the performance of peer group over three-

year period retention incentive representing 20% of the total value of each grant to encourage recipients to continue their
service with Comverge and stock price incentive representing 20% of the total value of each grant tied to the Companys stock
price achieving certain target prices over time the Price Grant The portion of recipients grant represented by the Price Grant
will vest in equal increments upon Comverge sustaining stock price equal to or greater than $30 $35 $40 and $45 per share each
for separate continuous 30-day period prior to February 12 2012

For awards with service conditions including graded vesting if such award is granted to an employee the Company recognizes stock-
based compensation expense on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award For awards with
performance conditions the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the performance period based on assessed
probability of performance achievement For awards with market conditions the Company recognizes stock-based compensation over
the derived service period The weighted average period in which the Company expects to recognize the compensation expense for

unvested awards is 1.9 years The remaining amount of $8038 to be recognized as compensation expense for unvested awards as of
December 31 2010 is presented below

Year Ended December 31
2011

2012
3472

2013
2.473

2014
1702

2015
391

Thereafter

Mr Robert Chiste retired from the Company as Chairman of the Board of Directors President and Chief Executive Officer
effective June 19 2009 and resigned from the Companys Board effective June 20 2009 In connection with his retirement Mr
Chiste and the Company entered into retirement agreement dated July 17 2009 pursuant to which related to equity awards all

unvested options held by Mr Chiste as of June 19 2009 vest and became exercisable in full and remain exercisable for the lesser of
their remaining terms or until March 31 2013 and all restricted stock grants and any other equity-based awards held by Mr Chiste as
of June 19 2009 vest and became exercisable in full As result the Company recorded an expense of $2786 in non-cash stock-based
compensation expense during the third quarter of 2009

Awrage

Grant Date

Number of Fair Value

Per Share

Awrage
Grant Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares Per Share
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15 Segment Information

As of December 31 2010 the Company had two reportable segments the Residential Business segment and the Commercial

Industrial or CI Business segment The Residential Business segment sells intelligent energy management networks to utility

customers for use in programs with residential and small commercial end-use participants
These solutions include intelligent

hardware our InteIIiSOURCE software formerly known as Apollo and services such as installation marketing and program

management If the customer elects to own the intelligent energy management network the Company refers to the program as

turnkey program If the Company provides fully-outsourced pay-for-performance agreement providing capacity or energy where it

typically owns the intelligent energy management network the Company refers to the program as Virtual Peaking Capacity or VPC

program The VPC programs are pay-for-performance
in that the Company is only paid for capacity that it provides as determined by

measurement and verification process with its customers The CI Business segment provides intelligent energy management

solutions to utilities and independent system operators
that are managing programs or auctions for large CI consumers These

solutions are delivered through the management of megawatts for these CI consumers in open markets and VPC programs as well as

through the completion of energy efficiency projects

Management has three primary measures of segment performance revenue gross profit and operating income Substantially all of our

revenues are generated with domestic customers For VPC programs in the Residential Business segment cost of revenue is based on

operating costs of the demand response networks primarily telecommunications costs related to the network and depreciation
of the

assets capitalized
in building the demand response

network For turnkey programs and other sales product and service cost of revenue

includes materials labor and overhead In the CI Business segment cost of revenue includes participant payments for the VPC and

open market programs as well as materials labor and overhead for the energy efficiency programs Operating expenses directly

associated with each operating segment include sales marketing product development amortization of intangible assets and certain

administrative expenses

The Company does not allocate assets and liabilities to its operating segments Operating expenses not directly associated with an

operating segment are classified as Corporate Unallocated Costs Corporate
Unallocated Costs include support group compensation

travel professional fees and marketing activities All inter-operating segment revenues were eliminated in consolidation

In prior periods the Company reported the results of operations
in three segments the Utility Products Services segment the

Residential Business segment and the CI Business segment For the year
ended December 31 2010 the Utility Products Services

segment is presented as part of the Residential Business segment The results of our energy efficiency programs were previously

reported in the Residential Business segment For the year
ended December 31 2010 the energy efficiency programs are reported as

part of the CI Business segment Accordingly the results of operations have been reclassified for the years ended December 31

2009 and 2008 to conform to the presentation for the year
ended December 31 2010

The following tables show operating results for each of the Companys operating segments
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December 31 2010

Corporate

Residential CI Unallocated

Business Business Costs Total

Revenue

Product 23152 23152
Service 44453 51784 96237

Total revenue 67605 51784 119389
Cost of revenue

Product 17662 17662
Service 22056 34820 56876

Total cost ofrevenue 39718 34820 74538
Gross profit 27887 16964 44851

Operating eqenses

General and admmistrative expenses 16843 4842 17677 39362

Maiteting and selling eqenses 6831 7659 3541 18031
Research and development expenses 6279 6279
Anritization of intangible assets 2128 16 2144
Impairment charges 9871 9871

Operating loss 2066 7536 21234 30836
Other/interest expense income net 12 871 854

Loss before income tas 2054 7531 22105 31690

December 31 2009

Corporate

Residential CI Unallocated

Business Business Costs Total

Revenue

Product 20732 20732
Service 39764 38348 78112

Total revenue 60496 38348 98844
Cost of revenue

Product 12912 12912
Service 25569 27167 52736

Total cost of revenue 38481 27167 65648
Gross profit 22015 11181 33196
Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses 13274 5894 18613 37781
Marketing and selling expenses 8874 5966 2897 17737
Research and development expenses 4878 4878
Amortization of intangible assets 2191 18 2209

Operating loss 5011 2870 21528 29409
Other/interest expense income net 1657 388 2038
Loss before income taxes 6668 2863 21916 31447
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December 31 2008

Corporate

Residential CI Unallocated

Business Business Costs Total

Revenue

Product 17890 17890

Service 27151 32197 59348

Total revenue 45041 32197 77238

Cost of revenue

Product
11087 11087

Service 9035 23213 32248

Total cost of revenue
20122 23213 43335

Gross profit
24919 8984 33903

Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses
16234 6428 11801 34463

Marketing and selling expenses
7929 5005 2804 15738

Research and development expenses
1137 1137

Amortization of intangible assets 2421 18 2439

Impairment charges
75432 75432

Operating loss 381 80302 14623 95306

Other/interest expense income net 811 36 1074 299

Loss before income taxes 1192 80266 13549 95007

16 Related Party Transactions

During the year ended December 31 2009 Comverge and Tangent Energy Solutions privately-held company have non-exclusive

referral agreement whereby the Company would provide demand response services to Tangent and its customers Mr Scott Ungerer

director of the Company also serves on the board of directors of Tangent Energy Solutions and is the managing director of EnerTech

Capital Funds beneficial owner of Comverge common stock EnerTech currently is majority owner of Tangent Energy Solutions

No services were provided and no payments were made under the agreement during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

17 Quarterly Financial Information Unaudited

The following table illustrates selected unaudited consolidated quarterly statement of operations data for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 In our opinion this unaudited information has been prepared on substantially the same basis as the

consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and includes all adjustments consisting of

normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the unaudited consolidated quarterly data The unaudited consolidated

quarterly data should be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K The results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period
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Quarter ended in 2010

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue

Product 5461 5294 5798 6599
Service 7920 11753 45937 30627

Total 13381 17047 51735 37226
Cost of revenue

Product 3624 4382 4588 5068
Service 5042 7308 30928 13598

Total cost of revu 86$ 1690 35516 18666
Gross profit 4715 5357 16219 18560
Operating expensea

General and administrative expenses 8098 9214 10496 11554Takengftipng 4778 4066 4634 4553
Research and development expenses 1365 1543 1664 1707

536 536 536 536
Impairment charges

9871
Operatingloss t062 10002 1111 9661
Interest and other expense net 62 291 214 287

LsbefinoÆx4 10124 10293 1325 9948
Provision benefit for income taxes 60 55 55 5091xos 10348 1380 9439

Net loss
per share basic and diluind 0.4j 0.42 0.06 0.38

Net loss for the fourth quarter of 2010 included non-recurring impairment charges of $9260 net of tax benefit Refer to note for

further discussion

Quarter ended in 2009

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue

Product 4836 5077 6263 4556
Service 6744 8188 26932 36248

Total revenie 11580 13265 33195 40804
Cost of revenue

Producl 3104 2982 3793 3033
Service 4058 4445 19948 24285

Tota1costofreveue 7162 7427 23741 27318
Gross profit 4418 5838 9454 13486
Operathig expenses

General and administrative expenses 7889 8101 12419 9372
Marketing an4 se1ling enses 3759 4683 4340 4955
Research and development expenses 1116 1209 1158 1395
Aniortizationofintang1asseta 552 552 553 552

Operating loss 8898 8707 9016 2788
Inerestandotherexpensenct 195 369 376 1098
Loss before income taxes 9093 9076 9392 3886
Provision for Mcon taxes 42 65 52 60
Net loss 9135 9141 9444 3946

Net loss per share basic and diluted 0.43 0.43 0.44 0.17
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Net loss for the fourth quarter of 2009 included non-recurring expenses
of $3459 consisting of $2705 for the acceleration of the

vesting of 192053 service-based stock options with exercise prices equal to or greater than $14.10 for certain of its employees and

$754 of interest expense for the write-off of the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs related to the GECC debt
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Schedule II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Deducted from asset accounts

Year ended December 31 2008

Allowance on doubtilil accotmts

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

Valuation allowance on net defened tax assots

Total

Deducted from asset accounts

Year ended December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

Valuation allowance on net deferrod tax asseta

Total

Deducted from asset accounts

Year ended December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtiW accounts

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

Valuation allowance on not deferred tax assets

Total

Additions Additions Balance at

Charged to Costs Charged to End of

and Expenses Other Accounts Deductions Period

213$
149 65 16 198

2147 10377 ___________ 31864
21960 278 10377 59 32556

369 210 1142 1721
188 316 38 466

43415 10111 ___________ 53526
43972 526 11253 38 55713

Balance at

Beginning

Descrintion of Period

324 43 494

494

198

66$
10 188

31864
_____________ 11551

___________ 43415
32556 56 11551 191 43972

191 369
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation
of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer has evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Exchange

Act as of the end of the period covered by this report Based on such evaluation our principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have concluded that as of the end of such period our disclosure controls and procedures were effective

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Exchange Act Rule 3a-1 5f Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based

on this evaluation management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which is included in Item

of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Rules 13a-1 5f and 15d-

15f under the Exchange Act during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially

affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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Part III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

For information with respect to our executive officers see Executive Officers of the Registrant at the end of Part Item of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K Except for the information set forth in Executive Officers of the Registrant at the end of Part

Item the information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Comverges Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Comverges Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Comverges Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Comverges Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year ended December 31 2010

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Comverges Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2010
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Part IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity and Comprehensive Loss

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule ITValuation and Qua1ifiing Accounts

Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this

Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 2011

Comverge Inc

By /s/R Blake Young

Blake Young
Director President and ChiefExecutive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Blake

Young Michael Picchi and John Waterworth jointly and severally his or her attorney-in-fact with the power of substitution
for him or her in any and all capacities to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with

exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and

confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or his or her substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/s/R Blake Young Director President and Chief Executive March 2011

Blake Young Officer Principal Executive Officer

Is/Michael Picchi
Director Executive Vice President and Chief Mrch 2011

Michael Picchi Financial Officer Principal Financial Officer

Is/John Waterworth Vice President and Corporate Controller March 2011

John Waterworth Principal Accounting Officer

/s/Nora Mead Brownell Director March 2011

Nora Mead Brownell

Is/Alec Dreyer Chairman of the Board March 2011

Alec Dreyer

Is/A Laurence Jones
Director March 2011

Laurence Jones

Is/John McCarter Director March 2011

John McCarter

/s/John Rego Director March 2011

John Rego

/s/Joseph ODonnell Director March 2011

Joseph ODonnell

Is/Scott Ungerer Director March 2011

Scott Ungerer
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The APS Peak Solutions program is direct load control demand

response program for our Metro Phoenix and Yuma business

customers One of the reasons APS selected Comverge was for

their demand response experience Comverge currently serves over

500 utility clients and we thought it important to learn from them

for our future programs One of the first successes of the APS Peak

Solutions program was achieving our 2010 summer load reduction

target of 32 megawatts We actually achieved 38 megawatts

Gary Duede

APS Demand Response Program Manager

Stock Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer

Trust Company

Operations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn NY 11219

Telephone 800.937 5449

Execudve Team

Blake Young

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chris Camino

Executive Vice President of

Sales and Chief Marketing Officer

Steve Moffitt

Executive Vice President

Engineering and Operations

Edward Myszka

Executive Vice President

Program Delivery

Teresa Naylor

Senior Vice President

Human Resources

Michael Piccbi

Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

Matthew Smith

Senior Vice President and

General Counsel

Arthur Vos IV

Chief Technology Officer and

Senior Vice President Product

Management Alliances

Board of DEectors

Blake Young

John Rego

Member of the Audit Committee

John McCarter

Member of the Compensation

Committee

Michael Piccbi

Nora Mead Brownell

Chair of the Compensation Committee

Alec Dreyer

Chair of the Audit Committee and

Member of the Compensation

Committee

Laurence Jones

Member of the Audit Committee and

Member of the Nominating and

Governance Committee

Joseph ODonnell

Chair of the Nominating and

Governance Committee

Scott Ungerer

Member of the Audit Committee and

Member of the Nominating and

Governance Committee
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